

Hydrogeology of Fractured Bedrock in the Vicinity of the NorthMet Project

Prepared for Poly Met Mining Inc.

December 2014

4700 West 77th Street Minneapolis, MN 55435-4803 Phone: 952.832.2600 Fax: 952.832.2601

Hydrogeology of Fractured Bedrock in the Vicinity of the NorthMet Project

December 2014

Contents

1.0	In	troduction	1
2.0	Su	ummary of Geologic and Hydrogeologic Work	5
2.1		Geologic Information	5
2.2		Hydrogeologic Information	6
2	2.2.1	Information from Groundwater Use and Management	6
2	2.2.2	Hydrogeologic Studies	6
3.0	Be	edrock Geology and Hydrogeology Description	8
3.1		Geologic History	9
3	.1.1	Neoarchean (2690-2670 Ma)	9
3	.1.2	Paleoproterozoic (1880-1860 Ma)	9
3	.1.3	Mesoproterozoic (1110-1050 Ma)	10
3	.1.4	Phanerozoic (540 Ma to Present)	14
3	.1.5	Summary	14
3.2		Bedrock Hydrogeology	15
3	.2.1	Giants Range Granite and Archean Schists	21
3	.2.2	Duluth Complex	23
3	.2.3	Virginia Formation	27
3	.2.4	Biwabik Iron Formation (BIF)	27
3	.2.5	Summary	28
4.0	In	nplications for Impact Analysis	29
4.1		Mine Site	29
4	.1.1	Groundwater Inflow to Pits	30
4	.1.2	Groundwater Impacts from Mine Pit Outflow	30
4	.1.3	Groundwater Impacts from Stockpile Seepage or Leakage	31
4.2		Plant Site	31
5.0	Re	eferences	33

List of Tables

Table 1-1	Local and Regional Bedrock Hydrogeologic Studies	3
Table 3-1	Field Hydraulic Conductivity (K) Measurements for Bedrock Units	18
Table 3-2	Duluth Complex Hydraulic Conductivity Estimates under Different Assumed Aquifer	
	Thicknesses	26

List of Figures

Figure 3-1	Conceptual Illustration of Structural Features that Affect the Hydraulic Conductivity of	
	Rock Units at NorthMet	8
Figure 3-2	Timeline of Geologic Events, Local and Regional Stress History, and Resultant Structural	
	Features Evident in the Vicinity of the Project	11
Figure 3-3	Cross-Section Depicting the Stratigraphy of the Partridge River Intrusion and Footwall	
	Rocks at the Site	12
Figure 3-4	Field Hydraulic Conductivity (K) Measurements for Bedrock Units	17
Figure 3-5	Number of Fractures per Foot (Fracture Index) with Depth in the Giants Range Granite	22
Figure 3-6	Number of Fractures per Foot (Fracture Index) with Depth in the Duluth Complex	24

List of Large Figures

Large Figure 1	Bedrock Geology; Minnesota Geological Survey M-163
Large Figure 2	Bedrock Hydraulic Conductivity (K) Data

List of Appendices

Appendix A August 14, 2014 PolyMet Geotechnical Exploration - Winter 2013/2014 Memo

1.0 Introduction

The NorthMet Project (Project) is located adjacent to the Mesabi Iron Range, which has been mined for iron since the discovery of rich deposits in 1890 (Reference (1)). The Project includes the Mine Site and the Plant Site, which includes the Tailings Basin and processing plant structures formerly operated by LTV Steel Mining Company (LTVSMC). The bedrock geology in the vicinity of the Project consists of granites and associated lithologies overlain by metamorphosed sedimentary (meta-sedimentary) rocks that host the northeast trending Biwabik Iron Formation (BIF), and the intruded igneous Duluth Complex, which is the source of the ore to be mined by the Project. This report was prepared to summarize work conducted to date that results in the current understanding of bedrock structure and hydrogeology at the Mine Site and the Plant Site and describe the regional and local bedrock geology and hydrogeology, including the nature of fractured bedrock.

Numerous bedrock geology and hydrogeology studies, ranging in scale from regional to Project-specific, have been completed in the Project area (Table 1-1). Based on these studies, the Project Supplemental Draft Environmental Impact Statement (SDEIS) (Reference (2)) describes the bedrock at the Mine Site and Plant Site as being fractured. Fractures are breaks in rocks such as faults or joints. A fault is a fracture or fracture zone along which there has been displacement parallel to the fracture (or offset) of geologic units relative to one another. Faults are variably shown on regional and local geologic maps of the Project area (Large Figure 1) and brecciated fault zones, slickensides and gouge mineralization sometimes feet thick have all been identified through core logging at NorthMet (Reference (3); Reference (4)). Faults tend to be more laterally and vertically extensive than joints and can extend to great depths. A joint, on the other hand, is a fracture or parting without displacement, which can be caused by many different types of stresses, including cooling of magma, tectonic deformation, and/or erosional loading/unloading. In crystalline rocks, joints can be abundant, particularly near the surface, although they generally are of limited extent. Where abundant, they can form a three-dimensional network of conduits in the near-surface bedrock. Deeper, more extensive joints also can occur due to regional tectonic stresses, but are typically much less common.

During the environmental review process, concerns were raised regarding the potential for impacted water to preferentially migrate through fractured bedrock and the adequacy of the hydrogeologic characterization of the fractured bedrock. The SDEIS language specifically discussing these concerns is located on SDEIS page 5-33, and is included for reference here:

"Concerns have been raised that fractures or faults may exist at the Mine Site that could function as high-permeability conduits for groundwater over long distances through the bedrock. Such features have been identified elsewhere on the Canadian Shield. Most of these features, however, have been associated with tectonic events occurring more than 1.6 billion years ago. These events would not be relevant to the Duluth Complex as they predate its emplacement, which occurred during the Mid-Continent Rift approximately 1.1 billion years ago. A few studies have identified the presence of fracturing and faults in the Duluth Complex, but these features were believed to have formed during emplacement of the Duluth Complex and are unlikely to transmit water and, where fractures were found, they were largely filled with gouge (Foose and Cooper 1979; 1981), or relate to an unusual cleavage pattern known to occur in one location west of Duluth, about 70 miles from the Mine Site (Foster and Huddelston 1986).

Although the presence of fractures at the Mine Site cannot be completely ruled out, site specific data, such as boring logs, indicate the bedrock appears competent, only rarely encountered deep fractures near the surface, and hydrogeologic investigations have indicated that the bulk hydraulic conductivity of bedrock at the Mine Site is very low."

In the bedrock units in Northeastern Minnesota, the bulk hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock reflects fracture flow. Intrusive igneous rock, for example, has little, if any, primary porosity (Reference (5)), indicating that water moves almost *entirely* through fractures and secondary porosity features. In order for groundwater flow to occur, there must be fractures, such as joints and open faults, the characteristics of which can be highly variable within the rock body. Factors associated with groundwater flow in fractured rock include effective stress and pore water pressures, fracture aperture and surface area, temperature, and fracture geometry (roughness and waviness). Fractures can also control groundwater movement by acting as barriers to flow due to the presence of clay gouge or competent igneous rock such as diabase that has been intruded along structural features. This variability in the hydrogeologic behavior of fractured rock is borne out by variable well yields experienced by thousands of domestic drinking water well owners whose water source is from bedrock units in Northeastern Minnesota (Reference (6)).

Fractures in water-bearing rocks can be the result of compression and/or tension caused by regional tectonic stresses, shrinking during cooling of igneous rock masses, pressure relief due to erosion of overburden rock (erosional 'unroofing'), and crustal loading and unloading during periods of glaciation. The fractures resulting from these "stress" events are evident in the regional and local geologic record, which has been studied extensively because of economic mineralization in the rock bodies (iron and taconite in the BIF, and copper, nickel, palladium, platinum and gold (Cu/Ni ± PGE) in the base of the Duluth Complex). Local and regional bedrock hydrogeology has been studied for various purposes including groundwater supply, potential for storage of radioactive wastes, and potential for environmental impact due to mining.

This report was prepared at the request of the Co-lead Agencies and includes four sections including this introduction: Section 2.0 presents a summary of the geologic and hydrogeologic work that has been conducted, and Section 3.0 presents the results of these investigations and a description of the bedrock geology and hydrogeology at the NorthMet Site. Section 4 presents implications for impact assessment and project planning.

Table 1-1	Local and Regional Bedrock Hydrogeologic Studies
-----------	--

Study Title	Author/ Commissioner	Date	Synopsis	Bedrock hydraulic conductivity estimates (in cm/s), if available
Surficial geology and ground- water geology of the Babbitt- Kawishiwi area, northeastern Minnesota, with planning implications	Stark, J.R. (Reference (7)	1977	Examined local-scale groundwater hydrogeology. Conducted 5 bedrock permeability tests in exploratory drillholes. Small data set, but transmissivity appeared to be inversely related to distance from a mapped lineament.	Duluth Complex = Range: 1.4×10^{-7} to 1.5×10^{-4} ; Geometric Mean: 4.4×10^{-6}
Water Resources for the Possible Minnimax Mining Facility	AMAX/ E.A. Hickock and Associates (Reference (8))	1977	Water management information during development of a mine shaft in Duluth Complex bedrock. Annual average pumping from the shaft was 9 to 14 gpm. Individual fractures were grouted during shaft development, so this reflects pumping with engineering controls in place.	
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS (Reference (9)	1980	Study ran from 1974 to 1978. Tested specific capacity in 2 wells in the upper portions of the Duluth Complex, 1 well in the upper portion of the Giants Range granite, and 4 wells in the BIF (various depths). Found that water occurs in fractures that frequently occur in the upper surface of the bedrock. They estimate that groundwater inflow to open pits in the Duluth Complex would be on the order of 0.4 to 1 gpm/acre of pit. K values estimated from specific capacity data.	Upper Duluth Complex = 5.6 x 10^{-6} , and 9.9 x 10^{-7} ; Upper GR granite = 9.1 x 10^{-6} ; BIF = Range: 5.2 x 10^{-5} to 5.7 x 10^{-3} ; Geometric Mean: 3.5 x 10^{-4}
Geology, Hydrology, and Mineral Resources of Crystalline Rock Areas of the Lake Superior Region, United States	Harrison et al., 1983 (Reference (10))	1983	Compilation of bedrock stress history, seismic potential, structural information, hydrology, and hydrogeologic properties for the Giants Range granite and the Duluth Complex. No original testing, but compilation of granite and related crystalline rock hydrogeologic properties.	Granite = 10 ⁻⁸ (mean of compiled values)

Study Title	Author/ Commissioner	Date	Synopsis	Bedrock hydraulic conductivity estimates (in cm/s), if available
Preliminary Assessment/Site Investigation: Former Finland Air Force Station, Lake County, Minnesota	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers	1999	Field investigation into frequency and occurrence of fractures in three drillholes in the granitic bedrock underlying Lookout Mountain, where contaminated groundwater was encountered. Fourteen hydrogeologic tests were performed in the bedrock.	Beaver Bay Complex = Range: 2.4×10^{-7} to 2.0×10^{-4} Geometric Mean: 6.9×10^{-6}
East Range Hydrology Project	Adams, et al./MDNR (Reference (11))	2004	Field investigation and hydrology modeling study to predict overflows from taconite mine pits. Describes dominance of groundwater flow in surficial deposits over bedrock inflows. Provides estimates of groundwater inflow into open pits.	
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr/ PolyMet (Reference (12))	2006	Ten hydrogeologic tests were performed in exploratory drillholes in the Duluth Complex at the Mine Site.	Duluth Complex = Range: 9.2 x 10^{-8} to 1.4 x 10^{-5} ; Geometric Mean: 8.0 x 10^{-7}
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr/ PolyMet (Reference (13))	2006	Hydrogeologic characterization of the Virginia Formation. Installation of 4 pumping wells and 6 observation wells. Three 36-hour pumping tests and one 96-hour pumping test were performed.	Virginia Formation = Range: 8.5 x 10^{-7} to 2.4 x 10^{-4} ; Geometric Mean: 6.0 x 10^{-5}
Phase III Hydrogeologic Investigation, RS10A Draft-01	Barr/ PolyMet (Reference (14))	2007	One 30-day pumping test was performed in the Virginia Formation to characterize response in wetland. In addition, two specific capacity tests were conducted in the upper portion of the Virginia Formation.	Upper Virginia Formation = 2.2×10^{-4} and 2.5×10^{-4}
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr/ PolyMet (Appendix A)	2014	Investigation along potential alignment of FTB Containment System. Ten permeability tests in upper portion of Giants Range granite.	Upper GR granite = Range: ~0 to 7.2 x 10^{-4} ; Geometric Mean: 1.9 x 10^{-5}

2.0 Summary of Geologic and Hydrogeologic Work

2.1 Geologic Information

The geologic history of the rocks at the Mine Site and Plant Site forms the basis of our understanding of where and how fractures may be present. The rocks have various depositional or igneous intrusive histories, and have undergone variable tectonic (or "stress") histories, which lead to the formation of fractures of various orientation or scales. The regional and local geology are well known, due to extensive exploration and mapping of iron ore and Cu/Ni ±PGE mineralization (see summary in Reference (15)). In addition, the Archean granite and Duluth Complex were studied for their potential to host a repository for high-level radioactive waste (Reference (10)). The Archean granitic rocks are frequently investigated to determine the chronology of Archean terrane accretion (Reference (16); Reference (17); Reference (18)). The following provides a summary of the geologic and mineral exploration work.

Early exploration of the BIF dates back to the mid-1800s, when iron ore was actively being mined on the Vermilion Range, located north of the Mesabi Iron Range. Discovery of rich iron ore in Mountain Iron heralded the extensive natural ore (leached and oxidized taconite) and taconite mining on the Mesabi Iron Range that continues today. Scores of mine company and university research geologists have studied the geology, mineralogy, deformation, rock mechanics, and thermal metamorphism of the taconite on the Mesabi Iron Range (see Reference (19)) for a summary and references specifically for the eastern Mesabi Iron Range).

Initial geologic mapping of the adjacent Duluth Complex (Complex) took place from 1852 through 1911. These initial surveys were completed by state and federal agencies that identified general rock types and their extent. From 1911 through 1961 more extensive field mapping of the region was conducted by F. F. Grout and G. M. Schwartz. Grout was also the first individual to conduct an aeromagnetic survey of the Complex which led to identifying the sulfide and oxide minerals in the southern and central portions of the intrusive body (Reference (20)). United States Steel Corporation (USS) was the first entity to conduct extensive exploratory drilling of the Complex in 1970, and copper and nickel ore was identified at the base of the Duluth Complex. This area was initially called the Dunka Road deposit, but is now referred to as NorthMet. USS drilled 112 holes comprising 133,716 feet of intercept over a five-year period (Reference (21)). Amid interest in mining the Cu/Ni ± PGE deposits, Cooper (Reference (22)) and Foose and Cooper (Reference (23)) mapped potential structural features within the Duluth Complex to determine whether those features control mineralization. They delineated the presence of joints and faults in the Duluth Complex by mapping aeromagnetic anomalies, joint density data gathered from outcrops in the surrounding region (Reference (24)), topographic lineations, and truncations of mineralogic horizons within the intrusive rocks.

From 1961-1982, more detailed quadrangle mapping by the Minnesota Geological Survey (MGS) was completed. The Natural Resources Research Institute (NRRI) re-logged the USS drill holes and correlated stratigraphic units between drill holes to create a geologic map of the igneous structure of the Complex from 1988 to 1991. In 1995, when there was more interest in mining the deposits, NRRI staff returned to

the NorthMet deposit and spent two months mapping outcrops, examining drillcore, and mapping the basal contact and igneous stratigraphy (Reference (3)).

The focus of mapping in the area since the time of the MGS quadrangle maps has been on using higher resolution and more extensive aeromagnetic surveys (0.25-mile flight lines flown 1979-1982). The aeromagnetic data, combined with available outcrop and drillhole data at the time, was used to produce the first maps that focused on the structural features that might host mineralization within the Duluth Complex. The aeromagnetic data led to additional shallow drilling in the central Complex from 1989 to 1991. These drillhole data, combined with the aeromagnetic data, were used to produce the MGS map of the Duluth Complex (M-119; Reference (15)). Extensive exploratory drilling at the NorthMet deposit has since been performed by Poly Met Mining, Inc. (PolyMet) (formerly Fleck Resources), and has increased the understanding of Duluth Complex stratigraphy (Reference (25); Reference (26)). Specifically, for the Duluth Complex in this area, there are over 1,100 drillholes and nearly 1,000,000 feet of core have been logged or re-logged in the past 15 years by a small group of company and university research geologists (Reference (27), and references therein).

2.2 Hydrogeologic Information

2.2.1 Information from Groundwater Use and Management

Bedrock in the shallow subsurface (where surficial deposits are limited in thickness) is used regionally as a source for domestic drinking water supplies. Water well records, including driller's logs and variable amounts of well-yield data, are available from the Minnesota Department of Health County Well Index (CWI). The U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), in response to anticipated population growth on the Iron Range, specifically studied the hydrogeology and water resource potential of the surficial deposits and bedrock of the eastern Mesabi Iron Range in the 1960s (Reference (28); Reference (29)).

Management of groundwater that flows into mine pits and underground mine structures in the region has occurred for over a century, and some projects have accessible records documenting the nature of groundwater encountered (including notes on fracture flow, quantity, and quality). Many iron ore reserves were mined out through underground mining (i.e., Soudan Underground Mine). In the 1970s, amid interest in mining the Cu/Ni \pm PGE deposits located along the Duluth Complex, a 14-foot diameter exploration shaft was sunk to 1,728 feet in Duluth Complex rock; an additional 3,760 feet of drift were developed at the 1,700-foot level (the AMAX or MinnAMAX Project; Reference (30)).

2.2.2 Hydrogeologic Studies

In the 1970s, the State of Minnesota commissioned a multi-disciplinary study (Copper-Nickel Study), aimed at understanding the potential environmental impacts of mining the copper-nickel deposits. The Copper-Nickel Study work related to hydrogeology was described by Siegel and Ericson (Reference (9)), who conducted specific capacity testing in surficial deposits, the BIF, the Giants Range granite, and the Duluth Complex. During this period, bedrock permeability data related to potential Duluth Complex copper-nickel prospects were also collected by J.R. Stark (Reference (7)). His thesis work included conducting aquifer tests in exploration drillholes within the Duluth Complex and conducting permeability

tests on overlying surficial materials; he specifically estimated potential groundwater flow into hypothetical open-pit Cu/Ni \pm PGE mines.

The late 1970s and early 1980s also marked a period of increased hydrogeological work in the region at the federal level. The USGS series of hydrologic atlases for the Rainy Lake and St. Louis River watersheds were published in 1976 and 1979, respectively. Well yields and water quality data from bedrock units used for industrial, municipal (including the BIF at Aurora, Biwabik, Hibbing, McKinley, Mountain Iron and Virginia, and the Virginia Formation at Iron Junction) and domestic supply were summarized (Reference (31)). The Department of Energy (DOE), recognizing the very low permeability of the crystalline rocks in the Lake Superior region (Archean granite and Duluth Complex gabbro,) assessed their potential to host a repository for high-level radioactive waste (Reference (10)). The DOE compendium of information includes extensive discussion of regional tectonic history and stress regimes, and the regional occurrence and density of joints and faults in the bedrock. In addition, the hydrogeology of the crystalline rock units (Archean granite and Duluth Complex) is extensively covered as part of that assessment.

The US Army Corp of Engineers (USACE) investigated the hydrogeology of fractured granitic Beaver Bay Complex rock (which is genetically related to the Duluth Complex) as part of site assessment at the Former Finland Air Force Station in Finland, Minnesota in the late 1990s (Reference (32)). The study was initiated after chlorinated solvents were discovered in a newly- installed community water supply well.

The Minnesota Department of Natural Resources studied the hydrology of the eastern Mesabi Range during the early 2000s after mining was discontinued in several taconite pits (Reference (11)). They calculated water balances for several mine pits, including groundwater contribution, in order to estimate eventual pit outfall quantities and locations.

Engineering plans and environmental permitting requirements resulted in additional hydrogeologic and geotechnical investigation at NorthMet in the early 2000s (Reference (12); Reference (13); Reference (14)). This work included studies specifically aimed at understanding the bulk hydrogeologic characteristics of the Duluth Complex and the Virginia Formation, and the connection between surface water/shallow groundwater and deeper groundwater at the Mine Site. Rock quality designation (RQD) was determined for the Duluth Complex, Virginia Formation, and BIF using tens of thousands of feet of exploratory drillcore to determine if there is a structural control on ore grade (Reference (27)). RQD is a measure of the amount of breaks (fractures) in rock drillcore, where 100% indicates no breaks and 0% indicates that all pieces of core within a core run are less than 10 cm long. In 2014, testing of individual locations within the uppermost Giant's Range Granite underlying the Plant Site was carried out to support design of the proposed FTB Containment System.

3.0 Bedrock Geology and Hydrogeology Description

The rock record in the vicinity of the Project reflects several events that have resulted in structural features that affect the permeability of the rock units. Figure 3-1 conceptually illustrates these structural features.

- The most recent event (and likely the most important with respect to the water-bearing characteristics of the rock) was glacial loading and unloading during the Pleistocene (past 2.5 million years). The fractures and joints that were activated during that time are likely near the surface, and include reactivation of existing planes of weakness (affecting the upper portions of "deep faults"). These features are referred to as "near-surface fractures".
- Bedding plane fractures and variably-oriented faults within meta-sedimentary footwall rocks (Pokegama Quartzite, BIF, and Virginia Formation) all act to enhance the permeability of those units relative to both the underlying granitic rocks and the overlying Duluth Complex.
- Structures related to Archean deformation are found in the Giants Range granite. Younger structural features related to crustal shortening during the Penokean Orogeny or to extension during the Keweenawan rifting are also prevalent in the Animikean footwall rocks, and may include reactivation of Archean faults in the granitic rocks. Because major fault zones cannot be correlated within the igneous stratigraphy of the Duluth Complex, many of the deep faults within the granitic terrane and footwall rocks likely do not extend into the intrusive rock (Reference (4)).



(Approximate locations of mine features are located with respect to the geologic section. Not to scale.)

Figure 3-1 Conceptual Illustration of Structural Features that Affect the Hydraulic Conductivity of Rock Units at NorthMet

At NorthMet, the meta-sedimentary footwall rocks can be conceptualized as a tilted package of more transmissive bedrock units sandwiched between two massive and less transmissive igneous units, the Giants Range granite below, and the Duluth Complex gabbro above. At the surface, however, all bedrock

units are affected by fracturing (i.e., near-surface fractures). The following sections describe the geology (Section 3.1) and bedrock hydrogeology (Section 3.2) that form the basis of this conceptual model.

3.1 Geologic History

This section summarizes the geologic history of the region as a framework for understanding the occurrence and types of secondary permeability features. A summary of the geologic events responsible for (1) assemblage of the rock (stratigraphic) record and (2) development of key structural features in the rock record is presented (Figure 3-2).

The rock record at the Project site reflects three large-scale tectonic events: (1) Collisional tectonics during the Neoarchean, approximately 2690-2670 Ma (million years ago), and emplacement of intrusive rocks; (2) Paleoproterozoic (1880-1860 Ma) arc accretion, back-arc spreading and sedimentation, followed by continent-continent collision, crustal shortening, and additional sedimentation during the Penokean orogeny (1840-1770 Ma); and, most recently, (3) Mesoproterozoic (1110-1050 Ma) crustal extension, voluminous volcanism and emplacement of intrusive rocks (Duluth Complex), and sedimentation (Keweenawan rifting and development of the Midcontinent Rift System). The Archean rocks created through collisional tectonics in the Neoarchean underlie the Plant site. At the Mine Site, the Precambrian rocks that were deposited or emplaced on the Archean terrane dip to the south-southeast at 10 to 30° (Figure 3-3). Walking a transect from north to south at the Mine Site is thus equivalent to moving 'upsection' into progressively younger (Precambrian) rocks. A widespread veneer of late-Pleistocene glaciogenic sediments ('drift') covers the bedrock, limiting bedrock exposure and making geologic mapping strongly dependent on geophysical techniques and inference (e.g., in general, faults mapped within the area are inferred from lineaments, such as elongated wetland areas, and have not been independently confirmed by observation of displaced geologic units either at the surface or in drill core).

3.1.1 Neoarchean (2690-2670 Ma)

The rocks of the Neoarchean Giants Range Granitic Complex (informally termed the Giants Range batholith) were emplaced within older crust, including the Archean schists located near the Plant Site (Large Figure 1; Reference (18)), which, together with a complex collection of lithospheric plates and accreted terranes, form the core of the North American craton. These rocks are referred to collectively as the Canadian Shield. Three phases of compression (crustal shortening) affected the region during the Neoarchean Minnesotan orogeny (~2680 Ma) and produced local structural features including regional deformation that resulted in folding of the Soudan Iron Formation, and northwest- to northeast-striking faults and associated compressional structures (Reference (33); Reference (18); and Reference (34)). These compressional events gave rise to many of the deep-seated faults that are mapped within the Giants Range batholith, such as the Camp Rivard, Waasa, Vermilion, and Wolf Lake faults.

3.1.2 Paleoproterozoic (1880-1860 Ma)

Unconformably overlying the Giants Range Granitic Complex is the Animikie Group (Figure 3-3), which, in ascending order, consists of the Pokegema Quartzite, BIF, and the Virginia Formation. Strata of the group have a combined representative thickness of over 1000 feet. The Pokegema Quartzite is relatively thin to absent in the area, and consists of a coarsening-upward collection of argillite, siltstone, and sandstone

deposited in a shallow-marine setting with significant tidal influence (e.g., Reference (35)). The BIF conformably overlies the Pokegema Quartzite and is a ferrigenous chemical sedimentary rock unit with an average thickness of about 700 feet. The strata of the BIF are dominated by two facies, the 'cherty' and 'slaty' facies (Reference (36)). Mineralogically, both facies consist of chert and iron oxides, iron silicates, and iron carbonates. Overlying the BIF is the clastic sedimentary Virginia Formation (informally termed the Virginia Slate), which is a succession of turbiditic shale (argillite), siltstone, and sandstone (greywacke) deposited in a deep-water setting. Collectively, at the NorthMet site, the rocks of the Animikie Group are termed the 'footwall rocks' although only the Virginia Formation will actually be encountered in the footwall of the NorthMet mine pits (Figure 3-3).

Recent work by Schulz and Cannon (Reference (37)) and Cannon et al. (Reference (38)) provides a clear interpretation of the complex tectono-stratigraphic evolution of the Animikie Basin (the basin in which Animikie Group rocks were deposited) in the context of Paleoproterzoic development of the southern margin of the North American craton. The turbiditic sediments of the Virginia Formation accumulated in the Animike basin between about 1850 and 1780 Ma. The Virginia Formation and the underlying BIF and Pokegema Quartzite (and their regional correlative equivalents) were subsequently deformed by compressive stresses of the Penokean Orogeny which occurred to the south and east of the Project area during the late Paleoproterozoic. The degree of Penokean deformation decreases northward with distance from the fold-and-thrust belt: deformation is greatest in the Gogebic iron range of northern Michigan and significantly less on the Mesabi iron range. Crustal shortening during the Penokean orogeny was accommodated in part by reactivation of older (Archean) faults.

There are two major north–south trending fault zones located to the west and east of the Project which may have formed during Animike Basin development. They are the Siphon Fault and the Grano Fault respectively (Large Figure 1; Reference (15)). The faults are interpreted to be growth faults (and are thus Animikean in age) because of changes in thickness of the Animike sediments across the faults. The Duluth Complex igneous stratigraphy may also be offset on these faults due to later re-activation; however, the faults do not directly intersect the Duluth Complex at the NorthMet deposit. The Grano Fault is located to the east of the Project area. The Siphon Fault is located approximately halfway between the Mine Site and the Plant Site, and underlies the former Spring Mine (AKA Silverton or Siphon Mine; now Spring Mine Lake). The Siphon Fault is offset 100 to 230 feet and is hypothesized to be a growth fault due to the thickness change of the Iron Formation across the structure (Reference (39)). There is some indication of sulfide mineralization within the Duluth Complex underlying and along the trend of the Siphon Fault.

3.1.3 Mesoproterozoic (1110-1050 Ma)

The Paleoproterozoic Penokean orogeny was followed by over 700 million years of relative tectonic quiescence, which ended with a continental-scale Mesoproterozoic rifting event and the development of the Midcontinent Rift System (MRS). Between approximately 1110 and 1040 Ma (Reference (40); Reference (41); Reference (42)), lithospheric extension, thinning and crustal subsidence was accompanied by the eruption of plateau lavas and the emplacement of immense volumes of intrusive igneous rocks. As active rifting waned, continued thermal subsidence led to the deposition of a thick package of clastic sedimentary rocks. Collectively, the volcanic/plutonic and sedimentary rock assemblage is termed the

Keweenawan Supergroup. Cannon (Reference (43)) attributed failure of the MRS to collisional tectonics in the Grenville Orogeny and associated northwest-directed compression.



Origin of the rock units are shaded gray. Timing of events is approximate and based on compilations of ages in the literature. Timescale is non-linear. Refer to text for details.

Figure 3-2 Timeline of Geologic Events, Local and Regional Stress History, and Resultant Structural Features Evident in the Vicinity of the Project

During rifting, magmas of the Duluth Complex and the Beaver Bay Complex were emplaced at several kilometers depth between overlying Keweenawan volcanics of the North Shore Volcanic Group and

Paleoproterozoic Animikie Group sedimentary rocks (Large Figure 1). Subsequent uplift and erosion have removed the overlying Keweenawan volcanic rocks, leaving Duluth Complex rocks in subcrop.

The Duluth Complex is a mafic layered igneous intrusion with a bulk gabbroic composition. It is one of the largest such intrusions on earth, with a maximum thickness exceeding 15 km. In detail, the Duluth Complex consists of numerous intrusive bodies with a complicated history of emplacement; of these, the Partridge River Intrusion and South Kawishiwi Intrusion are located along the western edge of the complex in close proximity to the Project site (Reference (15)). The NorthMet deposit is located at the base of the Partridge River Intrusion at its contact with the underlying Virginia formation, which is present in subcrop along the northwest edge of the Project mine pits. The Partridge River Intrusion has been subdivided into eight different igneous units based on its internal igneous stratigraphy (several of which are shown on Figure 3-3).





Figure 3-3 Cross-Section Depicting the Stratigraphy of the Partridge River Intrusion and Footwall Rocks at the Site

The nature and extent of faulting during emplacement of the Duluth Complex has been the topic of considerable discussion and debate (e.g., Reference (44); Reference (45); Reference (46)). The extensional stress field generated during the rifting phase of Midcontinent Rift System (MRS) evolution would favor the development of northeast-trending, southeast-dipping normal faults (Reference (44)); northwest-directed compressional stresses during rift failure could generate northeast-trending reverse faults and/or reactive former normal faults. These faults would be most apparent in the footwall rocks. Significant

crustal extension during volcanism was accommodated on the Keweenaw Fault located along the south limb of the MRS; during rift failure, this normal fault was reactivated as a reverse fault and accommodated significant crustal shortening (e.g., Reference (47)). In contrast, on the north limb of the MRS in northeastern Minnesota, evidence of similar large-scale faulting is largely absent (Reference (46)), and the mechanisms for accommodating strain during MRS evolution are uncertain.

At NorthMet, the extent of faulting in both the Paleoproterzoic footwall rocks and the Duluth Complex itself is poorly constrained. At the former LTVSMC property, where the BIF is exposed at the surface, numerous faults—with highly variable orientations—have been mapped. Examples of these are the Donora Fault, the Fowler Fault, the Mesabi Lake Fault (Large Figure 1), and the Boundary Fault at the Dunka Mine. The extent to which these faults are Animikean in age, similar to the Siphon structure and the Virginia Horn, or reflect later motion during MRS development is unclear (e.g., Reference (46)). The structures pervasive in the BIF are interpreted by Holst et al. (Reference (46)) to be a result of essentially brittle or semi-brittle deformation of indurated sediments that overlie a strong base (the Giant's Range batholith) and became fractured and warped in response to fairly low stresses.

The extensive faulting mapped in the BIF in mine pits in the area suggests that the footwall rocks (at least the BIF) below the Duluth Complex may be extensively faulted. However, significant displacement of geologic units within the Duluth Complex itself is rare and individual faults and/or fault zones cannot be correlated from drillhole to drillhole despite extensive exploration (Reference (4)). Due to its immense volume, the Duluth Complex is thought to have had a long cooling history, which may have kept the intrusive body relatively ductile, thus limiting the development of large-scale faults within it (Reference (46)), even as footwall rocks became faulted. Some evidence of normal-faulting of footwall rocks during rifting is provided by drillhole data: Severson and Zanko (Reference (3)) described two parallel N 60° E trending faults identified by offset of the top of the BIF in the footwall (Figure 3-3). They also identified northwest trending faults by changes in the top of the BIF as well as changes in the thickness (76 to 623 feet) in one of the units of the Partridge River intrusion. The potential extension of footwall faults into the overlying Duluth Complex (Reference (3)) suggests a complicated history of movement and reactivation along the faults during emplacement of the Duluth Complex. However, the faults have not been positively identified in drillcore that correspond with the stratigraphic displacement.

In addition to footwall fault development, Duluth Complex emplacement may have resulted in local incipient displacement within the intrusive body as it cooled and contracted. These contraction joints are not marked by significant offsets in geologic units, and cannot be correlated between drill cores at NorthMet (Reference (4)). Cooper (Reference (22)) and Foose and Cooper (Reference (23)) described extensive NE and NW trending faulting and fracturing in the Duluth Complex. However, they inferred the presence of faults via truncations of plagioclase-rich anorthositic horizons in the Duluth Complex. This technique is problematic because plagioclase-rich blocks are commonly determined to be inclusions of older anorthositic series rocks that formed at the top of the magma and then sank into the magma chamber before the rest of the magma fully solidified (Reference (20); Reference (21)). In addition, topographic linear features can also be attributed to glacial scour, rather that the presence of underlying bedrock structure.

3.1.4 Phanerozoic (540 Ma to Present)

The Phanerozoic is characterized by three geologic events that influence the hydrogeologic characteristics of the bedrock at NorthMet site (Figure 3-2). The first of these events is the widespread leaching of silica from iron formation and genesis of 'soft' (AKA 'natural') ores within the Animikie Basin iron formations. The volume loss associated with silica leaching generated fractures; some of these fractures (and possibly older fractures and faults) appear to have become permeable conduits for flow during the leaching process. In places, leaching and soft ore formation extended to great depth (in excess of 4,500 feet below current land surface). While the causal mechanism for (and age of) the leaching process remains somewhat equivocal, a general consensus supports the idea of a long-lived, deep, and widespread weathering event. Erosional unloading ('unroofing') and/or crustal uplift during this weathering event may have affected the stress field in the upper crust. Within the footwall rocks at NorthMet, and locally in outcrop within the neighboring Peter Mitchell Pit, no evidence for the presence of leached BIF or natural ore has been encountered, perhaps due to the presence of the adjacent Duluth Complex. (Reference (48)). This relationship suggests that leaching post-dates emplacement of the Duluth Complex.

The second geologic event of the Phanerozoic is crustal subsidence and associated sedimentation during the Cretaceous. Phanerozoic rocks are absent at the NorthMet site. However, crustal subsidence associated with this event may have affected reactivated deep-seated faults in the region.

The third and final geologic event is Pleistocene (2.5 Ma to recent) glaciation. A veneer of late-Wisconsinan glaciogenic sediments associated with the last advance of the Rainy Lobe of the Laurentide Ice Sheet covers the entire region. At the NorthMet Mine site, the unconsolidated sediments range in thickness from zero (absent) to 60 feet, with an average value of about 15 feet (Reference (49)).

While Pleistocene-age deposits form a volumetrically insignificant component of the stratigraphic record in the vicinity of the Project, repeated glaciations throughout the Pleistocene likely played a significant role in the development and/or reactivation of near-surface bedrock structures (fractures/ faults). Repeated loading and unloading of the lithosphere—and its associated isostatic adjustment—during icesheet growth/advance and collapse/retreat, respectively, affected the stress field in the upper crust. The result of glacial loading/unloading may have enhanced the permeability of the upper portions of bedrock by repeated reactivation of fractures (Reference (50)).

3.1.5 Summary

In summary, the geologic record indicates that fracturing in bedrock can be generally classified into three major groups (Figure 3-1):

- *Near-surface fractures*: These are pressure-release joints that formed due to glacial loading/unloading. They are the most likely to form interconnected networks of fractures capable of transmitting water, and likely affect only the upper portions of the bedrock.
- Bedding plane fractures and variably-oriented faults affecting the meta-sedimentary bedrock units: These structures act to enhance the permeability of those units relative to both the underlying granitic Giants Range rocks and the overlying Duluth Complex.

• Deep-seated faults: These are mappable structures generally related to tectonic events. Archean structures are found in the Giants Range granite, while younger structural features related to tectonic events are also prevalent in the Animikean footwall rocks. Deep faults within the granitic terrane and footwall rocks may not extend into the Duluth Complex. However, exploratory drilling has intersected apparent fault zones in the Duluth Complex, and although they cannot be correlated from drillhole to drillhole, these suggest at least the local presence of what may be deep-seated faults.

3.2 Bedrock Hydrogeology

Site-specific and regional data indicate that the hydraulic conductivity of bedrock in the NorthMet area is generally low. Given the age of the bedrock units and their long histories of deformation and (low-grade) metamorphism (as discussed in Section 3.1), it is likely that most of the primary permeability of these rocks has been overprinted through geologic time. Today, the hydrogeologic characteristics of the bedrock reflect the structural features of the rock, i.e., the secondary permeability associated with joints, fractures, and faults (Figure 3-1).

The low hydraulic conductivity of the crystalline rock units in the region was recognized by the USGS during siting of a geologic repository for long-term storage of high-level radioactive waste (Reference (7)). Hydraulic conductivity generally decreases with depth in bedrock. Literature values describing the depth of pressure-release fractures resulting from crustal loading and unloading during glaciation suggest that enhanced permeability due to these features is limited to the upper approximately 300 feet of rock (Reference (9); Reference (10)). These fractures have little to no offset of geologic units, but indicate that the lower portions of the affected rock masses will be less permeable than the upper portions (Reference (9)). The frequency of occurrence, aperture width, and effective connectivity of these features appears to diminish rapidly with depth as a result of the increased confining pressure from overlying rocks; as such, pressure-release fractures appear to have little effect on groundwater conditions at depths greater than 500 to 650 feet (Reference (10)). Anecdotally, the enhanced permeability of the upper portions of the bedrock is the basis for regional well drillers' expectation that domestic supplies of water in crystalline rocks will only be encountered in the upper 300 feet of rock drilling.

Fractures in crystalline bedrock in northeastern Minnesota were specifically identified and characterized in three drillholes in the granitic rocks near Finland, MN (Reference (32)). The bedrock in this area is granite of the Finland granophyre of the Beaver Bay Complex. The Finland granophyre represents an intrusive granitic complex that perhaps pre-dated the intrusion of the more mafic gabbros and associated rocks that underlie it stratigraphically (Reference (51)). The granophyre is analogous to crystalline rocks at NorthMet: compositionally, it is similar to the Giants Range granite; structurally, it has undergone a similar stress history as the Duluth Complex. The geologic and hydrogeologic studies carried out in the area focused on characterization of groundwater flow in the fractured bedrock. Specifically, fracturing was found to be concentrated in the uppermost 100 feet of rock. The granophyre is more massive (less fractured) with depth, and with distance from major fault zones and geologic contacts. The investigators also identified a strong correlation between fractures and RQD. No significant zones of unusually high hydraulic conductivity were identified. Hydraulic conductivity measurements from single well tests for this

fractured rock ranged from 2.4 x 10^{-7} to 2.0 x 10^{-4} cm/s (geometric mean of 6.9 x 10^{-6} cm/s) and were within the expected range for this type of rock based on literature.

Groundwater flow in bedrock at NorthMet occurs in fractures within three relevant bedrock units: the Duluth Complex, the Virginia Formation that makes up the 'footwall' rocks, and the underlying granite of the Giants Range batholith (which forms the uppermost unit at the Plant Site) (Figure 3-3). The hydrogeology of the BIF is also discussed below as it is present at depth below the mine pits, and it is exposed at the surface in nearby mine pits. A compilation of field-based hydraulic conductivity measurements for these bedrock units is presented in Figure 3-4 and Table 3-1. Figure 3-4 includes site-specific data for the Duluth Complex and Virginia Formation collected during the hydrogeologic investigations of the Mine Site (Reference (12), Reference (13), Reference (14)), site-specific data for the Giants Range Granite collected during the geotechnical investigation of the Tailings Basin (Appendix A), and literature data from studies within close proximity of the project area (Reference (9), Reference (7)). Additionally, site-specific hydraulic conductivity data are shown in plan view in Large Figure 2. In general, the Duluth Complex has the lowest permeability, due to its relatively massive nature (i.e., it has fewer fractures, compared to the other geologic units) and relatively young stress history, followed by the upper portions of the Virginia Formation and Giant's Range batholith, with the more faulted and fractured BIF having the highest permeability (Reference (49)).



Geometric mean indicated by large diamond.

Figure 3-4 Field Hydraulic Conductivity (K) Measurements for Bedrock Units

Table 3-1 Field Hydraulic Conductivity (K) Measurements for Bedrock Units

Study Title	Source Author	Date	Location (with depth interval, in feet)	Bedrock K Estimate, cm/sec	Bedrock K Estimate, ft/day
	Complex				
Surficial geology and ground- water geology of the Babbitt- Kawishiwi area, northeastern Minnesota, with planning implications	Stark	1977	INCO #32786 (12-371)	1.5E-04	4.1E-01
Surficial geology and ground- water geology of the Babbitt- Kawishiwi area, northeastern Minnesota, with planning implications	Stark	1977	HANNA #K-20 (0-250)	1.9E-05	5.3E-02
Surficial geology and ground- water geology of the Babbitt- Kawishiwi area, northeastern Minnesota, with planning implications	Stark	1977	INCO #40913 (10-2795)	1.4E-07	4.0E-04
Surficial geology and ground- water geology of the Babbitt- Kawishiwi area, northeastern Minnesota, with planning implications	Stark	1977	INCO #11533 (19-1319)	4.2E-06	1.2E-02
Surficial geology and ground- water geology of the Babbitt- Kawishiwi area, northeastern Minnesota, with planning implications	Stark	1977	INCO #32758 (0-1250)	9.4E-07	2.7E-03
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	61-11-19bdc (well depth of 125 ft)	5.6E-06	1.6E-02
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	61-11-34bbc (well depth of 225 ft)	9.9E-07	2.8E-03
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-401M (0-349)	1.3E-06	3.6E-03
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-404M (0-328)	3.5E-06	1.0E-02
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-407M (8-354)	3.0E-06	8.4E-03

Study Title	Source Author	Date	Location (with depth interval, in feet)	Bedrock K Estimate, cm/sec	Bedrock K Estimate, ft/day
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-411M (13-639)	3.0E-07	8.4E-04
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-405C (31-723)	2.4E-07	6.7E-04
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-406C (6-686)	9.2E-08	2.6E-04
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-409C (16-442)	1.4E-05	4.1E-02
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-410C (7-668)	1.5E-07	4.2E-04
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-413C (12-336)	4.2E-06	1.2E-02
Hydrogeologic Investigation - Phase I, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02 Draft-02	Barr	2006	05-414C (0-1303)	1.4E-07	3.9E-04
	V	/irginia F	ormation		
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	P-1 (27-610)	8.5E-07	2.4E-03
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	P-2 (27-610)	2.5E-05	7.2E-02
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	P-3 (27-610)	2.0E-04	5.7E-01
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	Ob-3 (21-100)	2.4E-04	6.8E-01
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	Ob-3a (17-50)	1.7E-04	4.9E-01
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	717971 (19-260)	1.3E-04	3.6E-01
Hydrogeologic Investigation- Phase II, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10 Draft-02	Barr	2006	P-4 (46-485)	1.2E-04	3.3E-01

Study Title	Source Author	Date	Location (with depth	Bedrock K Estimate, cm/sec	Bedrock K Estimate, ft/day
Phase III Hydrogeologic Investigation, RS10A Draft-01	Barr	2007	Ob-2 (18-100)	1.7E-05	4.7E-02
Phase III Hydrogeologic Investigation, RS10A Draft-02	Barr	2007	P-3 (27-300)	2.2E-04	6.3E-01
Phase III Hydrogeologic Investigation, RS10A Draft-03	Barr	2007	P-4 (46-200)	2.5E-04	7.0E-01
	Gia	ants Ran	ge Granite		
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	59-14-2adc (well depth of 197 ft)	9.1E-06	2.6E-02
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-36 (14-18.5)	<1.4E-06 ¹	<1.4E-06 ¹
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-36 (20.5-26.5)	1.4E-06	4.0E-03
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-55 (37-41.5)	7.2E-04	2.0E+00
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-55 (41.5-46.5)	<1.4E-06 ¹	<1.4E-06 ¹
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-55 (46-50.5)	<1.4E-06 ¹	<1.4E-06 ¹
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-44 (34-42)	3.9E-05	1.1E-01
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-44 (42-46)	5.8E-05	1.6E-01
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-65 (24-30)	5.2E-05	1.5E-01
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-65 (27.5-33.5)	1.9E-04	5.4E-01
Geotechnical Investigation - Tailings Basin	Barr	2014	B14-76 (37-42)	9.0E-05	2.6E-01
Specific Capacity Analysis from Well and Boring Record for Residential Well 620123	MDH - CWI	1999	620123 (18-65)	1.2E-03	4.2E+01

¹ These tests did not produce water, suggesting that the permeability of the interval is less than the lowest value observed using the measurement technique (1.4E-06 cm/sec).

Study Title	Source Author	Date	Location (with depth interval, in feet)	Bedrock K Estimate, cm/sec	Bedrock K Estimate, ft/day
	Biw	abik Iror	n Formation		
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	58-15-3cca2 (well depth of 455 ft)	5.6E-04	1.6E+00
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	59-15-26dbc (well depth of 299 ft)	6.3E-05	1.8E-01
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	59-15-26dbc (well depth of 398 ft)	5.2E-05	1.5E-01
Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota	Siegel, D.I., and Ericson, D.W./USGS	1980	60-12-17aad (well depth of 110 ft)	5.7E-03	1.6E+01

3.2.1 Giants Range Granite and Archean Schists

Granite of the Giants Range batholith (granite) and associated Archean schists underlie the Plant Site. At the Tailings Basin, 'mounding' of the water table within the tailings pile, which is generally constructed on a groundwater divide, drives groundwater flow into the underlying surficial deposits and potentially into the upper portions of the underlying granitic bedrock.

Harrison et al. (Reference (10)) recognized that the type of crystalline rock (i.e., Duluth Complex versus Archean granite) is less important than site-specific conditions (e.g., stress history, type of stress, and fracture geometry) in controlling the overall permeability of the bedrock in the region. In general this means that crystalline rock units behave similarly under the glacial loading/unloading regime, and the upper portions of all rock units are more likely than rock at depth to contain a fracture network capable of transmitting water.

RQD data support the presence of fracturing in the upper portions of bedrock. RQD data from the bedrock that underlies the area to the north and west of the Plant Site (Appendix A) indicate the influence of the upper fractured bedrock: average RQD increases from about 60% to 85% from the bedrock surface to 20 feet below the top of bedrock. Figure 3-5 presents these RQD data converted to number of fractures per foot of core, using a relationship between RQD and number of fractures per length of core (fracture index, Fi) developed by Priest and Hudson, (Reference (52)). The number of fractures per foot of core decreases by more than half within the first 20 feet of bedrock.



Figure 3-5 Number of Fractures per Foot (Fracture Index) with Depth in the Giants Range Granite

The literature-based assessment of the upper fractured zone suggests that groundwater flow in the Giants Range granite likely occurs mostly in the upper 300 feet of the bedrock; however, the site-specific fracture data indicate that the amount of fracturing decreases significantly in the upper 20 feet of the bedrock surface (Figure 3-5).

The hydraulic conductivity of uppermost portions of the Giants Range granite (<20 feet) was tested during a 2014 geotechnical investigation. The results of this investigation are attached to this report (Appendix A). Hydraulic conductivity values for the upper portion of the Giant's Range granite surrounding the Plant Site range from effectively zero (e.g., no water was produced in three of the packer test intervals) to 7.2×10^{-4} cm/s, with a geometric mean of 1.9×10^{-5} cm/s (Table 1-1 and Large Figure 2). (For the purposes of calculating a geometric mean, the lowest hydraulic conductivity value measured during the investigation was used for the three intervals that did not produce water). Artesian groundwater conditions were encountered in several piezometers and drillholes during investigation, including one drillhole (R14-20) that encountered approximately 10-12 gallons per minute (gpm) of flow within the upper foot of the granite, which the drillers attribute to groundwater flow at the top of bedrock.

The hydraulic conductivity measurements from this investigation reflect heterogeneity with respect to hydraulic properties of the upper 20 feet of bedrock. Regional measurements in the Giants Range granite also indicate variability: Siegel and Ericson (Reference (9)) measured specific capacity in one well in the upper 200 feet of the Giants Range, and found hydraulic conductivity was 9.1×10^{-6} cm/s, while specific capacity data from a well record for a residential well located to the north of the Plant Site suggests that the hydraulic conductivity of the upper 65 feet of the granite is 1.5×10^{-2} cm/s. Based on a compilation of field- and lab-based hydraulic conductivity values for granites in North America, Harrison et al. (Reference (10)) estimated a mean conductivity value of 10^{-8} cm/s for granite in the Lake Superior region.

The various hydraulic conductivity values from literature and site test work are shown on Large Figure 2 and in Table 1-1.

Fracturing due to glacial loading/unloading in the Giants Range is limited to the upper portions of bedrock. At depth, fractures become less frequent (Figure 3-5), and more closed. The contrast between the bulk hydraulic conductivity of the upper 20 feet of Giant's Range granite and that of other granites in the Lake Superior region (Table 1-1) generally suggests that deep-seated faults or other fractures may be discontinuous or filled at depth.

3.2.2 Duluth Complex

The Duluth Complex rock at NorthMet is massive, with very few fractures except within the upper approximately 40 feet (Figure 3-6). RQD data are collected during ongoing exploration and PolyMet's assay database is continually updated with information from drillcore logging and re-logging efforts. To date, there are over 14,000 RQD measurements for the Duluth Complex within PolyMet's database (Reference (4)). RQD data from exploratory drilling indicate that rock quality in the Duluth Complex is generally excellent (>90%). Average RQD increases from 73% at the top of bedrock to 94% within 40 feet below the top of bedrock. Figure 3-6 presents these RQD data from top of bedrock to 500 feet below top of bedrock within the Duluth Complex. The RQD data are converted to number of fractures per foot of core, using the fracture index (Fi) developed by Priest and Hudson, (Reference (52)). The average number of fractures per foot of core decreases from almost 3 to less than 1 within the first 20 feet of bedrock.

Blasting and mining (unloading) of the Duluth Complex rock may act to open joints or fractures, but the extent of this "damaged" rock will be localized within the area of the pit shells (Reference (53)). The potential increase in bedrock permeability due to damaged rock will not affect the larger-scale flow paths that deliver groundwater into and out of the mine. Regardless of the potential presence of a "damaged rock zone", the long-term average groundwater inflow rates into and out of the open pits (which are subject to seasonal and long-term climatic variations) will stabilize due to the limited capacity (low transmissivity) of the surrounding unaffected bedrock.



Figure 3-6 Number of Fractures per Foot (Fracture Index) with Depth in the Duluth Complex

Siegel and Ericson (Reference (9)) collected specific capacity information from two exploratory drillholes located between 10 and 20 miles northeast of the Mine Site in the Duluth Complex. These data were converted to hydraulic conductivities of 5.6×10^{-6} and 9.9×10^{-7} cm/s. They report that the Duluth Complex rocks yield 5 to 15 gpm in the upper portion of the bedrock unit, where joints and fractures resulting from glacial loading/unloading are transmissive. Stark (Reference (7)) estimated that the hydraulic conductivity of the Duluth Complex ranged from 1.4×10^{-7} to 1.5×10^{-4} cm/s, with a geometric mean of 4.4×10^{-6} cm/s based on aquifer tests. He also found that transmissivity is greater closer to mapped lineaments, though the data to support this conclusion are not extensive. At depth within the Duluth Complex, i.e., below approximately 300 feet, fracturing is limited to larger structural features (if present) of relatively low transmissivity.

Barr (Reference (12)) conducted 10 aquifer performance tests in exploratory drillholes that ranged in depth from 328 to 1303 feet. Hydraulic conductivity values for the Duluth Complex at the Mine Site ranged from 9.2×10^{-8} to 1.4×10^{-5} cm/s, with a geometric mean of 8.0×10^{-7} cm/s (Table 1-1). The spatial distribution of the hydraulic conductivity estimates is shown on Large Figure 2. The five hydraulic conductivity estimates derived from single-well pumping tests conducted on drillholes within about 1000 feet of the Virginia Formation/Duluth Complex contact (10^{-5} to 10^{-6} cm/s) are generally about an order of magnitude higher than those derived from more distally-located drillholes (10^{-7} to 10^{-8} cm/s).

Hydraulic conductivity results were further analyzed to assess variability related to depth. Assuming the hydraulic conductivity values estimated from the Duluth Complex aquifer tests represent both the effective, thickness-weighted average of the hydraulic conductivities of the upper, more permeable portion and the lower, less permeable portion of the Duluth Complex (an appropriate assumption for tests conducted in boreholes with distinct intervals of contrasting permeability (Reference (54 p. 252)), hydraulic conductivity was calculated under two assumed values for thickness of the bedrock contributing flow during the tests: 50 feet and 100 feet. Hydraulic conductivity values were calculated assuming no groundwater inflow occurred within the borehole beneath these two depths (Table 3-2). As shown in Table 3-2, the hydraulic conductivity values calculated for the assumed upper, fractured portion of bedrock are generally 3 to 30 times greater than the effective, measured hydraulic conductivity values

from the aquifer tests. For example, for the five boreholes located more than 1,000 feet south of the Virginia Formation/Duluth Complex contact, the geometric mean hydraulic conductivity is 1.7×10^{-7} cm/s if based on the entire test interval thickness (approximate open borehole interval) of each borehole, 1.3×10^{-6} cm/s if the effective water-producing interval is 100 feet, and 2.5×10^{-6} cm/s if the effective water-producing interval is 100 feet, and 2.5×10^{-6} cm/s if the effective water-producing interval is 50 feet. The hydraulic conductivity values from the five single-well pumping tests conducted near the Virginia Formation/Duluth Complex contact remain higher than the values from drillholes located further from the contact after normalization to the two assumptions of flow-contributing bedrock thickness.

Estimates of inflow to underground structures in the area provide context for how much of this groundwater might be derived from bedrock. Underground mine facilities in the region (i.e., AMAX, Soudan Underground Mine) typically construct engineering controls (e.g., fracture grouting) to manage the quantities of water that are encountered. During the development of a 1700-foot deep exploratory mine shaft at AMAX, four individual fractures that produced water were encountered (Reference (8)). These reflect seepage from the Duluth Complex, and were encountered at 60 feet, 147 feet, approximately 1,050 to 1,080 feet (record is unclear), and 1,194 feet below ground surface. Inflow along these individual fractures ranged from 2.7 to approximately 25 gpm. After the fractures were grouted, inflow ranged from 0.8 to 4.0 gpm for the individual fractures. Average pumping rates from the AMAX shaft after engineering controls were in place were approximately 9 to 14 gpm during its operation (Reference (8)).

Table 3-2Duluth Complex Hydraulic Conductivity Estimates under Different Assumed
Aquifer Thicknesses

Source Author	Date	Location	Approximate Open Borehole Interval, ft	Bedrock K Estimate, cm/sec	Bedrock K Estimate, ft/day	Effective Bedrock K assuming Flow in Upper 50 feet of Bedrock, cm/sec	Effective Bedrock K assuming Flow in Upper 100 feet of Bedrock, cm/sec
	Boreholes w	ithin 1000 f	eet of the Dulu	th Complex/V	irginia Formati	ion contact subcro	ор
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-401M	0 - 349	1.3E-06	0.0036	8.9E-06	4.4E-06
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-404M	0 - 328	3.5E-06	0.01	2.3E-05	1.2E-05
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-407M	8 - 354	3.0E-06	0.0084	2.1E-05	1.0E-05
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-409C	16 - 442	1.4E-05	0.041	1.2E-04	6.4E-05
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-413C	12 - 336	4.2E-06	0.012	2.7E-05	1.4E-05
Boreh	oles in souther	n portion of	the West Pit, > con	1000 feet fro tact subcrop	om the Duluth (Complex/Virginia	Formation
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-411M	13 - 639	3.0E-07	0.00084	3.7E-06	1.9E-06
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-405C	31 - 723	2.4E-07	0.00067	3.3E-06	1.7E-06
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-406C	6 - 686	9.2E-08	0.00026	1.2E-06	6.3E-07
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-410C	7 - 668	1.5E-07	0.00042	2.0E-06	9.9E-07
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	05-414C	0 - 1303	1.4E-07	0.00039	3.6E-06	1.8E-06
Barr	2006 (Phase I Hydro Investigation)	Geometric Mean		8.0E-07	0.0023	8.3E-06	4.2E-06

3.2.3 Virginia Formation

The Virginia Formation is the first rock below the mineralized zone within the Duluth Complex (Figure 3-3), and will be exposed in some areas within the northern mine pit walls, as the Duluth Complex is mined along its dip-slope (Figure 3-3). The Virginia Formation is also present in subcrop below features of the Mine Site, such as the Category 1 Waste Rock Stockpile.

The hydraulic conductivity of the Virginia Formation has been affected by joints and fractures from glacial loading/unloading (where present in sub-crop), bedding plane fractures, and faults and joints related to tectonic stresses. Groundwater movement in the Virginia Formation occurs mostly in the upper portions of the bedrock affected by glacial loading and unloading (i.e., the near-surface fractures). This may be due to the aperture width of fractures, and, by extension, the hydraulic conductivity, decreasing with depth as confining pressure from the overlying rock increases.

At the Mine Site, five pumping tests (three 36-hour tests, one 96-hour test, and one 30-day test) were conducted in four wells completed within the Virginia Formation, near the contact with the Duluth Complex. Pumping test data suggest the bulk hydraulic conductivity of the upper approximately 600 feet of the Virginia Formation has hydraulic conductivity of 8.5×10^{-7} to 2.4×10^{-4} cm/s. The geometric mean of the hydraulic conductivity estimates from each of the pumping wells is 6.0×10^{-5} cm/s.

Specific capacity testing was conducted in two of the Virginia Formation wells in order to assess the relative permeability of the upper (0-300 ft) versus lower (300-600 ft) portions of the formation. This work found the upper portion of the Virginia formation to be approximately three to five times more permeable than the lower portion (Reference (14)).

3.2.4 Biwabik Iron Formation (BIF)

The BIF, which comprises the footwall at depth below the Virginia Formation at the Mine Site, represents the most hydraulically conductive of the bedrock units at NorthMet. Where the BIF is present in sub-crop, it is recognized as a regional water resource; weathered and leached BIF can supply 1000 gal/min to wells that supply villages on the Mesabi Iron Range (Reference (28)). When it is exposed near the surface (i.e., Peter Mitchell Pit to the north of the Mine Site), fractures are widespread and include bedding-plane fractures, joints and variably oriented large- and small-offset faults (i.e., Siphon Fault, Donora Fault). Although most groundwater discharge to local taconite mine pits comes from the interface between the surficial deposits and the bedrock (Reference (11)), groundwater discharging from joints within the BIF are common in dewatered pits (Reference (55)). Siegel and Ericson (Reference (9)) measured specific capacity in four wells screened in the BIF. These data suggest that hydraulic conductivity of the BIF ranges from 5.2 x 10⁻⁵ to 5.7 x 10⁻³ cm/s (with a geometric mean of 3.5×10^{-4} cm/s).

The hydraulic conductivity of the BIF at depth below the NorthMet mine pits likely will be less than where it is exposed in subcrop, due to the decreased aperture width resulting from the confining stress exerted by the overlying Virginia Formation and Duluth Complex. In addition, because the Virginia Formation, and not the BIF, will be exposed at the base of the mine pits, seepage from the BIF is not anticipated.

3.2.5 Summary

The bedrock hydrogeology at the Mine Site and Plant Site is characterized by near-surface fracture flow that is likely limited almost entirely to the uppermost portions of bedrock. Despite literature-based values indicating that the depth of this upper zone of higher permeability may be approximately 300 feet, RQD data for the Duluth Complex, beneath the Mine Site, suggests that the bedrock fracture network capable of transmitting significant quantities of water is limited to the upper approximately 40 feet. The metasedimentary rock units of the Virginia Formation that make up the footwall at the Mine Site have somewhat higher hydraulic conductivity than the more massive igneous rocks of the Duluth Complex, given the presence of bedding-plane fractures. Experience from advancing the exploration shaft at AMAX indicates that deep-seated fractures within the bedrock can contribute water to excavations at depth. These features are localized and likely discontinuous and are not able to be mapped from drillhole to drillhole in the Duluth Complex at the Mine Site.

4.0 Implications for Impact Analysis

The assessment of potential environmental impacts from the Project considers the presence of fractures capable of transmitting water and the permeability of the bedrock units (collectively referred to as bedrock hydrogeology). The groundwater components of the impact analysis were simulated using an assumption of equivalent porous media for groundwater flow through bedrock, which means that flow in individual fractures is not considered, but flow through a network of connected fractures is considered; the resulting modeled hydraulic conductivity is directly comparable to the site-specific field-based bulk hydraulic conductivity measurements from drillholes that are open to significant thicknesses of bedrock. Additional details on the modeling of flow through bedrock at the Mine Site and Plant Site are discussed further below.

4.1 Mine Site

Duluth Complex rock will be blasted and mined in the course of mine progression. During mining, the Duluth Complex and some Virginia Formation will be exposed at the surface along the sides and bottom of the open pits and will contribute groundwater flow to the open pits. The open pits will act as a sink for groundwater during operations, i.e., dewatering will induce groundwater discharge to the pit; a significant fraction of the groundwater discharging to the pits is expected to be from surficial deposits, given the higher hydraulic conductivity of this material. Localized flow from the bedrock is expected, most likely from the near-surface fractures. After pit flooding in closure, there will be continued groundwater inflow to the pits from the north via Duluth Complex (what remains following mining) and the Virginia Formation. In closure, most water leaving the pit will be through pumping to the waste-water treatment facility, with minimal flow to groundwater in the surficial deposits. Very little, if any, flow is expected to leave the pit via fractures in bedrock given the low gradient and permeability of the rock (less than 1 gpm on average). Any groundwater outflow will be through the Duluth Complex to the south.

The bedrock hydrogeology at the Mine Site is a factor in the assessment of water quality impacts as part of the SDEIS. In addition, bedrock hydrogeology is used in the development of the overall project water balance, which affects volumes of water that need to be managed. Specifically, bedrock hydrogeology is used in addressing the following questions:

- How much groundwater inflow will there be to the mine pits during operations and pit flooding?
- Will there be water quality impacts from groundwater outflow from the mine pits after they are reflooded during reclamation and long-term closure?
- Will there be water quality impacts associated with leakage/seepage from stockpiles and other surficial mine features?

Each of these questions, and the analysis conducted to date to address the questions, is presented further below in light of the geologic and hydrogeologic discussion presented in this document.

4.1.1 Groundwater Inflow to Pits

The quantity of groundwater inflow to the mine pits during operations and pit flooding is estimated using MODFLOW (Attachment C of Reference (49)). This modeling uses, among other inputs, the bulk hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock units, treating them as equivalent porous media. The bulk hydraulic properties of the bedrock, representative of the collective near-surface fractures, are considered, rather than the hydraulic conductivity of individual fractures, because the prediction of interest is the spatially-averaged groundwater inflow into the pits. Flow from individual factures is not needed, and adding the level of mathematical complexity necessary to make this sort of prediction would be unwarranted. The Virginia Formation is the primary unit transmitting water to the pits due to the higher hydraulic conductivity of this unit compared to the Duluth Complex (Table 1-1 and Large Figure 2). Differences in hydraulic properties in the upper versus lower Virginia Formation are addressed in the groundwater model by assigning separate zones of differing hydraulic conductivity to the upper and lower portions of the Virginia Formation. In the MODFLOW model, the hydraulic conductivity values are allowed to vary during the calibration process. Specifically, bedrock hydraulic conductivity values derived from site-specific test work were considered in defining the range of allowable hydraulic conductivity adjustments during calibration.

The Mine Site GoldSim model uses the MODFLOW estimated groundwater inflow rates to establish the overall project water balance. For this assessment, uncertainty in the groundwater inflow rates, which in part reflects uncertainties in bedrock hydraulic conductivities, are represented with a probabilistic distribution that scales the MODFLOW estimated inflow values. A log-normal distribution is defined such that the mean groundwater inflow rate is the MODFLOW estimated value and the 95% confidence interval extends from approximately 0.75 to 2.0. This assumption was discussed as part of the Impact Assessment Process (IAP process) and is based on professional judgment.

4.1.2 Groundwater Impacts from Mine Pit Outflow

The estimate of water quality impacts from groundwater outflow from the mine pits considered the hydrogeology of both surficial deposits and bedrock at the Mine Site. Given the predicted gradients following pit flooding, any groundwater outflow from the pits will be to the south through the surficial deposits and the Duluth Complex. Given the fact that the hydraulic conductivity of the surficial deposits is much higher than the Duluth Complex, the majority of outflow will be through the surficial deposits. However, transport through bedrock is still considered in the GoldSim modeling of potential water quality impacts.

In the GoldSim model, bedrock is assumed to behave as an equivalent porous media with a hydraulic conductivity equal to the optimized value from the MODFLOW model calibration. Uncertainty in hydraulic conductivity of one log-cycle is considered. There is a practical inability to predict the locations of (and therefore to characterize) transmissive open fracture or fault zones in bedrock via drillholes prior to operations given the lack of continuity of features. However, any zones that could transmit significant quantities of water away from the pits following flooding would be zones that contribute groundwater inflow during dewatering and will be visible as seeps. During operations, if and when individual fracture zones are encountered that contribute abundant water to the pit, that water will be managed, and

mitigation steps will be taken to minimize flow from those zones. Management steps taken during mine pit progression may include grouting of the fracture zone to prevent local flow. Mitigation steps taken during mine pit progression that prevent in-flow from deep-seated faults (i.e., individual fracture zones that intersect the pit at depth) will also minimize out-flow (and any associated water quality impacts) from groundwater from the flooded pit through bedrock.

4.1.3 Groundwater Impacts from Stockpile Seepage or Leakage

The estimates of water quality impacts associated with leakage or seepage from stockpiles and other surficial mine features do not consider the potential for transport through bedrock. These features will primarily be constructed on top of the surficial deposits, and as a result of engineering controls constructed to collect leakage and seepage, there will be very little head driving any seepage or leakage from these features into bedrock. This, combined with the low hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock relative to the surficial deposits, results in a very low likelihood for impacts to groundwater in bedrock. Given this, the impact analysis considered the interface between the surficial deposits and bedrock to be an impermeable boundary. The effect of this assumption is that groundwater in the surficial aquifer is modeled to have faster travel times and less attenuation of constituent mass than if the model assumed groundwater flow in bedrock.

4.2 Plant Site

The bedrock hydrogeology at the Plant Site is a factor in the assessment of water quality impacts. Specifically, bedrock hydrogeology is used in addressing the following questions:

- How much seepage loss will occur through the base of the Flotation Tailings Basin?
- Will there be water quality impacts from groundwater outflow from the Tailings Basin?

Groundwater modeling was conducted to allocate seepage from the Tailings Basin to groundwater flow paths designated in the GoldSim impact analysis. The groundwater model used to estimate the quantity of seepage loss that would occur through the base of the Tailings Basin is calibrated to measured hydraulic heads within and around the Tailings Basin, to estimates of seepages losses from the Tailings Basin ponds, and to measurements of seepage to the south of the Tailings Basin. For modeling, the bedrock beneath the Tailings Basin is assumed to act as an impermeable boundary. Based on the geometric means of site-specific hydraulic conductivity data for the surficial deposits (1.7×10^{-3} cm/s; Reference (56)) and bedrock (1.9×10^{-5} cm/s; Appendix A), the hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock is nearly 100 times lower than the hydraulic conductivity of the surficial deposits. Given this disparity in hydraulic conductivity values, the majority of seepage losses from the Tailings Basin will be through the surficial deposits.

The impact analysis conducted using the GoldSim model focused on flow and transport in the surficial deposits, and not on the underlying granitic bedrock. Assuming no leakage to bedrock has the effect of decreasing travel times of constituent mass from the Tailings Basin to evaluation points in the surficial aquifer, and allowing for less attenuation of constituent mass than if the model assumed groundwater flow in bedrock. This results in mass reaching the evaluation points more quickly than would be expected

in an area where the surficial aquifer and the bedrock are connected and some constituent mass could enter the bedrock. In reality, some of the groundwater flow from the Tailings Basin may be accommodated in the upper fractured granitic bedrock, although this flow is considered to be negligible compared to the amount of groundwater flow through flow paths in the surficial deposits. The groundwater flow from the Tailings Basin through the surficial aquifer will be captured by the FTB Containment System. The impact analysis, however, incorporates an assumption that reflects the potential for flow in the uppermost portions of the granite. While the FTB Containment System is designed to capture 100% of the groundwater coming from the Tailings Basin, the impact analysis assumes that some seepage (equal to 10% of the capacity of the surficial aquifer) bypasses the FTB Containment System.

5.0 References

1. White, D. A. The stratigraphy and structure of the Mesabi Range, Minnesota. Minneapolis : University of Minnesota Press, 1954.

2. **Minnesota Department of Natural Resources; U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; U.S. Forest Service.** NorthMet Mining Project and Land Exchange Supplemental Draft Environmental Impact Statement. November 2013.

3. **Severson, M. J. and Zanko, L. M.** Geologic map of the Dunka Road deposti, Suluth Complex, Northern Minnesota. s.l. : Natural Resources Research Institute, University of Minnesota, Duluth, 1996. pp. 1-38.

4. Ware, Andrew. Personal Communication. July 7, 2014.

5. Fetter, C. W. Applied hydrology. 3rd. New York : Maxwell Macmillan International, 1994.

6. **Minnesota Department of Health, County Well Index (MDH CWI).** [Online] [Cited: July 28, 2014.] http://www.health.state.mn.us/divs/eh/cwi/index.html.

7. **Stark, J. R.** Surficial Geology and Ground-Water Geology of the Babbitt-Kawishiwi Area, Northeastern Minnesota with Planning Implications. [Master of Science thesis]. s.l. : University of Wisconsin-Madison.

8. **E.A. Hickock and Associates.** Water Resources Investigation for the Possible MINNIMAX Mining Facility. March 1977.

9. **Siegel, D. I. and Ericson, D. W., U.S. Geological Survey.** Hydrology and Water Quality of the Copper-Nickel Study Region, Northeastern Minnesota. Water-Resources Investigations Open-File Report 80-739. 1980.

10. **Harrison, W., et al.** Geology, hydrology, and mineral resources of crystalline rock areas of the Lake Superior Region, United States. Argonne, IL : Argonne National Laboratory, 1983.

11. Adams, J. L,, Leibfried, R. T. and Herr, E. S., Minnesota Deparment of Natural Resources. East Range Hydrology Project, Final Report. March 2004.

12. **Barr Engineering Company.** Drill Hole Monitoring and Data Collection, Hydrogeological Investigation - Phase 1, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-02. 2006a.

13. —. Drill Hole Monitoring and Data Collection, Hydrogeological Investigation - Phase 2, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10. 2006b.

14. —. Drill Hole Monitoring and Data Collection, Hydrogeological Investigation - Phase 3, PolyMet NorthMet Mine Site, RS-10A. 2007.
15. **Miller, J. D. and Severson, M. J.** Geology of the Duluth Complex, in Miller, J.D., Jr., Green, J.C. Severson, M.J., Chandler, V.W., Hauck, S.A., Peterson, D.M., and Wahl, T.E., 2002. *Geology and mineral potential of the Duluth Complex and related rocks of northeastern Minnesota*. s.l. : Minnesota Survey Report of Investigations 58, 2002. p. 207.

16. *The Giants Range batholith of Minnesota*. Allison, I. S. 1925, Journal of Geology, Vol. 33, pp. 488-508.

17. **Prince, L. A., and Hanson, G. N.** Rb-Sr isochron ages for the Giants Range granite, northeastern Minnesota. [ed.] B.R. and Smith, D.K Doe. *Studies in mineralogy and Precambrian geology: Geological Society of America Memoir 135.* 1972, pp. 217-224.

18. **Boerboom, T. J. and Zartman, R. E.** Geology, geochemistry, and geochronology of the central Giants Range batholith, northern Minnesota. *The National Research Council of Canada: Canadian Journal of Earch Sciences.* 1993, Vol. 30, 12, pp. 2510-2522.

19. *Geology and Metamorphism of the Eastern Mesabi Iron Range*. **Ojakangas, R. W., Severson, M. J., Campbell, T. J., Lubben, J. D., Jongewaard, P. K., Halverson, D. G., Bird, J. ,and Everett, W.** Ely, MN : s.n., 2009. Institute on Lake Superior Geology Proceedings, 55th Annual Meeting. Vol. 55, p. 117.

20. **Miller, J. D., Severson, M. J. and Hauck, S. A.** History of the geologic mapping and mineral exploration in the Duluth Complex, in Geology and mineral potential of the Duluth Complex and related rocks of Northeastern Minnesota. [ed.] J. D. Miller, et al. s.l. : University of Minnesota Saint Paul, 2002. Report of Investigations 58, pp. 21-25.

21. **PolyMet Mining.** PolyMet NorthMet Geology and Resource Background, August 2006. *PolyMet Project Description Support Document ER03.* s.l. : PolyMet Mining, 2007.

22. **Cooper, R. W.** Lineament and structural analysis of the Duluth Complex, Hoyt Lakes – Kawishiwi Area, northeastern Minnesota: University of Minnesota, Ph.D. thesis. 1978. p. 280.

23. Foose, M. P. and Cooper, R. W. Faulting and fracturing in part of the Duluth Complex, northeastern Minnesota. 1981, Vol. 18, pp. 810-814.

24. **Cooper, W.** Lineament and structure analysis of the Duluth Complex, Hoyt Lake-Kawishiwi area, northern Minnesota. Minneapolis, MN : University of Minnesota, 1978. Ph.D. thesis, p. 220.

25. **Geerts, S. D.** Petrography and geochemistry of a platinum group element-bearing horizon in the Dunka Road prospect, (Keweenawan) Duluth Complex, northeastern Minnesota: Duluth, Minn., University of Minnesota Duluth, M.S. thesis. 1994. p. 157.

26. **Patelke, R. L., and Geerts, S. D.** *PolyMet NorthMet Drill Hole/Geologic Database Recompilation:* Location, Downhole Survey, Assay, Lithology, Geotechnical Data, and Related Information, 2004 to 2006, PolyMet Mining Inc. Internal Report. 2006. p. 86. 27. **Desautels, P. and Zurowski, G.** Updated NI 43-101 technical report on the NorthMet Deposit Minnesota. s.l., USA : AGP Mining Consultants Inc., 2012.

28. **Cotter, R. D., H. L. Young, L. R. Petri, C. H. Prior.** Ground and surface water in the Mesabi and Vermilion Iron Range area, northeastern Minnesota. *U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1759-A.* s.l. : U.S. Government Printing Office, 1965.

29. **Cotter, R. D., et al.** Water resources in the vicinity of municipalities on the east-central Mesabi Iron Range. Washington, D.C. s.l. : U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1979-E, 1965b.

30. **Patelke, R. L., and Severson, M. J.** A history of copper-nickel and titanium oxide test pits, bulk samples, and related metallurgical testing in the Keweenawan Duluth Comple, northeastern Minnesota, Natural Resources Research Institute, University of Minnesota, Duluth, Technical Report, NRRI. 2005.

31. Lindholm, G. F., Ericson, D. W., Broussard, W. L., and Hult, M. F. Water resources of the St. Louis River watershed, northeastern Minnesota, U.S. Geological Survey, Hydrologic Investigations Atlas HA-586. 1978.

32. **U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.** *Preliminary Assessment/Site Investigation Report: Finland Air Force Station, Lake County, Minnesota.* s.l. : HARZA Consulting Engineers and Scientists, 1999.

33. Jirsa, M. A., Southwick, D L. and Boerboom, T. J. Structural evolution of Archean rocks in the western Wawa subprovince, Minnesota: refolding of prevleavage nappes during D2 transpression. *Candian Journal of Earth Sciences.* 1992, Vol. 29, pp. 2146-2155.

34. **Peterson, D. M. and Severson, M. J.** Archean and Paleoproterozoic rocks that form the footwall of the Duluth Complex. [ed.] J. D. Miller, et al. *Geology and mineral potential of the Duluth Complex and related rocks of Northeastern Minnesota*. s.l. : University of Minnesota Saint Paul, 2002. Report of Investigations 58, pp. 76-93.

35. **Ojakangas, R. W.** Tidal deposits in the early Proterozoic basin of the Lake Superior region; the Palms and the Pokegama Formations; evidence of subtidal-deposition of the superior-type banded iron-formation, in Medaris. [ed.] L. G. Medaris. *Proterozoic geology of the Great Lakes region: Geological Society of America Memoir 160.* 1983. pp. 49-56.

36. **Huber, N. K.** Some aspects of the Ironwood Iron-Formation of Michigan and Wisconsin. *Economic Geology*. 1959, Vol. 54, pp. 82-118.

37. Schulz, K. J. and Cannon, W. F. The Penokean orogeny in the Lake Superior region. *Precambrian Research*. 2007, Vol. 157, pp. 4-15.

38. **Cannon, W. F., Klasner, G. L. and Schultz, K. J.** The Gogebic Range—a sample of the northern margin of the Penokean fold and thrust belt: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1730. 2007. p. ff.

39. **Severson, K. J. and Hauck, S. A.** Igneous stratigraphy and mineralization in the basal portion of the Partridge River Intrusion, Duluth Complex, Allen Quadrangle, Minnesota: NaturalResources Research Institute Technical Report NRRI/TR-97/19. 1997. pp. 1-102.

40. Davis, D. W. and Sutcliffe, R. H. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 1985.

41. Davis, D. W. and Paces, J. B. Earth and Planetary Science Letters. 1990.

42. Crustal-scale thrusting and origin of the Montreal River Monocline-A 35-km-thick cross section of the Midcontinental Rift in northern Michigan and Wisconsin. **Cannon, W. F., Peterman, Z. E. and Sims, P. K.** 12(3), 1993, Tectonics, pp. 728-744.

43. **Cannon, W. F.** Closing of the Midcontinent rift-A far - field effect of Grenvillian compression. *Geology*. 1992, Vol. 22, 2, pp. 155-158.

44. **Weiblen, P. W. and Morey, G. B.** A summary of the stratigraphy, petrology and structure of the Duluth Complex. *American Journal of Science*. 1980, Vol. 280, pp. 88-133.

45. *Geologic and geochemical evidence for the nature and development of the middle Proterozoic (Keweenawan) Midcontinent Rift of North America.* **Green, J. C.** 94, 1983, Tectonophysics, pp. 413-437.

46. **Holst, T. B., et al.** Relationship of structural geology of the Duluth Complex to economic mineralization: A Final Report to the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources and the National Resources Institute of the University of Minnesota Duluth. 1986. Report 241-2.

47. **Cannon, W.F. and et al.** Geologic map of the Ontonagon and part of the Wakefield 30' x 60' quadrangles, Michigan. s.l. : U.S. Geological Survey, 1995.

48. Where are the Metamorphosed Natural Orebodies of the Mesabi Range? Graber, R. G., and Strandlie,
A. J. Marquette, MI : s.n., 1999. Institute on Lake Superior Geology Proceedings, 45th Annual Meeting. Vol. 45, p. 17.

49. **Poly Met Mining Inc.** NorthMet Project Water Modeling Data Package Volume 1 - Mine Site (v12). March 2013.

50. *Glacio-seismotectonics: ice sheets, crustal deformation and seismicity.* **Stewart, I. S., Sauber, J., Rose, J.** s.l. : Quaternary Science Reviews, 2000. Vol. 19, pp. 1367-1389.

51. *Geology, petrology, and tectonic significance of the Beaver Bay Complex, northeastern Minnesota.* **Miller, James D and Chandler, Val W.** 1997, Vol. 312.

52. **Quigley, Paul and McSwiney, Steven.** Measurement and Analysis of Rock Mass Fractures and their Applications in Civil Engineering. February 13, 1996.

53. **Persson, P. A., Holmberg, R. and Lee, J.** Rock Blasting and Explosives Engineering. s.l. : CRC Press Inc., 1994.

54. Butler, J. J. The Design, Performance, and Analysis of Slug Tests. Boca Raton : CRC Press LLC, 1998.

55. Jirsa, M. A., Setterholm, D. R., Bloomgren, B. A., Bauer, E. J., and Lively, R. S., University of Minnesota, Minnesota Geological Survey. Bedrock Geology, Database, Bedrock Topography, Depth to Bedrock, Maps of the Eastern Half of the Mesabi Iron Range, Northern Minnesota (M-158). 2005.

56. **Poly Met Mining Inc.** NorthMet Project Water Modeling Data Package Volume 2 - Plant Site (v9). March 2013.

Large Figures





Appendix A

August 14, 2014 PolyMet Geotechnical Exploration - Winter 2013/2014 Memo





Memorandum

To:Project FileFrom:Kristin Alstadt, Tom RadueSubject:PolyMet Geotechnical Exploration – Winter 2013/2014Date:August 28, 2014Project:23/69-0C29c:C:

During late winter 2013/2014 Barr Engineering Company (Barr) under authorization and contract with PolyMet Mining Company (PolyMet) completed a geotechnical exploration at the NorthMet site to characterize subsurface soil and bedrock along the alignment of the proposed Flotation Tailings Basin (FTB) Seepage Capture System (system). The geotechnical exploration consisted of two parts: 1) Rotasonic Exploration and 2) SPT Exploration. Exploration locations are shown on **Figure 1** and summarized on **Table 1**, and logs and associated test data are in **Attachments A** through **D**. More specifically, the exploration was performed to:

- Confirm depth to bedrock at numerous points along the proposed alignment of the seepage cutoff wall component of the system.
- Confirm soil types along the proposed alignment of the system.
- Confirm the presence of cobbles and boulders within the glacial till along the proposed cutoff wall alignment.
- Confirm the hydraulic conductivity of the soils and bedrock along the proposed cutoff wall alignment.

In general, the field exploration encountered a thin layer of peat in the wetlands overlying predominantly silty sand and gravel soils (glacial till). Peat was absent in upland areas. Underlying the glacial till was strong, competent bedrock. The peat ranged in thickness from 0 to 20 feet. The glacial till ranged in thickness from 0 to 42.5 feet. Bedrock was encountered at depths ranging from approximately 2 to 42.5 feet with bedrock at its deepest on the northwest side of the tailings basin. Bedrock fractures were generally in-filled. Cobbles and boulders were frequently encountered on the surface and in the till at various depths.

Rotasonic Borings

The rotasonic borings were performed to: 1) document and sample the soil stratigraphy and bedrock depth along the cutoff wall alignment, 2) collect soil and rock samples for examination, and 3) install standpipe piezometers to monitor ground water elevations and perform slug tests to measure in-situ

soil hydraulic conductivity. A total of 22 rotasonic borings (R14-02, 04, 05, 06, 07, 08, 09, 10, 10a, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 20, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, and 30) were performed as part of the geotechnical exploration. Each location was drilled to the estimated top of bedrock and then typically extended an additional 3 to 8.5 feet to confirm that bedrock rather than a boulder was encountered. If rock was encountered shallower than anticipated, several offset borings were performed to confirm bedrock depth.

Ten (10) standpipe piezometers (R14-04, 06, 08, 12, 13, 15, 16, 26, 27, and 28) were installed in 22 of the rotasonic locations to bottom-of-screen depths ranging from 10 to 35 feet. Standpipe piezometers were constructed to monitor water levels and assist in performing slug tests. The piezometers were installed in the borehole and consist of a riser with a screened pipe interval at the bottom 5 feet. Sand pack was placed in the annulus along the screened interval and a bentonite seal was placed above the sand to isolate the pore water pressure to the screened interval. The piezometers were then backfilled with bentonite grout to prevent unwanted vertical migration of water. The screened zone was installed in glacial till at depths determined at the time of drilling and typically corresponded to zones assumed to have a higher hydraulic conductivity than the surrounding soil, usually located just above bedrock. The piezometers were bailed three times during the geotechnical exploration by Barr field staff in order to clean the piezometers and establish flow through the screens. Once water levels were stabilized, slug tests were performed.

A slug test consists of rapid displacement of the static water level in a piezometer or well by adding or removing a solid piece of PVC pipe (as performed for this exploration) or building up and releasing air pressure in the well casing. The slug testing was performed with 5-foot and 10-foot long 1-inch PVC slugs. Three sets of tests were performed in each piezometer. The first and third test was performed with the 10-foot slug and the second test was performed with the 5-foot slug to confirm repeatability. A slug test in which the displacement is initiated by rapidly lowering a slug below the water level is referred to as a slug-in or falling-head test; a slug-out or rising-head test is one in which the slug is rapidly removed. Two slug tests—slug-in and slug-out—were performed sequentially at piezometers. The resulting water-level recovery to static, pre-test conditions was monitored using a data-logging pressure transducer (InSitu – LevelTroll 700). Slug testing data is undergoing final analysis and will be reported in a future update to this memorandum.

SPT Borings

The SPT geotechnical exploration consisted of soil borings performed using mud rotary and hollow stem auger drilling methods. During the drilling, standard penetration tests (SPT), soil sampling via split spoon, bulk soil sampling, and packer testing in the bedrock were performed to: (1) determine

the soil and bedrock stratigraphy, (2) collect and perform laboratory testing of undisturbed peat and disturbed till samples, (3) collect in-situ soil characteristics data such as the Standard Penetration Test (SPT) blow count (N) value, and (4) perform packer testing in the bedrock to determine in-situ hydraulic conductivity. Rock cores were collected to confirm depth to bedrock and provide qualitative information, including Rock Quality Designation (RQD) values and fracture characteristics. A total of 12 SPT borings (B14-36, 40, 44, 48, 52, 55, 62, 65, 69, 72, 76, and 80) were performed as part of the geotechnical exploration. Borings were terminated when apparent bedrock was encountered, typically indicated by standard penetration test results in excess of 50 blows for less than one-half foot of penetration, at which point coring into bedrock was performed to obtain a total core of 15-foot length to confirm that bedrock and not a boulder was encountered and to provide adequate rock borehole length for the performance of one to three packer tests per boring location.

Per the SPT borings the bedrock is strong to very strong with zones that appear to previously have been fractured. Fractures were present in most of the cored bedrock from the site and the rock cores were considered to be slightly too moderately fractured. Bedrock contained horizontal fractures, vertical fractures, and fractures ranging from 45 to 65 degrees from the horizontal. The fracture faces are slightly decomposed and fractures occasionally are in-filled with non-cohesive sediment or weathered rock. Packer testing zones containing factures had a higher average hydraulic conductivity than bedrock without fracturing. The fracturing was most prevalent in the upper 5 to 10 feet of bedrock.

Ten (10) Packer tests were performed at various elevations within five (5) of the 12 boring locations (B14-36, 44, 55, 65, 76). The packer testing interval was determined in the field with the intent to obtain the most representative data possible for measuring the hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock. The goal of the packer tests was to perform repetitive tests that would yield reliable information on how much water the rock will conduct to serve as a basis for bedrock hydraulic conductivity. Calibration of the flow meter, gages, and head loss was conducted prior packer testing. All calibration was performed according to the standard methods in United State Bureau of Reclamation publication USBR 7310-89 (United States Bureau of Reclamation, 1989).

Packer testing readings were taken by Barr personnel in accordance with USBR 7310-89. A single or double packer was selected based on best fit with the characteristics of the borehole. All packer tests were performed at the same pressure increments of 15, 30, and 45 psi for 1-minute durations at each increment. For each pressure, once a consistent water loss was recorded for at least three (3) consecutive readings, the pressure was increased or decreased. A complete test cycle was of five-minute duration at pressure readings of 15, 30, 45, and back down to 30 and 15 psi.

Packer tests were performed in the bedrock at depths ranging from 14 to 50.5 feet below ground surface. The testing intervals were 4.5 to 8 feet in length. The packer test data was analyzed to determine the potential seepage through fractures. The selected hydraulic conductivity from each test was based on the lowest test result from the first three pressure increments to represent the in situ conditions.

There does not appear to be a relationship between packer depth and hydraulic conductivity or RQD. Hydraulic conductivity results were fairly consistent across the site with a slightly lower hydraulic conductivity in B14-36 on the west side of the site. Three of the locations tested indicated that the formation did not take any water at these locations. From the set of packer test results from the winter geotechnical exploration the geometric mean hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock at the site is 1.9×10^{-6} ft/s (5.8 x 10^{-5} cm/s). For reference, a hydraulic conductivity value of 3.3×10^{-9} ft/s (1.0×10^{-7} cm/s) is considered practically impervious. For packer test results where zero inflow is observed during testing; adjusting these values by incorporating the lowest test value into the calculation of the geomean yields a value of 6.3×10^{-7} ft/s (1.9×10^{-5} cm/s) as a measurement of potential leakage through bedrock joints or fractures. The prevalence of fractures often decreased with increasing core depth and as such the overall conductivity of the bedrock may also decrease with depth.

Table 1
Flotation Tailings Basin Seepage Containment System
SPT Borehole and Rotasonic Borehole Installation Summary

Borehole	Borehole	Piezometer	Packer	Depth to Weathered Bedrock	Depth to Competent Bedrock	Drilled (incl. Rock Coring)	Depth to Water ⁽²⁾
	Station	Installed	Testing	(feet)	(feet)	(feet)	(feet)
SPT Borings							
B14-36	19+54		х		13.5	26.5	0.0
B14-40	35+25				15.0	30.5	4.3
B14-44	55+48		х	31.5	36.5	46.0	2.0
B14-48	74+92			9.5	15.0	25.0	3.0
B14-52	96+85				47.0	65.8	4.0
B14-55	115+34		х	30.0	39.0	50.5	10.0
B14-62	152+53			17.0	>27.0	27.0	12.0
B14-65	162+85		х	20.5	22.0	37.0	0.0
B14-69	178+36			29.0	>34.0	34.0	0.0
B14-72	192+86				10.0	25.0	1.0
B14-76	213+12		х	25.0	27.0	42.5	0.0
B14-80	235+33				10.0	21.0	7.0
Rotasonic Bo	rings						
R14-02	7+15				7.5	11.0	
R14-04	22+07	х		12.0	13.0	15.0	6.0
R14-05	31+64			7.0	8.5	15.0	4.0
R14-06	40+50	х		17.0	17.5	20.0	11.0
R14-07	49+76				5.3	12.0	3.0
R14-08	58+50	х			21.0	24.0	10.0
R14-09	67+90			13.0	15.0	19.0	5.0
R14-10	76+99				2.0	10.0	
R14-10A	78+81				14.0	21.0	5.0
R14-11	85+72				10.0	16.0	4.0
R14-12	95+14	х			31.0	35.0	2.0
R14-13	103+85	х			39.0	45.0	5.0
R14-15	116+67	х			32.0	35.0	20.0
R14-16	124+31	х			25.5	30.0	16.0
R14-20	156+61				31.0	35.0	5.0
R14-24	186+08				5.5	14.0	-
R14-25	196+47				3.5	10.5	
R14-26	206+41	x			21.5	28.0	4.0
R14-27	216+26	x			26.0	30.0	10.0
R14-28	226+60	x			10.5	16.5	6.0
R14-29	232+26				29.0	34.0	5.0
R14-30	238+49				26.0	29.0	10.0

Notes:
 (1) Borehole station location is shown (<u>+</u> 25 feet). Actual station location may vary due to offsets.
 (2) Depth to water is at time of drilling.



- Rotasonic Location
- Rotasonic Location with a Piezometer
- Boring Locations
- Boring Locations with Packer
 - Wetlands



Figure 1 2014 ROTASONIC AND SPT GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION LOCATIONS NorthMet Project PolyMet Mining Inc. Hoyt Lakes, Minnesota

Attachment A

Rotasonic Logs

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Talophano: 052 832 3600		LC	CG	OF	BO	RING R14-02
Project Job No Locatic Coordin Datum	:: o.: on: nates: :	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 734,259.7 ft E 2,858,091.9 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1566 Sonic Rotos 11.0	.4 ft c soni	c Soil	Core	Sheet 1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1566.4 ft		Graphic Log	Samples	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD PENETRATION TEST DATA N in blows/ft © 10 20 30 40 REC% RQD % ◆ 20 40 60 80 SHEAR STRENGTH, tsf
1565 		Surace Elev.: T500.411 TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; with roots and leaves; top (564.9 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; t feet; moist; weathered granite fragments; some clay below 5 t 1558.9 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1555.4 ft Bottom of Boring at 11.0 feet	2.5 feet frozen. prown to gray at 4 feet; [Till]. 7.5ft 11.0ft			B 100 100 67		
Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (d By: Contr g:	Started: 3/11/14 7:45 am Completed: 3/11/14 8:35 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft)	Remarks: Weather:	30F, pa	artly c	loudy		

M:\GINT\PROJECTS\23690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435			L	OG	OF	BORIN	IG R14-0	04
BAI	R	Telephone: 952-832-2600							Sheet 1	of 1
Project: Job No. Location Coordir Datum:	n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 735,679.7 ft E 2,857,633.8 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation Drilling Method: Sampling Method Completion Depti	n: d: h:	154 Son Roto 15.0	5.4 ft ic osoni) ft	c Soil	Core		
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION		Graphic Log	Samples Sample No	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARE TEST DAT 10 20 REC% 20 40 SHEAR S	D PENETRATION A N in blows/ft ⊚ 30 40 20 % ← 0 60 80 CTRENGTH, tsf	INSTRUMENTATION
1545	-0	PEAT (PT): dark brown; moist; sapric; woody debris; top 1.5 f	eet						2,5	
1540	5 -	¬frozen. {543.9 ft LEAN CLAY (CL): moist; some sand; some sapric peat. 1539.9 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; wet; with clay and gravel; [Till].	1.5ft oarse 5.5ft		А В,	30 C 70				
- 1535 - - -	10	1535.9 ft POORLY GRADED GRAVEL (GM): medium grained; brown; some clay; [Till]. 1533.4 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; highly weathered to	moist; 9.5ft • 12.0ft 13 feet;			83				
Date Pe	15–	bittod:	/15.0ft							
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (By: Contra J:	Completed: 3/11/14 9:30 am Completed: 3/11/14 10:15 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	.0 I.1 Weath	irks: her: (30F.1	partly o	cloudy			

M:\GINT)PROJECTS\23690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

BAF	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600		LC)G (DF	BOI	RING	R14	-05	5 4
Project: Job No. Location Coordin Datum:	: n: ates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 736,606.1 ft E 2,857,437.1 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1539. Sonic Rotos 15.0 f	3 ft onic t	Soil	Core		Sneet	1 01	<u>r 1</u>
Elevation, feet	o Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1539.3 ft		Graphic Log	Samples Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDA TEST D 10 REC% 20 SHEA	RD PENE ATA N in 20 30 RQD % ◀ 40 60 R STREN 2,5	ETRATIO blows/ft <u>40</u> <u>40</u> <u>80</u> GTH, ts	ON ⊥◎ sf
0029.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPU BARR.IBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT		Surface Elev.: 1539.3 ft TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; roots; top 1.5 feet frozen. (537.8 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; b wet; weathered granite fragments throughout; changes to gray 1532.3 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; weathered to 8.5 feet rock below; [Bedrock]. 1524.3 ft Bottom of Boring at 15.0 feet	rown; moist to v at 3 feet; [Tilf]. .t, competent 7.0fl 15.0fl			67 86 54					
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling (Drill Rig	oring S oring C By: Contra :	actor: Started: Sompleted: Cascade CRS-17-C Started: SJ11/14 12:30 pm BJL2 BJL2 BJL2 Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft) Y At Time of Drilling 4 Estimated CRS-17-C	.0 Remarks: bedrock w in bedrock Weather:	A secor vas encou c at 13.5 30F, par	nd bori untere feet.	ng wa d at 8 udy	as offs feet a	et 8 feet s ind boring	southwes was ter	st when minate	re

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435				LC	G	OF	BORIN	G R14-0	06
Project Job No Locatio Coordin Datum:	RR .: n: nates:	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 737,489.5 ft E 2,857,364.4 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevat Drilling Method Sampling Meth Completion De	ion: : od: pth:	15 Sc Rc 20	526. onic otos).0 f	4 ft sonic	c Soil	Core	Sheet 1	of 1
Elevation, feet	o Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1526.4 ft		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD I TEST DATA 10 20 REC% RQI 20 40 SHEAR ST	PENETRATION N in blows/ft ⊚ 30 40 0 % € 60 80 RENGTH, tsf 2,5	⁶ INSTRUMENTATION
		SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist; top frozen; weathered granite fragments and cobbles; [Till]. 1518.9 ft Granite boulder from 6.5 to 7.5 feet. SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; gray; moist; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1515.4 ft 10-15 feet: cobble clogged barrel, poor recovery. SANDY SILT (ML): fine grained; gray; wet; with cobbles; [Till]. 1513.9 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): medium to coarse grained wet; [Till]. 1509.4 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; weathered granite to refet; [Bedrock]. 1506.4 ft Bottom of Boring at 20.0 feet	1.5 feet 7.5ft 11.0ft 12.5ft 17.0ft 17.5 20.0ft			A B C	92 80 50 100				
Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (By: Contr g:	Started: 3/11/14 3:00 pm Completed: 3/11/14 4:30 pm BJL2 BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C After Install	9 We	narks: ather:	30F	⁻ , pa	rtly c	loudy			

API ATE ò đ

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		L	00	GC) F	BO	ring	R1	4-07	,
BAI	κR	Telephone: 952-832-2600								Shee	et 1 o	of 1
Project: Job No. Location Coordin Datum:	n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 738,412.4 ft E 2,857,400.7 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1504 Soni Roto 12.0	4.9 c oso ft	ft nic \$	Soil	Core	!			
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1504.9 ft	form	Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %		ARD PEN DATA N ii 20 RQD % 40 R STRE	NETRAT n blows, 30 2 0 60 6 NGTH,	FION /ft ⊚ № tsf
- - - 1500- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	 5 10	SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; wet; [Till]. 1499.7 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock].	3.0f			A B	80 100 50					
1495		1492.9 ft	12.0f				75					
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (By: Contr J:	Started: 3/12/14 8:00 am Water Levels (ft) Completed: 3/12/14 10:00 am Jactor: Cascade Cascade CRS-17-C	Remarks: bedrock w terminated Weather:	A sec vas enc d in bec 0 to 20	ond our droc	bori itereo k at sunn	ng wa d at 7 11 fe y	as offs ' feet a et.	et ~8 fee and the b	t west v oring wa	vhere as	

MIGINTIPROJECTS)23690C29-13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435			L	_OG	OF	BORING	6 R14-0	08
Project Job No Locatio Coordir	RR	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 739,287.6 ft E 2,857,372.0 ft	Surface Elev Drilling Meth Sampling Met	vation: nod: ethod:	150 Soi Rot)2.8 ft nic cosoni	c Soil	Core	Sheet 1	of 1
Datum:		NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Completion	Depth:	24.	0 ft				
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No. % Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD PI TEST DATA N 10 20 REC% 20 40 SHEAR STR	ENETRATION 1 in blows/ft ⊚ 30 40 % ◆ 60 80 ENGTH, tsf	INSTRUMENTATION
	-0	PEAT (PT): dark brown; moist; top 2 feet frozen.						0 2	5	5 [X] [X]
1500- - - 1495-	- - - 5 - - -	1498.8 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist; tra [Till].	ce gravel; 4.0	Dft		A 40 B 80				
1490- 	- 10 - - - 15	1492.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT AND GRAVEL (SP-SM medium to coarse grained; brown; wet; with cobbles from 18 f [Till].	M): 10.0 to 21 feet;	Dft	Y	C 23	-			
1485-	-					100				
1480 – 1480 – 1480 – Date Bo	20	1481.8 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1478.8 ft Bottom of Boring at 24.0 feet	21.0 24.0	Oft / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /		33 83				
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (I By: Contra g:	Completed: 3/12/14 11:00 am Completed: 3/12/14 12:45 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft) Y At Time of Drilling 10 After Install 0	D.0 D.6 V	kemarks: Veather:	0 to :	20F, su	nny			

L L L U U API ATE ò đ C/-W

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		LC	C	OF	во	RING R14-09
Project Job No Locatio Coordin Datum:	: on: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 740,225.4 ft E 2,857,373.8 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1493 Sonic Rotos 19.0	.3 f c son ft	ic So	il Core	Sheet 1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1493.3 ft	· · · ·	Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD PENETRATION TEST DATA N in blows/ft ⊚ 10 20 30 40 REC%
3690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT		SILTY SAND (SM): medium grained; brown; moist to wet; trac cobbles below 5 feet; top 2 feet frozen; [Til]. 5-10 feet: poor recovery likely due to cobble in shoe. 1480.3 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; weathered granite fr [Bedrock]. 1474.3 ft Bottom of Boring at 19.0 feet	ce gravel; with rom 13 to 15 feet; 13.0f			A 10		
Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Riq	oring S oring C d By: Contra g:	Started: 3/12/14 2:30 pm Completed: 3/12/14 4:00 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft)	5.0 Remarks: Weather:	10 to 2	0F, :	sunny		

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		L	00	GC)F	BO	RING	6 R1	4-1()
Project Job No Locatic Coordin	: .: n: nates:	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 741,099.5 ft E 2,857,371.8 ft	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method:	1492 Soni Roto	2.8 ic isoi	ft nic \$	Soil	Core		Shee	et 1	of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1492.8 ft	Completion Depart.	Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANE TEST 10 REC% 20 SHE	ARD PEN DATA N in 20 RQD % 40 AR STRE	NETRA n blows 30 5 ♠ 60 NGTH,	TION /ft ⊚ ₄₀ tsf
	5 — 	TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; roots; top 2 feet frozen. 1492.6 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to media prown; moist; with weathered granite fragments; organic mate 1490.8 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1482.8 ft Bottom of Boring at 10.0 feet	Im grained; rial; [Till].	ft ft // / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /			100					
Date B Date B Loggeo Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (I By: Contr g:	Started: 3/13/14 10:00 am Completed: 3/13/14 11:30 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft)	Remarks bedrock ~10 feet at 1.5 fee Weather	: A sec was end east of t et. : 20 to 4	ond coun the f	bori itered first t	ng wa d at 3 poring rcast	as offs feet. g wher	et ~30 fe A third b e bedroo	eet south oring wa k was e	h wher as offs ncoun	re et tered

M/GINT/PROJECTS/23690C29:13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN GPJ BARRLIBRARY GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE. GDT

BÅ	PP	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		LO	G	OF	B	ORI	NG	R14-	-10/	Α
Project Job No Locatic Coordin Datum:	: .: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 741,279.3 ft E 2,857,400.1 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	149 Son Rote 21.0	3.0 ic oso) ft	ft nic :	Soil	Core		Shee	<u>st 1</u>	of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STAN TES 10 REC% 20 SH	DARD PEI DATA N i 20 RQD % 40 EAR STRE	NETRA n blow <u>30</u> 6 ♠ <u>60</u> ENGTH	ATION /s/ft @ 40]] I, tsf
	0 	TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; roots and organics; top 2 1 (492.5 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to media prown; moist; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. (490.5 ft BOULDER: mottled red, black, and white. (488.0 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c brown; wet; gray below 10 feet; with weathered granite fragment (479.0 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; drilling bit wore out- from 20 to 21 feet; [Bedrock]. (472.0 ft Bottom of Boring at 21.0 feet	eet frozen. 0.5 um grained; 2.5 soarse grained; ents; [Till]. no recovery 14.0 21.0	ift in the second secon		A	100 80 100 67 0					
Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (I By: Contra g:	Started: 3/18/14 11:30 am Completed: 3/18/14 12:15 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	5.0 Remarks Weather	s: " 20F, d	over	cast			<u> </u>			

M:\GINT\PROJECTS\23690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		L	00	GC) F	BO	RING R'	14-1 [,]	1
BA	RR	Telephone: 952-832-2600							She	et 1	of 1
Project Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	: .: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 741,794.5 ft E 2,857,729.4 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1483 Soni Roto 16.0	3.1 c oso ft	ft nic :	Soil	Core			
Elevation, feet	Oepth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1483.1 ft TOPSOIL (OL): dark browm: moist: organics with roots: top 1	5 feet frozen. / o 3f	Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD P TEST DATA N 10 20 REC% RQD 20 40 SHEAR STF	ENETRA J in blows <u>30</u> % ♠ <u>60</u> RENGTH,	TION s/ft ◎ 40 , tsf
1480 	 5 10 	(482.9 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist; 6-in 1.5 feet; [Till]. (479.1 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to mediu brown; wet; [Till]. 1474.1 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till (473.1 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock].	nch clay layer at 4.0ft um grained; oarse grained; 9.0ft 10.0ft			A B C	77 100 83				
	15 — 	1467.1 ft Bottom of Boring at 16.0 feet	16.0ft								
Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring (I By: Contra g:	Completed: 3/13/14 9:10 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	Weather:	20 to 4	40F	, ove	rcast				

M/GINT/PROJECTS/23690C29:13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN GPJ BARRLIBRARY GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE. GDT

BA	RP	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435				LC)G	OF	BORII	NG R	14-1	2
Project Job No Locatic Coordin Datum:	: on: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 742,311.8 ft E 2,858,500.4 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevat Drilling Methoo Sampling Meth Completion De	tion: d: nod: epth:	14 Se R 35	480. onic otos 5.0 f	3 ft sonic	c Soil	Core	Sh	eet 1	of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1480.3 ft		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDAR TEST DA 10 REC% F 20 SHEAR	D PENETR TA N in blov 20 30 RQD % ♠ 40 60 STRENGT	2ATION ws/ft ⊚ 40 80 H, tsf	INSTRUMENTATION
1475- 	0 	TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; with wood and leaf debris. (479.8 ft SILT (ML): brown; moist; with sand. (478.3 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to coarse gray to brown; wet; some weathered granite fragments to 13 fe	0.5ft 2.0ft e grained; eet; [Till].			А, В	100 40					
		1467.3 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine grained; gray; wet; [Till]. 1465.3 ft SILT (ML): gray; moist; with sand; little clay at 18 feet; [Till]. 1462.3 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; gray; wet; [Till].	13.0ft 15.0ft 18.0ft			C D	100 80					
1450	25	1451.3 ft POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SAND (GP); grav; wet; so	ome 29.0ft			E	92 50 90					
1450 — – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –	35-	_cobbles with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. (449.3 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1445.3 ft Bottom of Boring at 35.0 feet	/31.0ft 35.0ft				83					
13 POLYMEL LALINGS BASIN.GF												-
Date B Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (1 By: Contr g:	Started: 3/13/14 1:45 pm Completed: 3/13/14 3:30 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C ■ Water Levels (ft) ¥ At Time of Drilling 2 After Install -0	.0 .3 We	marks:	20	to 40)F, ov	vercas	t			

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435				LOO	g of	BORII	NG R1	4-1:	3
BA	κR	Telephone: 952-832-2600							She	et 1	of 1
Project Job No Locatio Coordin Datum:	: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 742,310.5 ft E 2,859,372.0 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevat Drilling Method Sampling Meth Completion De	tion: 1: nod: epth:	14 So Ro 45	89.1 onic otoso .0 ft	ft nic Soi	l Core			
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1489.1 ft TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; roots and organics; top 1.5	5 feet 0.3ft	Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDAR TEST DA' REC% F 20 SHEAR	20 PENETRA TA N in blows: 20 30 4 RQD % ♠ 40 60 8 STRENGTH,	FION /ft ◎ ⁴⁰ tsf	
232880C2813 POLYMELT TALINGS BASINGPU BARK IBKARY GLB BOKEHOLE LOG REPORT BARK TEMPLATE.GDT 1482 1482 1482 1482 1482 1482 1482 1485 1485 1482 1475 1472 1475 147	0 $ -$	Itel (OL): dark brown; moist; roots and organics; top 1.5 frozen. 1488.9 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to mediu grained; brown; moist; with granite fragments. 1486.6 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist; sor clay, and cobbles; [Till]. 1484.1 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; brown; wet; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1474.6 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; wet; [Till]. 1474.6 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; wet; [Till]. 1474.6 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; wet; [Till]. 1467.1 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine grained; gray; wet; with 3 to 6 inch sill sand layers from 30 to 34.5 feet; [Till]. 1454.6 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1454.6 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments 1454.6 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments 1444.1 ft Bottom of Boring at 45.0 feet	5 feet 0.3ft III 2.5ft 2.5ft 2.5ft 5.0ft 5.0ft 14.5ft 15.5ft III 15.5ft III 15.5f			A, B 8 C 10 D 8 F 6 G 2 10 10 5					
Date Be Date Be Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring C By: Contra g:	Started: 3/14/14 8:00 am Completed: 3/14/14 12:00 pm BJL2 BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C ✓	.0 .9 We	marks: ather:	20 t	o 30F,	overcas	st			

API ATE ò đ

BAI		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435				LC	G	OF	BORI	NG I	R14-	15
Project Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	: .: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 742,493.1 ft E 2,860,626.1 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Eleval Drilling Method Sampling Method Completion De	tion: d: nod: epth:	14 Se R 35	494. onic otos 5.0 f	8 ft onic t	: Soil	Core	S	heet	1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1494.8 ft		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDAF TEST DA 10 REC%	RD PENET TA N in b 20 30 RQD % ♠ 40 60 STRENG 2.5	FRATION lows/ft ⊚ 40 80 BTH, tsf	9 INSTRUMENTATION
	0 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Surface Elev.: 1494.8 ft TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; roots and sticks. (494.3 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to mediu grained; dark brown to brown; moist; with weathered grained moist to wet; with cobbles from 5 to 10 feet; with weathered gr fragments; [Till]. Saturated zone at 20 feet. 1465.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; brown to gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered grain fragments; [Till]. 1465.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c grained; brown to gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered grain fragments; [Till]. 1465.8 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1459.8 ft Bottom of Boring at 35.0 feet	0.5ft agments. 4.5ft d; brown; anite 0arse 29.0ft doarse 29.0ft 35.0ft			A B	83 40 80 100 80 100 75					
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (I By: Contr g:	Started: 3/14/14 1:30 pm Completed: 3/14/14 4:00 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Atter Install 6	.8 Rei	marks eather:	: 15	to 20)F, o\	/ercas	t			

4//GINT/PROJECTS/23690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.G

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435					LC)G	OF	BORI	NG F	R14- 1	6
Project Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	RR :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 742,916.4 ft E 2,861,262.2 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Ele Drilling Met Sampling M	evatior thod: Methoo n Depti	n: d: :h:	1: Se R 30	507. onic otos 0.0 1	6 ft ; sonic	c Soil	Core	Sł	neet 1	of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1507.6 ft	- ·		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDAR TEST DA 10 REC% 20 SHEAR	RD PENETI TA N in blc 20 30 RQD % \blacklozenge 40 60 STRENGT	RATION ws/ft ⊚ _40 	INSTRUMENTATION
- 1505 - - - - 1500 - - - - - -		TOPSOIL (OL): brown; moist; organics and leaf debris. (507.1 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; moist to wet; [Till]. Cobbles and granite fragments from 9 to 9.5 feet.	brown;).5ft		Y	A	100 100					
1495 - 	15					V		90 50					
1485— 	25	1483.1 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to medi grained; brown; wet; [Till], (482.1 ft GRANITE; red; highly weathered; poor recovery due to drillin water: [Bedrock].	um 24 25 g with	5ft 5.5ft		¥	В	100 100 13					
	30-	A477.6 ft Bottom of Boring at 30.0 feet	/30	0.0ft									
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring C I By: Contra g:	Started: 3/15/14 8:30 am Completed: 3/15/14 9:15 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	6.0 6.8	Rema	arks:	5 t	0.201						_

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600		LO	G C)F	BOF	RING	R14-	20
Project Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	: .: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 743,246.7 ft E 2,864,302.4 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1487.3 Sonic Rotoso 35.0 ft	ft nic S	Soil	Core		Sheet	1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1487.3 ft		Graphic Log Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDAF TEST DA 10 REC% F 20 SHEAR	D PENET TA N in blo 20 30 20 % ♠ 40 60 STRENG	RATION pws/ft © 40 80 TH, tsf
1485 1480 1475_		_PEAT (PT): dark brown; moist; sapric; woody debris; top 1.5 fo (486.3 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; b clay and cobbles; [Till].	eet frozen. / 1.0ft prown; moist; with		Α	100 100 100				
		1470.3 ft BOULDER: mottled red, black, and white. (469.3 ft CLAYEY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SC): fine to medium grained with cobbles; boulder from 17 to 18 feet; [Till]. 1463.3 ft	17.0ft /18.0ft ; brown; moist;		В	88 100 100				
1460	25	1460.3 ft POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SAND (GP): brown and g medium to coarse sand; [Till]. 1456.3 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; highly weathered; [B 1452.3 ft	ray; wet; 27.0ft edrock]. 31.0ft		С	67 100				
אנאאריומאזאנע איזאיאטערציאן אַרעראנאראניזענע	35-	Bottom of Boring at 35.0 feet	35.0ft							
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (I By: Contra g:	Started: 3/15/14 12:00 pm Completed: 3/15/14 4:00 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft)	.0 Remarks: Static wate Weather:	Artesian f er level wa 5 to 15F, s	flow c is ~34 sunny	of ~10 4-36⊺)-12 gr	om started above gro	at 31 fee und surf	ace.

ò đ C/-W

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		L	C	OF	BO	RING R1	4-24
Project Job No Locatic Coordin Datum	: on: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 743,227.5 ft E 2,867,188.8 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1491 Sonio Roto 14.0	.1 ft c sonic ft	: Soil	Core	She	et 1 of 1
Elevation, feet	O Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1491.1 ft TOPSOIL (OL): brown: moist: with roots and leaf debris		Graphic Log	Samples Sample No	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD PE TEST DATA N 10 20 REC% 20 40 SHEAR STR	NETRATION in blows/ft ⊚ 30 40 φ 60 BNGTH, tsf
1490- 		TOPSOIL (OL): brown; moist; with roots and leaf debris. (490.1 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; b some cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1485.6 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1477.1 ft Bottom of Boring at 14.0 feet	vrown; moist; 5.5ft 14.0ft			B 100 100 50 100			
Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (1 By: Contr g:	L Started: 3/16/14 8:30 am Completed: 3/16/14 11:30 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C Water Levels (ft) y At Time of Drilling Dry	Remarks: Weather:	-10 to	10F, s	unny	<u> </u>		

M:\GINT)PROJECTS\23890C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-3600		LC)G (OF	BOI	ring i	२14- :	25
Project Job No Locatic Coordi Datum	.: on: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 743,227.7 ft E 2,868,226.9 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1497. Sonic Rotos 10.5 1	2 ft sonic	Soil	Core	S	heet 1	1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1497.2 ft		Graphic Log	Samples Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARI TEST DAT 10 24 REC% R 20 44 SHEAR S	2 PENETI A N in blc 30 2D % ◆ 3 3 7 7 7 8 7 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 9 8 9	RATION pws/ft © 40 80 FH, tsf
- 1495 - - - 1490 - - -		BOULDER: mottled red, black, and white. 496.2 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL: fine to medium grained; brown weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 493.7 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1486.7 ft	; moist; with			57 88 56				
ECTS/23690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT 7 D 1 B	oring S	Bottom of Boring at 10.5 feet	Remarks:	t						
Date B Date B Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring C oring C d By: Contra g:	Actor: 5/16/14 12:00 pm Water Levels (ft) Completed: 3/16/14 1:40 pm BJL2 BJL2 BJL2 Dry	Weather:	10 to 20)F, sur	ny				

DA		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435					LC	G	OF	BORI	NG F	R14-2	6
Project Job No Locatio Coordi Datum	nates:	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investig 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 743,283.6 ft E 2,869,216.9 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	gation	Surface Eleva Drilling Metho Sampling Met Completion D	tion: d: hod: epth:	18 Se R 28	502. onic otos 3.0 f	5 ft onic	: Soil	Core	Sł	neet 1	of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRI	PTION		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDA TEST D/ 10 REC% 20 SHEAF	RD PENETI ATA N in blo 20 30 RQD % ♠ 40 60 R STRENGT	RATION bws/ft © 40 80 FH, tsf	INSTRUMENTATION
1500- 1495- 1495- 1490- 1485- 1480- 1480- 1480- 1480- 1475-		Surface Elev.: 1502.5 ft PEAT (PT): dark brown; frozen; wood and leaf of (501.5 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to med moist to wet; some cobbles; [Till]. 1481.0 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedra 1474.5 ft Bottom of Boring at 28.0 f	debris; top 1 for lium grained; b pck]. eet	ot frozen. rown; 21.5f			AB	60 100 100 100					
Date B Date B Loggeo Drilling Drill Ri	oring S oring C d By: Contra g:	Started: 3/16/14 2:00 pm Completed: 3/16/14 4:00 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C ↓ Water	Levels (ft) ne of Drilling 4. nstall 1.	0 6 We	marks:	15	to 20)F, sı	unny				

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435				LC	DG	OF	BORIN	IG R14	-27
Project Job No Locatio Coordin Datum:	: .: n: nates:	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 743,350.1 ft E 2,870,201.4 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Eleva Drilling Metho Sampling Met Completion D	ation: d: hod: epth:	1: S R 3(502 onic otos 0.0 1	.8 ft ; sonic ft	c Soil	Core	Sheet	1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1502.8 ft		Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD TEST DAT 10 20 REC% RC 20 40 SHEAR S	2 PENETRATIO A N in blows/ft (€ 30 40 20 % ♠ 60 80 	
1500 - - - 1495 - -	0 5 	¬PEAT (PT): dark brown; moist; with roots and sticks; frozen. {502.3 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to mediu grained; brown; moist to wet; with cobbles and weathered gran fragments; [Till].	um nite	t		А	80 100				
- - 1490- - - - 1485-	10 15 	Weight of barrel pushed sampler from 10 to 13 feet. 1487.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND (SP): medium grained; brown; wet cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till].	; with 15.0f	t	•	В	30 30				
	20- - - 25- -	1483.3 ft POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SILT (GP): gray; wet; with and weathered granite fragments; sand layer from 23-24 feet; 1477.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to media	h cobbles 19.5f [Till]. um <u>25.0f</u>			С	80 100				
		GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; fracture at 29.5 feet; [Bedrock]. (472.8 ft Bottom of Boring at 30.0 feet Started: 3/17/14 8:00 am Water Levels (ft)	26.0f	:marks			75				
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring (I By: Contr g:	Completed: 3/17/14 0:00 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	0.0 Re	eather:	20	F, ov	vercas	st, som	e wind		

M:\GINT)PROJECTS\23890C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis. MN 55435				LC	CG	OF	BOR	ING I	२ 14-:	28
Project Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	RR .: n: nates:	Telephone: 952-832-2600 Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 742,651.3 ft E 2,870,734.5 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevat Drilling Method Sampling Method Completion De	ion: I: nod: epth:	1 S R 1	509 onic totos 6.5	.5 ft soni	c Soil	Core	S	heet 1	1 of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1509.5 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to media	Jum	Graphic Log	Samples	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STAND/ TEST E 10 REC% 20 SHEA	ARD PENET ATA N in bi 20 30 RQD % ♠ 40 60 R STRENG 2,5	RATION ows/ft © 40 80 TH, tsf	© 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
		1499.0 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1493.0 ft Bottom of Boring at 16.5 feet	um Igments; 10.5ft 16.5ft			A	80 100 100					
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring (oring (By: Contr g:	Started: 3/17/14 1:00 pm Completed: 3/17/14 2:00 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	8.0 4.3 We	narks: ather:	20	 F, o\	verca	st			<u>+++</u>	

M:\GINT\PROJECTS\23690C29.13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB BOREHOLE LOG REPORT BARR TEMPLATE.GDT

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Tolophone: 052 832 3600		LO	GC)F∣	BOF	RING R14-2	9
Project Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	: .: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 742,084.4 ft E 2,870,713.4 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1521.5 Sonic Rotoso <u>3</u> 4.0 ft	5 ft onic S	Soil	Core	Sheet 1	of 1
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1521.5 ft		Graphic Log Samoles	Sample No.	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDARD PENETR TEST DATA N in blow 10 20 30 REC% 20 40 60 SHEAR STRENGTH	ATION vs/ft © 40 80 1, tsf
1520 1510 1515 1510 1510 1500 1500 1495 1495 1490 1500 1495 1495 1490 1500 1500	-0 	Surface Elev.: 1521.5 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; t cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1515.5 ft BOULDER: mottled red, black, and white. [513.5 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; t cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1502.0 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till 1492.5 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; fracture at 33 feet; [1487.5 ft Bottom of Boring at 34.0 feet	brown; moist; with 6.0 brown; wet; with 8.0 boarse grained; 19.5 Bedrock]. 29.0 34.0	ft ft ft ft ft ft	В	40 80 70 80 100 75 87			
Date Be Date Be Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring (I By: Contra g:	Started: 3/17/14 3:00 pm Completed: 3/17/14 5:00 pm BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	5.0 Remarks Weather	: 20F, ove	rcast				

API ATE ò đ
		Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435		L	OG	OF	BO	RING	R14-	-30	
BA	RR	Telephone: 952-832-2600						S	Sheet	1 of	1
Project: Job No Locatio Coordir Datum:	: n: nates:	Winter 2013/2014 Rotasonic Investigation 23690C29.13 Hoyt Lakes, MN N 741,461.2 ft E 2,870,719.3 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Surface Elevation: Drilling Method: Sampling Method: Completion Depth:	1529 Sonie Roto 29.0).2 ft c sonic ft	: Soil	Core	9			
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION Surface Elev.: 1529.2 ft		Graphic Log	Samples Sample No	% Recovery	SPT, N value or RQD %	STANDAF TEST DA 10 REC% F 20 SHEAR	D PENET TA N in bl 20 30 20 30 20 % ◆ 40 60 STRENG 2,5	FRATION lows/ft ⊚ 40 80 €TH, tsf	5
_	_0	¬BOULDER: gray.	0.5	t Zill							
- - 1525- - - -	- - 5 -	(528.7 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium grai brown; moist; trace weathered granite fragments; [Till]. -1524.2 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to c brown; moist to wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragm	ned; reddish oarse grained; nents increasing	ft	¥ F	73 3 40					
1520	- - - - - -	with depth; [Till].	\mathbf{N}			50					
1515— — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	15- - - - 20-	Pushed a rock from 15 to 20 feet.				0					
- - - 1505- -		1503.2 ft			Ŭ.	80					
	-	GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; fractured bedrock; n during drilling; [Bedrock]. 1500.2 ft Bottom of Boring at 29.0 feet	o water return 26.0	rt / , / , / ft	• •	83					
Date Bo Date Bo Logged Drilling Drill Rig	oring S oring C By: Contra 3:	Started: 3/18/14 8:15 am Completed: 3/18/14 10:40 am BJL2 actor: Cascade CRS-17-C	.0 Remarks Weather:	20F, o	vercas	st					

Attachment B

Piezometer Logs

BA	Barr E 4700 V Minne Telep	Engineerir West 77tl apolis, M	ng Company h St. Suite 20 N 55435	0			LOG OF	F PIEZOMETER	R14-04
Droiset				Lessti				Client: DeluMet	Sheet 1 of 1
Barr Pr	ciect Number:	23600C20	eters 	Locatio	on: Hoy	tion:	1545 A ft	Top of Casing Elevation:	1547 7
DEST PEAT (brown; woody f feet froz 1543.9 LEAN (moist; s some s 1539.9 POORL SAND (SP-SM coarse with cla TTill]. 1533.4 POORL GRAVE medium brown; (SP-SM clay; [T 1533.4 POORL SAND Clay; [T 1533.4 Botto	STRATA SCRIPTION PT): dark moist; sapric; debris; top 1.5 zen. ft CLAY (CL): some sand; apric peat. ft _Y GRADED WITH SILT A): medium to grained; wet; aprice peat. ft _Y GRADED EL (GM): n grained; wet; aprice peat. ft _Y GRADED EL (GM): n grained; moist; some ill]. ft TE; mottled ick, and white; weathered to 13 impetent k below; ck]. ft m of Boring at 15.0 feet		PIEZOMETER DETAILS	Sunac [₩] [₩] ⁴ ^{10.0} ^{10.0} ^{13.0} ^{15.0}	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	Tister Tister	PIEZOMETER STANI PROTECTIVE CAS Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5 - 4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-5 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-2 SEAL Type: Bentonite Interval: 2-4 SANDPACK Type: Silica Sar Interval: 4-13 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continuot Interval: 5-10	CONSTRUCTION FOR DPIPE PIEZOMET SING Chips ad us 0.01" slotted PVC	N DETAILS ER
Completion Date S Date C Logged Drilling Drilling Datum Coordin	etion Depth: tarted: ompleted: d By: Contractor: Method: : NAD83 nates: N 735,6	B Minnesota 79.7 ft E 2	15.0 ft 3/11/14 3/11/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane ,857,633.8	FILTER BENTO CEME CUTTI	D R PACH DNITE NT GRO NGS / I	I OUT BACKFIL	TPC TOP OF PROTECT TRC TOP OF RISER CA BPC BASE PROTECTIV GS GROUND SURFAC BS BENTONITE SEAL FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC BOTTOM OF SCR L TD TOTAL DEPTH	TIVE CASING ASING VE CASING CE CE EEN	R LEVELS(ft) Drilling 6.0 1.1

Б

BARR Minne	apolis	s, M	N 55435 2-832-2600						
		ອບ							Sheet 1 of
Project: Winter 2013/20)14 Pie	zome	eters	Locatio	on: Hoy	/t Lakes,	MN	Client: PolyMet	
Barr Project Number:	2369	0C29	.13	Surfac	e Eleva	tion:	1526.4 ft	Top of Casing Elevation:	1528.7
STRATA DESCRIPTION	DEPTH, ft	SYMBOL	PIEZOMETEI DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETER STAN	R CONSTRUCTIC FOR DPIPE PIEZOME	N DETAILS TER
				- <u>2.5</u> -2.3	TPC TRC	1528.9 1528.7	PROTECTIVE CA Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel	SING	
SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist; top 1.5 feet frozen; weathered granite fragments and cobbles; [Till].	0			2.0		1524.4	RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-12		
1518.9 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; gray; moist; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1515.4 ft	10 - - - 15 -		¥	10.0	BS	1516.4	GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-2 SEAL	e Chins	
SANDY SILT (ML): fine grained; gray; wet with cobbles; [Till]. 1513.9 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): medium to coarse	20			17.0 18.0 20.0	BSC TD	1509.4 1508.4 1506.4	Interval: 2-10 SANDPACK Type: Silica Sa Interval: 10-18	nd	
grained; gray; wet; [Till]. 1509.4 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; weathered granite to 17.5 feet; [Bedrock]. 1506.4 ft Bottom of Boring at 20.0 feet							SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continuo Interval: 12-17	ous 0.01" slotted PVC	
							Remarks:		
Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Coordinates: N 737,4	3 Minne 89.5 ft	sota S E 2,	20.0 ft 3/11/14 3/11/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane 857,364.4		D R PACH DNITE NT GRO	C OUT BACKFIL	TPC TOP OF PROTEC TRC TOP OF RISER C BPC BASE PROTECTI GS GROUND SURFA BS BENTONITE SEA FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC BOTTOM OF SCF L TD TOTAL DEPTH	CTIVE CASING ASING VE CASING CE L ⊈ After Inst REEN	ER LEVELS(ft) of Drilling 11.0 all 6.9

Γ.

BARR Telepl	hone: 95	2-832-2600								Sheet 1 o
Project: Winter 2013/20)14 Piezom	eters	Locatio	on: Hov	/t Lakes.	MN		Client: Polv	Met	Uncet I U
Barr Project Number:	23690C29	9.13	Surfac	e Eleva	tion:	1502.8 ft		Top of Casir	g Elevation:	1505.0
STRATA	DEPTH, ft SYMBOL	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZ	OMETER STANI	CONST FOF DPIPE PI	RUCTION R EZOMET	I DETAILS ER
PEAT (PT): dark prown; moist; top 2 ieet frozen. 1498.8 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist; irace gravel; [Till]. 1492.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT AND GRAVEL (SP-SM): medium to coarse grained; brown; wet; with cobbles from 18 to 21 feet; [Till]. 1481.8 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 1478.8 ft Bottom of Boring at 24.0 feet	0 5 10 15 20 7 7		-2.5 -2.2 0.0 4.0 13.0 20.5 \21.0 24.0	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	ш 1505.3 1505.0 1502.8 1498.8 1498.8 1489.8 1489.8 1482.3 1481.8/ 1478.8	PROTE Diameter: Type: Interval: RISER (Diameter: Type: Interval: SEAL Type: Interval: SANDP, Type: Interval: SANDP, Type: Interval: SCREE Diameter: Type: Interval:	CTIVE CAS 6 inches Steel -2.5-4.5 CASING 2 inches PVC -2.2-15.5 Cement 0-4 Bentonite 4-13 ACK Silica San 13-21 N 2 inches Continuou 15.5-20.5	Chips d us 0.01" slo	otted PVC	
Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Coordinates: N 739,2	Minnesota 87.6 ft E 2	24.0 ft 3/12/14 3/12/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane .857,372.0	GEN FILTER BENTO CEME CUTTI	D D DNITE NT GRO NGS / E	L CUT BACKFILI	TPC TC TRC TC BPC BA GS GF BS BE FP FII TSC TC BSC BC _ TD TC	DP OF PROTECT DP OF RISER CA SE PROTECTIV ROUND SURFAC INTONITE SEAL TER PACK DP OF SCREEN DTTOM OF SCRE DTAL DEPTH	ive casing Sing E casing E	✓ At Time of I ✓ Atfer Install	R LEVELS(ft) Drilling 10.0 0.6

Б

Project: Winter 2013/20)14 Pie	ezome	eters	Locatio	on: Hoy	t Lakes,	MN	Client: PolyMet	
Barr Project Number:	2369	0C29	.13	Surfac	e Eleva	tion:	1480.3 ft	Top of Casing Elevation:	1482.6
STRATA	DEPTH, ft	SYMBOL	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETE	R CONSTRUCTIC FOR IDPIPE PIEZOME	ON DETAILS
TOPSOIL (OL): dark prown; moist; with wood and leaf debris. 1479.8 ft SILT (ML): brown; moist; with sand. 1478.3 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to coarse grained; gray to prown; wet; some weathered granite rragments to 13 feet; Till]. 1467.3 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine grained; gray; wet; Till]. 1465.3 ft SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; gray; wet; Till]. 1451.3 ft POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SAND (GP): gray; wet; some cobbles with weathered granite rragments; [Till]. 1449.3 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; Bedrock]. 1445.3 ft Bottom of Boring at 35.0 feet	$ \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ - \\ 5 \\ - \\ 10 \\ - \\ 20 \\ - \\ 30 \\ - \\ 35 \\ - \\ 35 \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ -$			-2.5 -2.3 0.0 4.0 13.5 20.0 21.0 21.0 35.0	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	ш <u>1482.8</u> <u>1482.6</u> <u>1480.3</u> 1476.3 <u>1466.8</u> <u>1460.3</u> <u>1460.3</u> <u>1459.3</u> <u>1459.3</u> <u>1445.3</u>	PROTECTIVE CA Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-15 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-4 SEAL Type: Bentonir Interval: 4-13.5 SANDPACK Type: Silica Sa Interval: 13.5-21 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continue Interval: 15-20	SING	
Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Coordinates: N 742,3	3 Minne 11.8 ft	sota S E 2,	35.0 ft 3/13/14 3/13/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane 858,500.4	GENI FILTEF BENTC CEMEI CUTTI	D R PACK DNITE NT GRO NGS / E	C DUT BACKFIL	TPC TOP OF PROTE TRC TOP OF RISER (BPC BASE PROTECT GS GROUND SURF, BS BENTONITE SE/ FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREE BSC BOTTOM OF SC L TD TOTAL DEPTH	CTIVE CASING CASING IVE CASING ACE AL N REEN	ER LEVELS(ft of Drilling 2.0 all -0.3

Γ.

Project: Winter 2013/2	014 Piezom	eters	Locatio	on: Hoy	/t Lakes,	MN	Client: PolyMet	
Barr Project Number:	23690C29	9.13	Surfac	e Eleva	tion:	1489.1 ft	Top of Casing Elevation	n: 1491.4
STRATA	DEPTH, ft SYMBOL	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETEF	R CONSTRUCTIO FOR DPIPE PIEZOME	ON DETAILS
OPSOIL (OL): dark prown; moist; roots and organics; top 1.5 eet frozen. 488.9 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT SP-SM): fine to nedium grained; prown; moist; with grainet fragments. 486.6 ft SILTY SAND (SM): ine to medium grained; brown; moist; come gravel, clay, and cobbles; [Till]. 484.1 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT SP-SM): medium to coarse grained; brown; wet; with weathered pranite fragments; Till]. 474.6 ft SILTY SAND (SM): ine to medium grained; brown; wet; Till]. 473.6 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT SP-SM): fine to nedium grained; prown to gray; wet; weathered granite ragments; [Till]. 467.1 ft SILTY SAND (SM): ine grained; gray; wet; weathered granite ragments; [Till]. 454.6 ft POORLY GRADED	$ \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 5 \\ - \\ 10 \\ - \\ 20 \\ - \\ 25 \\ - \\ 30 \\ - \\ - \\ 35 \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ -$		-2.5 -2.3 0.0 4.0 28.0 28.0 35.0 36.0 45.0	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	1491.6 1491.4 1489.1 1485.1 1485.1 1461.1 1461.1 1453.1 1453.1	PROTECTIVE CAS Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-30 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-4 SEAL Type: Bentonit Interval: 4-28 SANDPACK Type: Silica Sa Interval: 28-36 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continuc Interval: 30-35	SING e Chips nd bus 0.01" slotted PVC	2
SAND WITH SILT SP-SM): medium to Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Coordinates: N 742,3	3 Minnesota 310.5 ft E 2	45.0 ft 3/14/14 3/14/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane ,859,372.0	GEN FILTEF BENTC CEME CUTTI	D R PACK DNITE NT GRO NGS / E	C OUT BACKFIL	TPC TOP OF PROTEC TRC TOP OF RISER C BPC BASE PROTECTI GS GROUND SURFA BS BENTONITE SEA FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC BOTTOM OF SCF L TD TOTAL DEPTH	TIVE CASING ASING VE CASING CE L REEN	TER LEVELS(ft e of Drilling 5.0 stall 1.9

BARR Minneapolis, MN 5543 Telephone: 952-832-	5 2600			Obset 0 st
Project: Winter 2013/2014 Piezometers		as MN	Client: PolyMet	Sheet 2 of
Barr Project Number: 23600C20 13	Surface Elevation	1489 1 ft	Top of Casing Elevation	1491 4
				ד.ועדו.
	AILS	PIEZOMET	ER CONSTRUCTIC FOR NDPIPE PIEZOME	ON DETAILS TER
coarse grained; gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; brown below 37 feet; [Till]. 1450.1 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; Bedrock]. 1444.1 ft Bottom of Boring at 45.0 feet		PROTECTIVE C Diameter: 6 inche Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.4 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inche Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-30 GROUT Type: Cemer Interval: 0-4 SEAL Type: Benton Interval: 4-28 SANDPACK Type: Silica 3 Interval: 28-36 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inche Type: Contin Interval: 30-35	CASING es 5 es 0 nt nite Chips Sand es huous 0.01" slotted PVC	
Completion Depth: 45.0 Date Started: 3/14/1 Date Completed: 3/14/1 Logged By: BJL Drilling Contractor: Cascad Drilling Method: Son Datum: NAD83 Minnesota State Plar Coordinates: N 742,310.5 ft E 2,859,372	ft LEGEND 4 2 FILTER PACK BENTONITE CEMENT GROUT 0 ft CUTTINGS / BACK	TPC TOP OF PRO TRC TOP OF RISE BPC BASE PROTE GS GROUND SUF BS BENTONITE S FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCR BSC BOTTOM OF FILL TD TOTAL DEPTI	TECTIVE CASING R CASING CTIVE CASING RFACE SEAL EEN SCREEN H	er LEVELS(ft) of Drilling 5.0 all 1.9

	Barr Eng 4700 We	ineerir est 77th	ng Company n St. Suite 20	0			LOG OF	PIEZOMETER R14-15
	BARR Minneapo Telephor	ne: 95	N 55435 2-832-2600					Sheet 1 of 1
	Project: Winter 2013/2014	Piezom	eters	Locatio	on: Hoy	/t Lakes, I	MN	Client: PolyMet
	Barr Project Number: 23	3690C29	9.13	Surfac	e Eleva	tion:	1494.8 ft	Top of Casing Elevation: 1497.1
	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOL	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETER STANI	CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR DPIPE PIEZOMETER
13 POLYMET TAILINGS BASIN GPJ BARRLIBRARY GLB INSTRUMENT LOG REPORT BARR GEOTECH TEMPLATE.GDT	TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; roots and sticks. 0 1494.3 ft 5 POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to medium grained; dark brown to brown; moist; towet with cobres grained; brown; moist to wet; with cobbles from 5 to 10 feet; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 10 SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): medium to coarse grained; brown; moist to wet; with cobbles from 5 to 10 feet; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 20 1465.8 ft 20 POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): medium to coarse grained; brown to gray; wet; with cobles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 30 35 GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 35 Bottom of Boring at 35.0 feet 35			-2.5 -2.3 0.0 4.0 24.0 31.0 35.0	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	1497.3 1497.1 1494.8 1490.8 1490.8 1463.8 1463.3 1463.3 1459.8	PROTECTIVE CAS Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-26 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-4 SEAL Type: Bentonite Interval: 4-24 SANDPACK Type: Silica San Interval: 24-31.5 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continuou Interval: 26-31	ING Chips d us 0.01" slotted PVC
CONTINENCIECTS/23690C29.1	Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Mir Coordinates: N 742,493.	nnesota (1 ft E 2,	35.0 ft 3/14/14 3/14/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane 860,626.1	GENI FILTEF BENTC CEMEI CUTTI	D R PACK DNITE NT GRO NGS / E	C OUT BACKFILI	TPC TOP OF PROTECT TRC TOP OF RISER CA BPC BASE PROTECTIV GS GROUND SURFAC BS BENTONITE SEAL FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC BOTTOM OF SCRE TD TOTAL DEPTH	IVE CASING WATER LEVELS(ft) SING After Install E CASING After Install EEN E

Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 20 Minneapolis, MN 55435	DO LOG OF	PIEZOMETER R14-16
BARR Telephone: 952-832-2600		Sheet 1 of 1
Project: Winter 2013/2014 Piezometers	Location: Hoyt Lakes, MN	Client: PolyMet
Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13	Surface Elevation: 1507.6 ft	Top of Casing Elevation: 1509.9
STRATA PIEZOMETER DESCRIPTION H H H H H H H H H H H H H	R H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR PIPE PIEZOMETER
TOPSOIL (OL): brown moist; organics and leaf debris. 1507.1 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist to wet; [Till].	-2.5TPC1510.1PROTECTIVE CAS-2.3TRC1509.9Diameter:6 inches0.0GS1507.6Type:Steel4.01503.6RISER CASINGDiameter:2 inches4.01503.6Diameter:2 inches4.01503.6GROUTType:PVCInterval:-2.3-20GROUTType:CementInterval:0-4SEALType:Bentonite	Chips
20 1483.1 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to medium grained; brown; wet; [Till]. 1482.1 ft GRANITE; red; highly weathered; poor recovery due to drilling with water; [Bedrock]. 1477.6 ft Bottom of Boring at 30.0 feet	18.0 BS 1489.6 18.0 BS 1489.6 25.0 BSC 1482.6 26.0 TD 1481.6 30.0 1477.6 SCREEN Diameter: 10 1477.6 Remarks: Remarks:	d is 0.01" slotted PVC
Completion Depth: 30.0 ft Date Started: 3/15/14 Date Completed: 3/15/14 Logged By: BJL2 Drilling Contractor: Cascade Drilling Method: Sonic Datum: NAD83 Minnesota State Plane Coordinates: N 742,916.4 ft E 2,861,262.2	FILTER PACK TPC BENTONITE TOP OF PROTECT TRC FILTER PACK BPC GS GROUND SURFACE BS BENTONITE SEAL FP CEMENT GROUT TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC CUTTINGS / BACKFILL TD TOTAL DEPTH	WATER LEVELS(ft) SING CASING CASING ✓ At Time of Drilling 16.0 ✓ After Install 16.8

1

The stratification lines represent approximate boundaries. The transition may be gradual.

Γ.

Barr Engineeri 4700 West 77t Minneapolis, M	ng Company h St. Suite 20 IN 55435	0			LOG OF	PIEZOMETER R14-26
BARR Telephone: 95	2-832-2600					Sheet 1 of 1
Project: Winter 2013/2014 Piezom	eters	Locatior	n: Hoy	t Lakes, I	MN	Client: PolyMet
Barr Project Number: 23690C2	9.13	Surface	Elevat	tion:	1502.5 ft	Top of Casing Elevation: 1504.8
STRATA DESCRIPTION Understand Unde	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETER STANI	CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR DPIPE PIEZOMETER
PEAT (PT): dark brown; frozen; wood and leaf debris; top 1 foot frozen. 1501.5 ft SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist to wet; some cobbles; [Till]. 15 1481.0 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; [Bedrock]. 25 1474.5 ft Bottom of Boring at 28.0 feet		-2.5 -2.3 0.0 4.0 13.0 20.0 21.0 28.0	BS BS TD	1505.0 1504.8 1502.5 1498.5 1489.5 1489.5 1481.5 1481.5	PROTECTIVE CAS Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-15 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-4 SEAL Type: Bentonite Interval: 4-13 SANDPACK Type: Silica San Interval: 13-21 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continuou Interval: 15-20	e Chips nd us 0.01" slotted PVC
Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Minnesota Coordinates: N 743,283.6 ft E 2	28.0 ft 3/16/14 3/16/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane 8669,216.9 ft	GENE FILTER BENTO CEMEN CUTTIN) PACK NITE IT GRC IGS / E	DUT BACKFILI	TPC TOP OF PROTECT TRC TOP OF RISER CA BPC BASE PROTECTIV GS GROUND SURFAC BS BENTONITE SEAL FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC BOTTOM OF SCRI _ TD TOTAL DEPTH	TVE CASING SING E CASING WATER LEVELS(ft)

Barr E 4700	Engineerii West 77t	ng Company h St. Suite 20	00			LOG OI	F PIEZOMETER	R14-27
BARR Telep	hone: 95	2-832-2600						Sheet 1 of 1
Project: Winter 2013/2	014 Piezom	eters	Locatio	on: Hoy	rt Lakes,	MN	Client: PolyMet	
Barr Project Number:	23690C2	9.13	Surfac	e Eleva	tion:	1502.8 ft	Top of Casing Elevation:	1505.1
STRATA DESCRIPTION	DEPTH, ft SYMBOL	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETEF STAN	R CONSTRUCTION FOR DPIPE PIEZOMET	I DETAILS ER
PEAT (PT): dark brown; moist; with roots and sticks; frozen. 1502.3 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to medium grained; brown; moist to wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1487.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND (SP): medium grained; brown; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; [Till]. 1483.3 ft POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SILT (GP): gray; wet; with cobbles and weathered granite fragments; sand layer from 23-24 feet; [Till]. 1477.8 ft POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): fine to medium grained; gray wet; [Till]. 1476.8 ft GRANITE; mottled red, black, and white; fracture at 29.5 feet; [Bedrock]. 1472.8 ft Bottom of Boring at 30.0 feet	0 5 10 10 15 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		-2.5 -2.3 0.0 4.0 18.0 25.0 26.0 30.0	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	1505.3 1505.1 1502.8 1498.8 1498.8 1498.8 1477.8 1477.8 1477.8 1472.8	PROTECTIVE CAS Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-20 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-4 SEAL Type: Bentonite Interval: 4-18 SANDPACK Type: Silica Sat Interval: 18-26 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continuo Interval: 20-25	ESING e Chips and aus 0.01" slotted PVC	
Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD8: Coordinates: N 743,3	3 Minnesota 350.1 ft E 2	30.0 ft 3/17/14 3/17/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane ,870,201.4 ft	GEN FILTER BENTO CEME CUTTI	D R PACK DNITE NT GRO NGS / E	C DUT BACKFIL	TPC TOP OF PROTEC TRC TOP OF RISER C, BPC BASE PROTECTI GS GROUND SURFA BS BENTONITE SEAI FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREEN BSC BOTTOM OF SCR L TD TOTAL DEPTH	TIVE CASING ASING VE CASING CE - X After Install REEN	R LEVELS(ft) Drilling 10.0 1.7

l elep	hone:	95	2-832-2600						Sheet 1 c
Project: Winter 2013/20	014 Pie	zom	eters	Locatio	on: Hoy	/t Lakes,	MN	Client: PolyMet	
Barr Project Number:	2369	0C29	0.13	Surface	e Eleva	tion:	1509.5 ft	Top of Casing Elevation:	1511.8
STRATA	DEPTH, ft	SYMBOL	PIEZOMETER DETAILS	DEPTH, ft		ELEVATION, ft	PIEZOMETE	R CONSTRUCTIO FOR NDPIPE PIEZOME	N DETAILS
POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT SP-SM): fine to nedium grained; prown; moist; with sobbles and veathered granite ragments; top 1 foot rozen; [Till]. 1499.0 ft BRANITE; mottled ed, black, and white; Bedrock]. 1493.0 ft Bottom of Boring at 16.5 feet				-2.5 -2.3 0.0 4.0 4.0 10.0 10.5	TPC TRC GS BS BSC TD	1512.0 1511.8 1509.5 1507.5 1505.5 1499.0/ 1499.0/	PROTECTIVE CA Diameter: 6 inches Type: Steel Interval: -2.5-4.5 RISER CASING Diameter: 2 inches Type: PVC Interval: -2.3-5 GROUT Type: Cement Interval: 0-2 SEAL Type: Bentoni Interval: 2-4 SANDPACK Type: Silica Sa Interval: 4-10.5 SCREEN Diameter: 2 inches Type: Continu Interval: 5-10	ASING te Chips and sous 0.01" slotted PVC	
Completion Depth: Date Started: Date Completed: Logged By: Drilling Contractor: Drilling Method: Datum: NAD83 Coordinates: N 742,6	3 Minne 551.3 ft	sota s	16.5 ft LE 3/17/14 3/17/14 BJL2 Cascade Sonic State Plane 870,734.5	FILTEF BENTC CEMEN CUTTIN	D NITE NT GRO	C OUT BACKFILI	TPC TOP OF PROTE TRC TOP OF RISER BPC BASE PROTECT GS GROUND SURF BS BENTONITE SE FP FILTER PACK TSC TOP OF SCREE BSC BOTTOM OF SC _ TD TOTAL DEPTH	CTIVE CASING CASING IVE CASING ACE AL N REEN	F R LEVELS(f f Drilling 6.0 all 4.3

Б

Attachment C

SPT Logs

Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 LOG OF BORING B14-36 Minneapolis, MN 55435 BARR Telephone: 952-832-2600 Sheet 1 of 1 Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation Hovt Lakes, MN Client: PolyMet Location: Project: 23690C29.13 Barr Project Number: **Physical Properties** Rec. WATER Elevation, feet STANDARD PENETRATION SIEVE Graphic Log Depth, feet Sample Type & CONTENT TEST DATA ANALYSIS MATERIAL DESCRIPTION (ASTM D2488) ø Gs RQD WC γ Q_{u} Q_{p} GRAVEL SAND SILT CLAY PL LL 0 % % pcf tsf tsf N in blows/ft FINES 1554.7 ft Surface Elev.: 10 20 30 40 20 40 60 20 40 60 80 FINE TAILINGS (ML): fine grained; black and gray metallic: saturated. @€ X 1550-5 <u>22</u> 1547.7 SILTY SAND (SM): fine to coarse grained; gray; 7.0 >>_____50/3" 11 saturated; with weathered granite fragments; [Till]. >>@60/2 ! 1545-10 \boxtimes 51 1541.2 >>\$0/6" 13.5 GRANITE; mottled black, red and white; massive; 1540-15 77 strong to very strong; slightly decomposed; slightly to moderately fractured; horizontal and 60 degree fractures; mostly healed; trace green inclusions 1535-48 20 throughout: [Bedrock]. 100 1530-25 1528.2 26.5 Bottom of Boring at 26.5 feet 30 35 40 45 50 55 Completion Depth: 26.5 Remarks: Modified location to avoid wetlands. 6 1/4" ID augers. Due to sealing difficulty, Date Boring Started: 5/8/14 samples 1&2 are from the first hole, 3&4 are from the second hole and 4B&5 are from the final hole. Packer performed from 14-18.5 feet and 20.5-26.5 feet. Date Boring Completed: 5/13/14 Logged By: GFS SAMPLE TYPES WATER LEVELS (ft) LEGEND Drilling Contractor: Braun Intertec At Time of Drilling 0.0 Q. Unconfined Compression MC Moisture Content Split Spoon Rock Core Drilling Method: HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Q_n Hand Penetrometer UC Dry Unit Weight Ground Surface Elevation: 1554.7 Friction Angle Gs Specific Gravity N 735,479.9 ft E 2,857,818.0 ft Coordinates: ¢. Datum: NAD83 Minnesota State Plane RQD Rock Quality Designation

The stratification lines represent approximate boundaries. The transition may be gradual.

HORIZON

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600							L	og of	BORI	NG E	314-4	0		She	eet 1	lof	1	
Proje	ct:	Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation	Location:	Hoyt	t La	kes, MN				Clie	nt: PolyN	/let				One			-	
		Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13		_	ec.										Phy	rsica	l Pro	pert	ies	
CH TEMPLATE.GDT Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTI (ASTM D2488)	ON	Graphic Log	Sample Type & R	STANDAR TE N	D PENET EST DATA in blows/fl	RATION	WATH CONTH %	ER ENT LL	GRAVEL SAN		CLAY IES	wc %	γ pcf	ф °	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs I	RQD %
1530 1525 1520 1520	0	Surface Elev.: 1534.0 Tt 1533.3TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; large b to 3 feet) interbedded. SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium graine very moist to saturated; with weathered gra fragments throughout increasing with dept	oulders (2 0.8 d; gray; anite h; [Till].			10 2	20 30 ©28	40 () () () () () () () () () ()	20 40	60		0 60	80 • 78	8	125	47				
1515 1515 1510 1510 1510	20 - 25 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 3	GRANITE; mottled black and white with re strong to very strong; slightly decomposed moderately fractured; 30 to 60 degrees fra moderately healed; 2-foot vertical fracture sample from 22 to 24 feet; 6 inch red quar zone at 18 feet; 6 inch green zone at 28 fe [Bedrock].	d; massive; 15.0 ; slightly to ctures; through tz-rich et;																	68 47 92
1.13 POLYMET SOW12 PART 2 SPT.GPJ BARR	35 40 45 50	Bottom of Boring at 30.5 feet	30.5																	
Comple Date Bo Date Bo	tion Dept oring Star oring Con	h: 30.5 ted: 5/15/14 npleted: 5/16/14	Remarks: Modified lo feet.	cation	to av	void wetlan	ds. 6 1/4'	ID augers.	Started muc	d rotary at 1	1.5									
Logged Drilling Drilling Ground Coordin Datum:	By: Contracto Method: Surface ates:	GFS Braun Intertec HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Elevation: 1534.0 N 736,963.9 ft E 2,857,381.9 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	SAMPLE	TYPE covery	ES R	ock Core	T At Ti	WATER me of Drilling	LEVELS (1 4.3	ft)	MC Moist γ Dry L φ Fricti	ure Conte Init Weigh on Angle	LE Int It	EGE (((R	ND Q _u U Q _p H GsS QDR	nconfi and P pecific	ined C Penetro c Grav	ompre meter ity Desig	ssion UC	 ו

	BAI	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600					LOG	OF	BORI	NG	B14-4	14		She	eet_	1 of	1
	Project	: \	Ninter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation	Location:	Hoy	t La	kes, MN		Clie	nt: Poly	Met							
Т	feet	et	Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13		bo	& Rec.	STANDARD PENETRATION	WATER			SIEVE			Phy	/sica	I Pro	oper	ties
H TEMPLATE.GD	Elevation,	Depth, fe	MATERIAL DESCRIPTION (ASTM D2488)		Graphic L	sample Type	TEST DATA N in blows/ft	PL X	LL –	GRAVEL SA			WC %	γ pcf	ф 。	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs
DTECH		7-0-	Surface Elev.: 1502.9 ft			0)	10 20 30 40	20 40 6)	20	40 <u>60</u>	80						
ARR GEC	1500	 	1502.7PEAT (PT): dark brown; moist; cattail roots and woo 1501.9nclusions; stripped during clearing; top 2 feet frozer FINE TAILINGS (ML): black: wet: appears to be	d / 0.3 1.0	3	Ř	◎3 ● > 0											
PORT BA	1495	5 -	1494. Smell; frozen.		D													
AL LOG REI	1490	10 -	with black streaks; wet; soft; [magnetite tailings]. 1487. COARSE TAILINGS (SP-SM): fine to coarse graine table brown; saturated; very loose; heavy.	d;														
HORIZONT	1485	20 -	FINE TAILINGS (ML): very fine to fine grained; dark gray; saturated; very loose; heavy; liquefiable behavior.										7					
RARY.GLB	1480 1475	25 -	1478, SILTY SAND (SM): fine to coarse grained; grayish brown; wet; with weathered granite fragments; interspersed with cobbles (1-2 inches); [Till]. BOUI DER: mottled black red, and white: strong:	24.0			>>@ ⁹	24 199, ¹⁶⁷ - 1 ²⁴		2			10					

Gs RQD

%

≤ .		1485	Juark Drown, Saturateu, very 100se, rieavy.	155 \\X = ∅< -↓									
Z 1485-	_ :	1.00	FINE TAILINGS (ML): very fine to fine gra	ined; dark / 17 0	+								
			gray; saturated; very loose; heavy; liquefia	ble / William /	37		1		26	84	-		
ЧO Ч	_ 20 :	1481	behavior.		₩.	-1 ~					· ·		
T 1/180-	- :	1470	GILTY SAND (SM): fine to coarse grained	$\frac{21.0}{21.0}$									
	·	14/9	brown: wet: with weathered granite fragme	ante:									76
≻	25	1 \	interspersed with cobbles (1-2 inches):			1-							
⊻ ≪ 1475		$+$ \	Interspersed with cobbles (1-2 inches), [1			>>=====================================	24		2	80	10		
2 1475- 0	- :	1 1	BOULDER; mottled black, red, and white;	strong;		•• ~ I			•• <mark>•••••</mark> •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••				
L .	30	1471	slightly decomposed; moderately fractured	; fractures		>>50/2"							
		<u></u> .	occur at 60 degree angles; some fully hea	led 31.5									
ല് 1470-	- :	1 \	locations.										33
2	35 -	$+$ \setminus	SILTY GRAVEL (GM): fine to coarse grain	ned: gravish /							1		
⊢		- '	brown; wet; with sand; trace clay; interspe	rsed with									
ਸ਼ੂ 1465-		1	cobbles (1-2 inches); green and yellow sta	ining;									
N	40	-	copper-colored inclusions; [Till].								-		77
L L	- :	1	GRANITE: mottled black red and white:										
월 1460-		1	strong to very strong: slightly decomposed	· slightly to									92
. 12	45	1456	moderately fractured: first 5 feet is weather	ared and									02
SO] .		becomes increasingly competent with den	th: color 46.0									
S Г		-	transition occurs at 40 feet where rock be										
S	50	-	slightly stronger: [Bedrock]										
Z		1	Dettem of Dering at 46.0 feet										
DO			Bollom of Boring at 46.0 reet										
<u></u>	55	-											
Complet	tion Den	th [.]	46.0	Pomarka: 4 1/2" ID augore Started mud re	tany at 20 foot	Coro porf	formod in	offect hold	at:				
O Date Bo	ring Star	ted.	3/28/14	N=738077 63ft E=2857368 8ft Packer tee	ting performer	1 at 33_//2	feet and	12-16 foot	5 al .				
	ring Stat	anlatadi	4/2/14	N=730977.0311, L=2037300.011, Facker les	ung periormet	1 al 55-42		42-40 1001.					
		ipielea.	4/3/14										
	By:		KNA	SAMPLE TYPES	WA	TER LE	VELS (f	t)		L	EGEND		
) Drilling	Contract	or:	Braun Intertec		At Time of	Drilling	2.0		MC Moisture	Content	0 1	Inconfined C	ompression
Orilling N	Method:		HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring	Split Spoon Shelby Tube Rock Core	<u> </u>	5							
Ground	Surface	Elevatio	n: 1502.9		24 hrs Afte	r Drilling	0.0		γ Dry Unit	vveignt	Q _p F	and Penetro	meter UC
∠ Coordina	ates:		N 738,984.5 ft E 2,857,382.8 ft		-				• Friction	Angle	Gs S	Specific Gravi	ty
Datum:			NAD83 Minnesota State Plane								RQD F	Rock Quality I	Designation

I	BA	RR	Barr E 4700 V Minnea Teleph	ngineering Company Vest 77th St. Suite 200 apolis, MN 55435 none: 952-832-2600								L	og (of Bo	ORIN	G B14-	48		She	oot 1	l of	1	
	Projec	t: V	Winter 20	13/2014 SPT Investigation	Location:	Hoy	t La	kes, MI	١				C	Client:	PolyMe	t			One			<u> </u>	
			Barr Proje	ect Number: 23690C29.13		_	5											Phy	sica	l Pro	pert	lies	
CH TEMPLATE.GDT	Elevation, feet	Depth, feet		MATERIAL DESCRIPTI (ASTM D2488)	ON	Graphic Log	Sample Type & Re	STANDA	RD PEN TEST DA N in blow	ETRATION TA s/ft	N PL	WATI CONTI %	ER ENT	GRA L	SIE ANAL	SILT CLAY	WC %	γ pcf	ф °	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs I	RQD %
RR GEOTE	1490	0	Surface E 1491.6TOP3 1489.8nclus	SOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; wood a sions; some clay; trace sand and grav	and root 0.3 rel. 2.0			10 0 \ \	20 3	0 40		20 40	0 60	2	20 40	60 80							
BREPORT BA	1485 	5 10	1484 8wet to 1482 [Till]. SILT to sa	Y SAND (SM): fine to need an graned; Y SAND (SM): fine to coarse grained; turated; very loose to medium dense;	d gravel; gray; wet trace roots			&4 `⊚11			×	-		6 <mark>5</mark>		80 	16						
ZONTAL LOG	1475	15	SILT wet;	clay; subangular; [Till]. Y GRAVEL (GM): fine to coarse grain very dense; little sand; trace clay; [Till] NITE: mottled black and white with re	ed; gray;].												_						15 72
KY.GLB HORI	1470 	20 25	stron mode 1466.8feet; incre	g to very strong; slightly decomposed erately fractured; vertical fracture from gray sediment in fractures; becomes asingly competent with depth; gold-cc	s slightly to 12.5 to 14												_						88
.GPJ BARRLIBRAF		30 35	\ <u>inclu</u>	sions; [Bedrock]. Bottom of Boring at 25.0 feet																			
0W12 PART 2 SPT		40 45																					
.13 POLYMET SC		50 -																					
S\23690C29	Completio Date Bori Date Bori	on Dept ng Star ng Con	th: rted: npleted:	25.0 5/19/14 5/20/14	Remarks: Modified lo feet.	cation	to av	void wetla	nds. 6 1	/4" ID aug	gers. Sta	arted muc	d rotary a	at 10									
	Logged B Drilling C Drilling M Ground S Coordinat Datum:	sy: ontracto lethod: surface tes:	or: Elevation:	KNA Braun Intertec HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring 1491.8 N 740,886.7 ft E 2,857,452.1 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	SAMPLE	TYPI Core	ES		<u>V</u> A	WAT t Time of Dr 5 hrs After I	ER LE illing Drilling	VELS (1 3.0 2.5	ft)	ΜC γ φ	Moisture Dry Unit Friction	e Content Weight Angle	LEGE	ND Q _u U Q _p H GsS QDR	nconfi and P pecific	ined C enetro c Grav uality	Compro ometer ity Desig	ession r UC nation	1

Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 LOG OF BORING B14-52 Minneapolis, MN 55435 BARR Telephone: 952-832-2600 Sheet 1 of 2 Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation Hovt Lakes, MN Client: PolyMet Project: Location: 23690C29.13 Barr Project Number: **Physical Properties** Rec. WATER Elevation, feet STANDARD PENETRATION SIEVE Graphic Log Depth, feet Sample Type & CONTENT TEST DATA ANALYSIS MATERIAL DESCRIPTION (ASTM D2488) ø Gs RQD WC γ Q_{u} Q_{p} GRAVEL SAND SILT CLAY PL LL 0 % % pcf tsf tsf N in blows/ft FINES 1486.0 ft Surface Elev .: 10 20 30 40 20 40 60 20 40 60 80 0 <u>, NJ</u> 1485-1484.0TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; interbedded with large (2') boulders at surface. _____9 2.0 1480.0 CLAYEY SAND (SC): fine to coarse grained; dark 5 1480tan; moist to saturated; with 2-inch diameter gravel. 6.0 OG REPOR SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; tan; 10 saturated; small to medium gravel (weathered, 18 ိုးလိုးရှိ 1475 rounded): silt content decreases with depth: gravel content increases with depth. 10 15 1469.5 1470-BOULDER: gravish black; crushed granite. 16.5 HORIZON 50/2.5 20 1465-1462.0 SILT (ML): gray; saturated; little to no inclusions from 24.0 25 1460-26-35 feet; trace sand from 35-38 feet. 20 30 18 20 BARRL ©15 1455-22 GPJ 35 ____2 1450-1448.0 SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; gray; 38.0 saturated; [Till]. 40 629 19 1445-100 1442. GRANITE; Strong; no fractures until bottom of 42.5 45 sample; green marbel zone at bottom 6 inches. 44.0 100 1440 1439 GRANITE; highly weathered granite. 47.0 50 1435-86 55 Continued Next Page Completion Depth: 65.8 Remarks: 6 1/4" ID augers. Started mud rotary at 20 feet. Date Boring Started: 5/5/14 Date Boring Completed: 5/7/14 Logged By: GFS SAMPLE TYPES WATER LEVELS (ft) LEGEND Drilling Contractor: Braun Intertec At Time of Drilling 4.0 Q. Unconfined Compression MC Moisture Content Split Spoon Rock Core Drilling Method: HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Q_n Hand Penetrometer UC Dry Unit Weight Ground Surface Elevation: 1486.0 Friction Angle Gs Specific Gravity N 742,396.5 ft E 2,858,667.8 ft Coordinates: φ Datum: NAD83 Minnesota State Plane RQD Rock Quality Designation

B	BAF	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600							LOG	GOF	BORING	6 B14-	52		01			0	
P	roject	: V	Vinter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation	Locat	tion: Hoy	/t La	akes, MN				Client:	PolyMet				Sne	et 2	2 01	2	
	đ		Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13			Rec.				WATER					Phy	/sica	l Prc	perti	ies	
TECH TEMPLATE.GDT	Elevation, tee	ן Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPT (ASTM D2488)	ION	Graphic Log	Sample Type &	STANDAR TE N 10 2	n blows/ft	PL 20	CONTENT %		GRAVEL SAND	FINES	wc %	γ pcf	ф °	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs F	RQD %
PORT BARR GEO	30	60	GRANITE; mottled red and white with blac very strong; slightly decomposed; slightly moderately fractured; fractures at horizont degree angles; moderately healed; black/o healed joints; 6 inch quartz-rich zones; [Be 1420 (Continued)	k; massive; to al and 65 xidized on edrock].										_						84 90 75
13 POLYMET SOW12 PART 2 SPT.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB HORIZONTAL LOG RE		 70 75 80 85 90 95 100 105 110 	Bottom of Boring at 65.8 feet		65.8															
Dat CTS/23690C3	te Borin te Borin gged By	g Starte g Comp r: ntractor	c 5/5/14 pleted: 5/7/14 GFS c Braup Interfec	SAI	4 ID augers	ES	intea mua ro	WA	TER LEVE	ELS (ft)			l	EGE	ND					
	ling Me bund Su ordinate tum:	ifface E es:	HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Elevation: 1486.0 N 742,396.5 ft E 2,858,667.8 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Split Spoon	Rock Core			⊥ At Time of D	Drilling 4.0			MC Moisture γ Dry Unit \ φ Friction A	Content Veight ngle	F	Q _u U Q _p H GsS <u>QDR</u>	nconfi and Pa pecific lock Q	ined C enetro c Grav tuality	ompre ometer ity Desigr	UC Nation	

BA	RR	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600					L	og of	BORI	NG B'	14-55		She	eet 1	of	1	
Projec	t: \	Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation	Location:	Hoyt	Lakes, MN			Clie	ent: PolyN	let							
		Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13										Phy	ysica	l Prop	perti	ies	
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTIC (ASTM D2488)	N	Graphic Log	STANDAR STANDAR TE	D PENETRATION ST DATA	PL	ER ENT			CLAY WC	γ pcf	¢ °	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs	RQD %
	0 -	Surface Elev.: 1494.8 ft	small	1.11/2 . 1	10 2	n blows/π 0 30 40	20 40	0 60	20 40	0 <u>60</u> 6	30		<u> </u>				
1490	5 -	shrubs and grass. SILTY SAND (SM): fine to coarse grained; b	rown;		∑												
	10	gravel up to 1 inch in diameter; round to ang increasing sand content with depth; [Till].	vitn ular;				×		0.8 <mark></mark>	64 5	12						
1480	15 -	1476 0															
1475 	20 -	SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): medium 1472 @coarse grained; gray; moist to wet; medium of 4472 drace day: slightly copesive: 1/2-inch diamet	to 18.0 dense;		X .	~ _{©27}	12_14 >H		15 	72	10						
1470	25	Weathered granite fragments; [Till]. BOULDER: molted red with black and white;	crushed 23.5			>	61										
1465	30 -	1464.85ILTY GRAVEL (GM): fine to coarse grained saturated; very dense; green and orange oxid staining: seams of weathered granite: [Till]	t; gray; dation 30.0		0	> >	_{>@} 50/3"										
1460	35 -	GRANITE; mottled red with black and white; very strong; slightly decomposed; slightly to moderately fractured; fractures at 45 to 80 c	massive;			>	>@ ^{100/10"}										33
1455 <u>-</u> 	40 -	angles; moderately hactures, in actures at 45 to 60 to fractured faces and healed locations; green ; 42.5 feet: [Bedrock]	zone at														63
1450	45																85
1445-	50 -	1444.3 Bottom of Boring at 50.5 feet	50.5	<u></u>													91
Completi	55 – on Dept	n: 50.5	Remarks: 6 1/4" ID au	iders S	Started mud ro	arv at 20 feet. P	Packer performer	d from 37-4	15								
Date Bori	ng Start	ed: 4/28/14	feet, 41.5-46.5 feet, an	id 46-5	0.5 feet.			2 . O O									
Logged B	ng Com By:	KNA	SAMPLE -	TYPE	S	WAT	FRIEVELS	ft)			LEGE						
Drilling C Drilling M Ground S Coordinat Datum:	ontracto lethod: Surface E tes:	r: Braun Intertec HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Elevation: 1494.8 N 742,451.6 ft E 2,860,494.0 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Split Spoon O No Rec	covery	Rock Core	At Time of Dri	lling 10.0	,	MC Moiste γ Dry U φ Frictio	ure Content nit Weight on Angle		Q ₁ L Q _p H Gs S	Jnconfi land P Specific	ned Co enetror Gravit	mpre neter ty Design	uC	

WIGINTPROJECTS/23690229.13 POLYMET SOW12 PART 2 SPT.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB HORIZONTAL LOG REPORT BARR GEOTECH TEMPLATE.GD1

Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 LOG OF BORING B14-62 Minneapolis, MN 55435 BARR Telephone: 952-832-2600 Sheet 1 of 1 Client: PolyMet Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation Hoyt Lakes, MN Location: Project: 23690C29.13 Barr Project Number: **Physical Properties** Rec. WATER Elevation, feet STANDARD PENETRATION SIEVE Graphic Log Depth, feet Sample Type & CONTENT ANALYSIS TEST DATA MATERIAL DESCRIPTION (ASTM D2488) ø Q_{p} Gs RQD WC γ Q_{u} GRAVEL SAND SILT CLAY PL LL 0 % % pcf tsf tsf N in blows/ft FINES 1493.3 ft Surface Elev .: 10 20 30 40 20 40 60 20 40 60 80 0 1493, TOPSOIL (OL): dark brown; moist; root inclusions; 0.3 1491.3some sand. 2.0 _23 1490-X 125 8 38 SILTY SAND (SM): fine to medium grained; orangish 5 \vee 624 brown; saturated; some clay; cohesive. 1485-SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): medium to >>_____57 coarse grained; brownish gray to gray; moist to wet; 10 >>__71 X trace clay; slightly cohesive; trace black inclusions; 1480 weathered granite fragments up to 1-inch in diameter; subangular; [Till]. 15 >>@50/4 HORIZONTAL M GRANITE; highly weathered bedrock; appears to be 17.0 1475 53 silty gravel with up to 1-foot boulders throughout; 20 cobbles in 2-inch diameter in various colors; 13 GLB [Bedrock]. 1470-25 1466.3 0 Bottom of Boring at 27.0 feet 27.0 30 35 40 45 50 55 Completion Depth: 27.0 Remarks: 6 1/4" ID augers. Mud rotary started at 10 feet. Date Boring Started: 4/21/14 Date Boring Completed: 4/28/14 Logged By: KNA SAMPLE TYPES WATER LEVELS (ft) LEGEND Drilling Contractor: Braun Intertec At Time of Drilling 12.0 Q. Unconfined Compression MC Moisture Content Split Spoon Rock Core Drilling Method: HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Q_n Hand Penetrometer UC Dry Unit Weight Ground Surface Elevation: 1493.3 Friction Angle Gs Specific Gravity N 743,327.3 ft E 2,863,894.1 ft Coordinates: ¢. Datum: NAD83 Minnesota State Plane RQD Rock Quality Designation

The stratification lines represent approximate boundaries. The transition may be gradual.

OG REPORT

Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 LOG OF BORING B14-65 Minneapolis, MN 55435 BARR Telephone: 952-832-2600 Sheet 1 of 1 Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation Hovt Lakes, MN Client: PolyMet Project: Location: 23690C29.13 Barr Project Number: **Physical Properties** Rec. WATER Elevation, feet STANDARD PENETRATION SIEVE Graphic Log Depth, feet Sample Type & CONTENT TEST DATA ANALYSIS MATERIAL DESCRIPTION (ASTM D2488) ø Gs RQD WC γ Q_{u} Q_n GRAVEL SAND SILT CLAY PL LL 0 % % pcf tsf tsf N in blows/ft FINES 1487.2 ft Surface Elev .: 10 20 30 40 20 40 60 20 40 60 80 1487.0TOPSOIL (ML): gray; saturated; silt; very fine; 0.3 1485smears; top 2 feet frozen [magnetite tailings]. ີ 2 PEAT (PT): dark brown; saturated; very soft; cattail 5 1111111 496 1480 200ts and wood inclusions; top 4.5 feet frozen. 496 1480 1 foot of gray magnetite tailings at 5 feet. 7.0 ORGANIC SILT (OH): dark brown; saturated; very 10 1475.2 soft; wood inclusions. 73 1475 1470 SILTY SAND (SM): medium to coarse grained; gray; 1474. 12.0 15 13.0 15 wet; some gravel and organics; [Till]. X 15.0 1470 POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT (SP-SM): 1466 medium to coarse grained; orangish brown; wet: 20 loose; subangular to angular; trace clay; [Till]. 20.5 1465-SILTY SAND (SM): medium to coarse grained; gray; saturated; medium dense; with weathered granite 86 25 fragments; [Till] BARRLIBRARY 1460-GRANITE; red mottled with black and white; massive; 80 strong to very strong; slightly decomposed; slightly to 30 moderately fractured; fractures are at 0, 45, or 60 1455degree angles: appears to previously have been 51 highly fractured but is now fully healed with green 35 1450.2 sediment; [Bedrock]. 37.0 Bottom of Boring at 37.0 feet 40 45 50 55 Completion Depth: 37.0 Remarks: 6 1/4" ID augers. Hit refusal at 10 feet, offset 10 feet East and blind-drilled to 10 Date Boring Started: 4/16/14 feet. Started mud rotary at 15 feet. Packer performed from 24-30 feet and 27.5-33.5 feet. Date Boring Completed: 4/17/14 Logged By: KNA SAMPLE TYPES WATER LEVELS (ft) LEGEND Drilling Contractor: Braun Intertec T At Time of Drilling 0.0 MC Moisture Content Q. Unconfined Compression Undisturbed 3-inch Drilling Method: HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Split Spoon Shelby Tube Sample Dry Unit Weight Q_n Hand Penetrometer UC Ground Surface Elevation: 1487.2 Friction Angle Gs Specific Gravity N 743,316.0 ft E 2,864,926.5 ft Coordinates: ¢. Rock Core

RQD Rock Quality Designation

The stratification lines represent approximate boundaries. The transition may be gradual.

NAD83 Minnesota State Plane

HORIZONTAI

Datum:

BA	R	Barr Er 4700 V Minnea Teleph	ngineering Company Vest 77th St. Suite 200 apolis, MN 55435 ione: 952-832-2600						LOG O	F BORING	6 B14-(69		She	et 1	of	1
Proje	ct:	Winter 20 [°]	13/2014 SPT Investigation	Location:	Hoyt L	_akes, MN			Cli	ient: PolyMet							<u> </u>
		Barr Proje	ect Number: 23690C29.13		_								Phy	sical	Prop	oertie	es
CH TEMPLATE.GDT Elevation, feet	Depth. feet	Surface E	MATERIAL DESCRIPTI (ASTM D2488)	ON	Graphic Log		D PENETRATIC EST DATA in blows/ft		VATER DNTENT % LL	SIEV ANALY GRAVEL SAND	E SIS SILT CLAY FINES	WC %	γ pcf	ф °	Q _u (Q _p (3s RQE
ORT BARR GEOTE 1480-	5	PEAT wood top 1	Γ (PT): dark brown; saturated; very so interspersed throughout increasing w .5 feet frozen.	ft; sapric; ⁄ith depth;				20	40 60	20 40 102029 413	60 80	413	13			1	.7
1475- 200171 1470- 1470-	10	5 	silt (magnetite tailings) at 17.5 feet.		>					39287 4 616 590		616 590					
1465- 1460- 1460-	20	1463. f ¹⁴ 1462.6SILT coars 1/2-ir [Till].	Y SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): mediu se grained; dark brown; wet; medium of hch cobbles and weathered granite fra Y GRAVEL (GM): gray; very dense; 1	im to 20.0 dense; gments; 22.5 inch				→>⊕ ⁶¹ ₩ 14 18 ₩ × H >>⊕ ⁵⁷		<u>ه ان معرة</u>	93	12					
SOW12 PART 2 SPT.GPJ BARRUE		y weath [Till]. 1451. 'GRA degre of 2-i	nered granite fragments; some gray cl NITE; mottled red and black with white e fracture at 29-30 feet; most of core nch cobbles; [Highly Weathered Bedr Bottom of Boring at 34.0 feet	e; 60 consisted 34.0								-					20
90C29.13 POLYMET Section 2002 Section 2002 S	50 55 tion De oring St	5	34.0 4/7/14	Remarks: 4 1/2" ID au outside of the augers a	ugers. W	Vith the auger	s at 24 feet, ar	tesian flow sta	arted around te	sh was							
Date Bo	oring Co By:	ompleted:	4/8/14 KNA/GFS	1-foot above ground s SAMPLE	urface ir	n the augers. S	WA		S (ft)	-	I	EGF	ND				
Drilling Drilling Ground Coordin Datum:	Contra Methoo Surfac ates:	ictor: d: e Elevation:	Braun Intertec HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring 1485.1 N 743,207.5 ft E 2,866,416.5 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	3-inch Shelby Tube Split S	poon	Rock Core	$ \underline{\underline{V}} \text{End of Drilli} \\ \underline{\underline{V}} \text{At Time of I} $	ing -1.0 Drilling 0.0	(**/	MC Moisture (γ Dry Unit V φ Friction A	Content Veight ngle	(((R	Q _u Ur Q _p Ha Gs Sp QD Ro	nconfii and Pe becific bck Qu	ned Co enetrom Gravity uality D	mpres neter l / esigna	sion JC ation

BAF	R	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600							LO	g of	BOR	ing i	B14-7	2		She	et 1	of	1	
Project:	V	Vinter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation	Location:	Hoyt I	Lakes	s, MN				Clie	ent: Poly	Met								
	-	Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13		-	с.										Phy	sical	Pro	pert	ies	
Elevation, feet	Depth, feet	MATERIAL DESCRIPTIO (ASTM D2488) Surface Elev.: 1493.0 ft	N	Graphic Log	Sample Type & Re	ANDARD F TEST N in t 10 20	PENETRA DATA Dolows/ft 30	ATION 40		2 IT LL 60	GRAVEL S	SIEVE NALYSIS	CLAY NES 80	WC %	γ pcf	¢ °	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs	RQD %
1490 1485 1480 1475 1470	0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55	 1492. #PEAT (PT): dark grown; moist; frozen; saprand wood inclusions. 1488. SILT (ML): gray; wet; medium dense to den frozen; roots and wood inclusions; seams o sand; [Tailings]. 1483. SILTY SAND WITH GRAVEL (SM): fine to grained; brown; wet; medium dense to very 1/8 - 1 inch weathered granite fragments; [TGRANITE; dark red mottled with black and massive; strong to very strong; slightly decomoderately fractured becoming more comp depth; highly fractured at 17.5, 20-22, and 2 feet; healed throughout; 60 degree fractures green and brown in-filling; [Bedrock]. Bottom of Boring at 25.0 feet 	ic; roots 0.5 se; f coarse 5.0 coarse 10.0 fill]. white; mposed; etent with 23-23.5 s from 21 fractures; 25.0					38	50/5"					9						63 50 56
Completion Date Boring Date Boring	Depth Starte Comp	: 25.0 ed: 4/4/14 pleted: 4/7/14	Remarks: 4 1/2" ID a feet.	ugers. T	ried De	enison sar	nple at 7.	.5 feet.	Started mud rota	ary at 7.5	5									
Logged By: Drilling Con Drilling Met Ground Sur Coordinates Datum:	tractor hod: face E	KNA Braun Intertec HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring levation: 1493.0 N 743,232.9 ft E 2,867,866.5 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	SAMPLE	TYPE:	S	<u> </u>	At Time	VATE of Drillin	R LEVELS (ft) g 1.0		MC Moi γ Dry φ Fric	sture Conto Unit Weig tion Angle	LI ent ht	EGE (((R	ND Q _u Ur Q _p Ha Gs Sp QD Re	nconfir and Pe pecific ock Qi	ned Co enetro : Gravi uality	ompre meter ity Desig	≥ssior • UC natior	 າ

M//GINT/PROJECTS/23690229.13 POLYMET SOW12 PART 2 SPT.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB HORIZONTAL LOG REPORT BARR GEOTECH TEMPLATE.GDT

BA	RF	Barr Engineering Company 4700 West 77th St. Suite 200 Minneapolis, MN 55435 Telephone: 952-832-2600		LOG	OF BORING B14-7	6 Sheet 1 of 1	
Proje	ct:	Winter 2013/2014 SPT Investigation	Location: Hoyt Lakes, MN		Client: PolyMet		
feet	iet	Barr Project Number: 23690C29.13	ୁ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ ଅନ୍ମ	D PENETRATION WATER CONTENT	SIEVE	Physical Properties	s
Elevation,	Depth, fe	MATERIAL DESCRIPTIC (ASTM D2488)	z Sample Type	in blows/ft	LL GRAVEL SAND SILT CLAY	WC γ ϕ Q_u Q_p Gs % pcf ° tsf tsf	s RQD %
0 	¥ 0	Surface Elev.: 1501.2 It 	ts; trace 1.0 10 2	20 30 40 20 40 60	20 40 60 80 36399911		
1495	5	PEAT (PT): dark brown; saturated; very soft; some silt and clay; trace sand and <1-inch g	sapric; ravel.		445 445	445	
בארי אין פין ס	10	 1491.2 SILTY SAND (SM): gray; saturated; loose to dense; trace clay; sand and gravel amount ir 	medium 10.0	18			
1485 1485	15	 with depth; gravel <1 inch to 4 inches in diar [Till]. 	neter;	×		9 122 45	
780년 1480 ⁻ 위	20			۵ <u>24</u>			
1475	25	1470.2 1474.26ILTY GRAVEL (GM): gray and red; saturat weathered granite fragments; [Till].	ed; with 25.0 27.0	>>@ ⁹⁰			53
1470 MY	- 30	 GRANITE; red mottled with black and white; strong to very strong; slightly decomposed; moderately fractured decreasing with depth; decreasing fractured decreasing with depth; 	massive; 60 to 80				87
1465 1465	- 35	but is now fully healed; green and brown in-f [Bedrock].	illing;				53
1460 1460	- 40 - 45	1458.7 Bottom of Boring at 42.5 feet	42.5				63
	50 55						
Date B	tion Dep oring Sta	42.5 arted: 4/9/14 mpletad: 4/11/14	Remarks: 4 1/2" ID augers. Started mud ro	tary at 13 feet.			
	By:	GFS	SAMPLE TYPES	WATER LEVELS (ft)	LE	EGEND	
Drilling Drilling Ground Coordir Datum:	Contract Method: Surface ates:	tor: Braun Intertec HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring Elevation: 1501.2 N 743,328.6 ft E 2,869,888.1 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Split Spoon Shelby Tube Rock Core	▲ At Time of Drilling 0.0	MC Moisture Content γ Dry Unit Weight φ Friction Angle	Q _u Unconfined Compress Q _p Hand Penetrometer U Gs Specific Gravity RQD Rock Quality Designat	sion C tion

B	AF	RR	Barr Er 4700 V Minnea Teleph	ngineering Company Vest 77th St. Suite 200 apolis, MN 55435 one: 952-832-2600									L	OG	OF	BOF	RINC	6 B1	4-80)		She	ot 1	l of	1	
Pro	oject:	V	Vinter 20	13/2014 SPT Investigation		Location:	Hoy	t La	kes, MN						Client	: Pol	yMet								•	
			Barr Proje	ct Number: 23690C29.13			-	ec.													Phy	sica	Pro	pert	ies	
H TEMPLATE.GDT Elevation. feet		Depth, feet		MATERIAL DESCRIPT (ASTM D2488)	ON		Graphic Log	Sample Type & R	STANDAF TE N	D PENI EST DA	ETRATION TA s/ft	PL I	WAT CONT %	ENT	LL T	GRAVEL				VC %	γ pcf	¢ °	Q _u tsf	Q _p tsf	Gs	RQD %
EOTEC		0 =	Surface E	lev.: 1523.4 ft SOIL (SM): dark brown; moist; organi	cs and	/ 0.3	199		10	20 3	0 40	2	20 40	0 60)	20	40	60 8	0		_					
.13 POLYMET SOW12 PART 2 SPT.GPJ BARRLIBRARY.GLB HORIZONTAL LOG REPORT BARR GE 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 1		5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55	SILT brown with a 1513.4ragm [Till]. GRAI very s mode depth 1502.4heale	swith gravel; top 2 feet frozen. Y SAND (SM): medium to coarse gra n; moist to wet; medium dense to very angular to subangular weathered gran nents; gray clay content increasing wi NITE; mottled red, black, and white; r strong; slightly decomposed; slightly t rately fractured becoming more comp y; fractures 45 and 60 degrees angles d with red and green sediment; [Bed Bottom of Boring at 21.0 feet	ned; / dense; hite th depth; nassive; o betent with ; totally rock].		いたいたいたい ノー・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・・					× ≤⊕66 -⊕50/5" >⊕50/1"								8						67.5 79 100
CO CO Date CO Date	pletion Boring Boring	Depth Starte Com	ı: ed: pleted:	21.0 3/26/14 3/27/14	Remarks feet. Sta	s: 4 1/2" ID an arted mud rota	ugers. ry at 1	Drill 0 fee	led to 7.5 fe et.	et ther	ı offset 5 f	eet east	t and blii	nd-drill	ed to 10	C										
	ed By: na Con	tractor	r:	KNA Braun Intertec		SAMPLE	TYPI	ES			WAT	ERLE	VELS ((ft)					LE	GEI	ND					
IONALINE Grou Datu	ng Meti nd Sur dinates m:	hod: face E	Elevation:	HSA / Mud Rotary / NQ Coring 1523.4 N 741,777.3 ft E 2,870,717.9 ft NAD83 Minnesota State Plane	Split Sp	ooon 🔘 No Re	covery	R	Rock Core	⊥ <u></u> At	Iime of Dril	ling	7.0			MC Μα γ Dr φ Fr	oisture y Unit \ iction A	Content Veight Ingle		(((R	ຼ Ui ຼ H⊧ ∃s S¦ QD R	nconfi and Pe pecific ock Q	ned C enetro : Gravi uality	compro ometer ity Desig	essior r UC natior	ו ו

Attachment D

Packer Testing Results

					Leakage T	hrough Fractur	es / Bedrock Pe	rmeability
Boring	Test Interval	Testing Length	Packer	RQD	Test R	esults ¹	Test and Infe	erred Results ²
	feet	feet			cm/s	ft/s	cm/s	ft/s
B14-36	14 - 18.5	4.5	Double	93	0	0	1.4E-06	4.8E-08
B14-36	20.5 - 26.5	6	Single	83	1.4E-06	4.8E-08	1.4E-06	4.8E-08
B14-55	37 - 41.5	4.5	Single	30	7.2E-04	2.4E-05	7.2E-04	2.4E-05
B14-55	41.5 - 46.5	5	Double	100	0	0	1.4E-06	4.8E-08
B14-55	46 - 50.5	4.5	Single	48	0	0	1.4E-06	4.8E-08
B14-44	34 - 42	8	Single	69	3.9E-05	1.3E-06	3.9E-05	1.3E-06
B14-44	42 - 46	4	Double	92	5.8E-05	1.9E-06	5.8E-05	1.9E-06
B14-65	24 - 30	6	Double	81	5.2E-05	1.7E-06	5.2E-05	1.7E-06
B14-65	27.5 - 33.5	6	Double	74	1.9E-04	6.2E-06	1.9E-04	6.2E-06
B14-76	37 - 42	5	Single	70	9.0E-05	3.0E-06	9.0E-05	3.0E-06
				Geomean =	5.8E-05	1.9E-06	1.9E-05	6.3E-07

PolyMet 2014 Packer Test Data Summary - FTB Seepage Containment System Borings

¹ Based on the lowest permeability value resulting from the first three pressure increments as the value most likely to represent in-situ conditions. Geomean excludes values where zero inflow is observed during testing.

² For Packer Test Results where zero inflow is observed during testing, permeability values are selected based on inference from lowest packer test result obtained. Geomean includes all test intervals.

The resulting permeability is not a true permeability since the rock is not a true porous media. Instead, the packer test provides a relative measurement of potential leakage through bedrock joints or fractures.



P:\Mpls\23 MN\69\2369C29 PolyMet NorthMet Engineering\Work Authorization 13\Other Costs\Soil Borings\Geotech Investigations\Winter Geotechnical Explorations 2013_2014\SOW 12_Part 2_SPT\Fieldwork\Packer Testing\Results\Packer Results.xlsx

Performed: 5/13/2014

Analyzed: 5/21/2014

-		
Notes:	Double Packe	r Test
Packer length (ft) =	2	
Screened interval (ft) =	3	
Total depth of boring (ft) =	26.5	
Test interval top (ft) =	14	
Test interval bottom (ft) =	18.5	
Original GWT (ft) =	4.7	
GWT before inflation (ft) =	4.7	
GWT after inflation (ft) =	4.7	
GWT during test (ft) =	4.7	
GWT at end of test (ft) =	4.7	
Height of pressure gauge (ft) =	3	
Packer inflation pressure (psi) =	140	
RQD for test interval (%) =	93	
Borehole radius (inches) =	1.5	
Total testing interval (ft) =	4.5	
Length of pipe above ground (ft) =	3	

Length of pipe below ground (ft) =12Total length for losses (ft) =15



Hydraulic Conductivity = 0.00E+00 cm/s



Flow Pressure (psi) = 15				30			45			30		15			
Time (min)	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow
0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0
1	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0
2	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0
3	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0
4	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0
5	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0	80.64	0.0	0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/min) -			0.0	1		0.0	1		0.0	1		0.0	1		0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/1111) -			15			30			45			30	•		15
Eriction loss/foot (psi) =			0.08			0.08			0.08			0.08			
Friction loss / tool (psi) =						1.2	4		1.2			1.2	-		1.00
Effective prossure (psi) =			29.9	-		1.2			20.0			12.9			
Effective pressure (psi) –			15.0			20.0	1		43.0	l		20.0]		13.0
USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydrau	lic Conductiv	ity													
q (constant rate of flow in	to the test int	erval), cm ³ /s =	0.0			0.0			0.0			0.0			0.0
L (leng	gth of the test	interval), cm =	137.2			137.2			137.2			137.2			137.2
H _g (distance from ground wa	ter to pressur	e gauge), cm =	234.7			234.7			234.7			234.7			234.7
H _p (linea	ar units of wat	er head), cm =	974.8			2030.9			3087.1			2030.9			974.8
H (total gravity and pres	sure differenti	ial head), cm=	1209.5			2265.6			3321.8			2265.6			1209.5
	r (radius of b	orehole), cm =	3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8
k (hydraulic conductivity), cm/s = 0.00E+00						0.00E+00	1		0.00E+00			0.00E+00			0.00E+00
k (hydraulic conductivity) ft/s = 0.005+00						0.00F+00			0.00F+00			0.00F+00			0.00F+00
	,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		u	l		<u>1</u>			9			9		

<u>B14-36, 14 - 18.5ft</u>

0.00E+00 ft/s

Performed: 5/13/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

Notes: Double Packer Test Packer length (ft) = 2 Screened interval (ft) = Total depth of boring (ft) = 26.5 Test interval top (ft) = 20.5 Test interval bottom (ft) = 26.5 Original GWT (ft) = 4.7 GWT before inflation (ft) = 4.7 GWT after inflation (ft) = 4.7 GWT during test (ft) = 4.7 GWT at end of test (ft) = 4.7 Height of pressure gauge (ft) = 3 Packer inflation pressure (psi) = 140 RQD for test interval (%) = 83 Borehole radius (inches) = 1.5 Total testing interval (ft) = 6

Length of pipe above ground (ft) = 3 Length of pipe below ground (ft) = 18.5 Total length for losses (ft) = 21.5



Hydraulic Conductivity = 1.45E-06 cm/s



Flow Pressure (psi) = 15				30			45				30		15		
Time (min)	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Elow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow
0	80.80	0.0	0.0	80.88	0.0	0.0	81.05	0.0	0.0	81.27	0.0	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0
1	80.81	0.0	0.0	80.92	0.0	0.0	81.11	0.1	0.1	81.28	0.0	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0
2	80.81	0.0	0.0	80.95	0.1	0.0	81.17	0.1	0.1	81.28	0.0	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0
3	80.82	0.0	0.0	80.98	0.1	0.0	81.21	0.2	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0
4	80.83	0.0	0.0	81.01	0.1	0.0	81.24	0.2	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0
5	80.84	0.0	0.0	81.03	0.2	0.0	81.27	0.2	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0	81.28	0.0	0.0
				1			1		0.04			0.00	1		0.00
Average Flowrate (gal/min) =			0.0			0.0			0.04			0.00			0.00
Applied pressure (psi) = 15						30	· ·		45			30			15
Friction loss/foot (psi) = 0.08						0.08			0.08			0.08			0.08
Friction loss (psi) =						1.7			1.7			1.7			1.7
Effective pressure (psi) = 13.3						28.3			43.3			28.3			13.3
USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydrau	USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydraulic Conductivity														
g (constant rate of flow in	nto the test int	erval), $cm^3/s =$	0.5			1.9			2.8			0.1			0.0
L (leng	th of the test	interval), cm =	182.9			182.9			182.9			182.9			182.9
H _a (distance from ground wa	ater to pressur	e gauge), cm =	234.7			234.7			234.7			234.7			234.7
g (Ine	ar units of wat	er head), cm =	939.6			1995.7			3051.8			1995.7			939.6
H (total gravity and pres	sure differenti	ial head) cm=	1174 3			2230.4			3286 5			2230.4			1174 3
in (total Bravity and pres	r (radius of h	orehole) cm =	3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8
						3.0	1	1	3.0	l		3.0	1		5.0
k (hydraulic conductivity), cm/s = 1,45E-06						2.86E-06			2.85E-06			1.91E-07			0.00E+00
k (h	ydraulic condu	uctivity), ft/s =	4.75E-08			9.38E-08			9.34E-08			6.25E-09			0.00E+00
							-			•			-		

<u>B14-36, 20.5 - 26.5ft</u>

Performed: 5/2/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

B14-55, 37 - 41.5ft



Performed: 5/2/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

Notes: Double Packer Test Packer length (ft) = 2 Screened interval (ft) = 3 Total depth of boring (ft) = 50.5 Test interval top (ft) = 41.5 Test interval bottom (ft) = 46 Original GWT (ft) = 0 GWT before inflation (ft) = 0 GWT after inflation (ft) = 0 GWT during test (ft) = 0 GWT at end of test (ft) = 0 Height of pressure gauge (ft) = 3 Packer inflation pressure (psi) = 140 RQD for test interval (%) = 100 Borehole radius (inches) = 1.5 Total testing interval (ft) = 4.5 Length of pipe above ground (ft) = 3 39.5 Length of pipe below ground (ft) =

Total length for losses (ft) = 42.5





Flow Pressure (psi) = 15			30 45						30		15				
Time (min)	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow
0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0
1	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0
2	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0
3	5.50	0.0	0.0	5,50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0
4	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0
5	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0	5.50	0.0	0.0
Average Eleverate (gal/min) -			0.0			0.0			0.0	1		0.0	1		0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/1111) -			15			30			45			30			15
Eriction loss/foot (psi) =			0.08			0.08			0.08			0.08			0.08
Friction loss (psi) =						2.2			2.2			2.2			2 2
Effective prossure (psi) =			11.7			26.7			3.3 /1 7			26.7			11 7
Effective pressure (psi) –			11.7			20.7	l		41.7	l		20.7	l		11.7
USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydrau	lic Conductiv	ity													
q (constant rate of flow in	nto the test int	erval), cm ³ /s =	0.0			0.0			0.0			0.0			0.0
L (leng	gth of the test	interval), cm =	137.2			137.2			137.2			137.2			137.2
H _g (distance from ground wa	iter to pressur	e gauge), cm =	91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4
H _p (linea	ar units of wat	er head), cm =	825.7			1881.9			2938.0			1881.9			825.7
H (total gravity and pres	sure different	ial head), cm=	917.2			1973.3			3029.4			1973.3			917.2
	r (radius of b	orehole), cm =	3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8
k (hydraulic conductivity), cm/s = 0.00E+00						0.00E+0 <u>0</u>			0.00E+0 <u>0</u>			0.00E+0 <u>0</u>			0.00E+00
k (hydraulic conductivity) ft/s = 0.00E+00						0.00F+00			0.00F+00			0.00F+00			0.00F+00
K(ii	,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,					1		0.0002.000	1		0.0002.000	1		0.0002.000

<u> 814-55, 41.5 - 46.5ft</u>

Performed: 5/2/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

Notes: Single Packer Test Packer length (ft) = 2 Screened interval (ft) = Total depth of boring (ft) = 50.5 Test interval top (ft) = 46 Test interval bottom (ft) = 50.5 Original GWT (ft) = 0 GWT before inflation (ft) = 0 GWT after inflation (ft) = 0 GWT during test (ft) = 0 GWT at end of test (ft) = 0 Height of pressure gauge (ft) = 3 Packer inflation pressure (psi) = 140 RQD for test interval (%) = 48 Borehole radius (inches) = 1.5 Total testing interval (ft) = 4.5 Length of pipe above ground (ft) = 3 44 Length of pipe below ground (ft) =

Total length for losses (ft) = 47





8

Flow Pressure (psi) = 15			30			45			30		15				
Time (min)	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow
0	1.20	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0
1	1.20	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0
2	1.20	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0
3	1.20	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0
4	1.20	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0
5	1.20	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0	1.30	0.0	0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/min) -			0.0	1		0.0	1		0.0			0.0	1		0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/1111) =			15			30			45			20	-		15
Eriction loss (foot (psi) =			0.08			0.08	P		0.08			0.08	1		0.08
Friction loss (psi) -			2.6			2.6	{		2.6			0.08	4		2.6
Friction loss (psi) = 5.0						3.0			3.0			3.0	-		11.4
Effective pressure (psi) =			20.4]		41.4			20.4]		11.4			
USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydrau	lic Conductiv	ity													
q (constant rate of flow in	to the test int	erval), cm ³ /s =	0.0			0.0			0.0			0.0			0.0
L (leng	gth of the test	interval), cm =	137.2			137.2			137.2			137.2			137.2
H _g (distance from ground wa	ter to pressur	e gauge), cm =	91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4
Η _p (linea	ar units of wat	er head), cm =	801.3			1857.5			2913.6			1857.5			801.3
H (total gravity and pres	sure differenti	ial head), cm=	892.8			1948.9			3005.0			1948.9			892.8
	r (radius of b	orehole), cm =	3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8
k (hydraulic conductivity) cm/s = 0.00E+00						0.00E+00	1		0.00E+00			0.00E+00	1		0.00E+00
k (hydraulie conductivity), ch/s = 0.000+00						0.005+00			0.005+00			0.005+00			0.005+00
K (N	yuraunc condi	ictivity), it/s =	0.000000			0.00E+00	<u> </u>		0.00E+00			0.00E+00	1		0.00E+00

B14-55, 46 - 50.5ft



1.90E-06

3.22E-06

4.24E-06

B14-44, 34 - 42ft

PolyMet 2014 Packer Testing

1.29E-06

k (hydraulic conductivity), ft/s =

3.99E-06
PolyMet 2014 Packer Testing

Performed: 4/3/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

Notes: Double Packer Test Packer length (ft) = 2 Screened interval (ft) = 3 Total depth of boring (ft) = 46 Test interval top (ft) = 42 Test interval bottom (ft) = 46 Original GWT (ft) = 0 GWT before inflation (ft) = 0 GWT after inflation (ft) = 0 GWT during test (ft) = 0 GWT at end of test (ft) = 0 Height of pressure gauge (ft) = 3 Packer inflation pressure (psi) = 140 RQD for test interval (%) = 92 Borehole radius (inches) = 1.5 Total testing interval (ft) = 4







Flow Pressure (psi) = 15				30			45			30			15		
Time (min)	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow
0	4.6	0.0	0.0	6.3	0.0	0.0	9.2	0.0	0.0	2.9	0.0	0.0	3.8	0.0	0.0
1	4.9	0.3	0.3	6.8	0.5	0.5	9.9	0.7	0.7	3.1	0.2	0.2	3.8	0.0	0.0
2	5.2	0.6	0.3	7.1	0.8	0.3	10.6	1.4	0.7	3.3	0.4	0.2	3.8	0.0	0.0
3	5.5	0.9	0.3	7.5	1.2	0.4	11.2	2.0	0.6	3.3	0.4	0.0	3.8	0.0	0.0
4	5.7	1.1	0.2	7.9	1.6	0.4	11.9	2.7	0.7	3.4	0.5	0.1	3.8	0.0	0.0
5	5.9	1.3	0.2	8.3	2.0	0.4	12.6	3.4	0.7	3.8	0.9	0.4	3.8	0.0	0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/min) -			0.2	1		0.4	1		0.7			0.2	1		0.0
Average Flowrate (gal/1111) =			15			20			0.7			20			15
Eristion loss (foot (psi) =			0.08			0.08	P		0.08			0.08			0.08
Friction loss (psi) =					2.2			2.2			0.08			2.2	
Effective pressure (psi) = 5.5					3.3			3.3			3.3			3.3	
Effective pressure (psi) =						20.7	1		41.7			20.7	1		11.7
USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydraulic Conductivity															
q (constant rate of flow into the test interval), $cm^3/s = 16$.			16.4			25.2			42.9			11.4			0.0
L (length of the test interval), cm = 121			121.9			121.9			121.9			121.9			121.9
H_g (distance from ground water to pressure gauge), cm = 91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4
H_p (linear units of water head), cm = 823.0			823.0			1879.1			2935.3			1879.1			823.0
H (total gravity and pres	sure differenti	ial head), cm=	914.4			1970.6			3026.7			1970.6			914.4
	r (radius of b	orehole), cm =	3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8			3.8
k (hydraulic conductivity), cm/s = 8.12E-05					5.79E-05			6.41E-05			2.61E-05		I	0.00E+00	
k (hydraulic conductivity), ft/s = 2.65E-06					1.90E-0 <u>6</u>			2.10E-06			8.55E-0 <u>7</u>		I	0.00E+00	
				1			9	l		1			9	I	

B14-44, 42 - 46ft



3.8

5.63E-05

1.85E-06

3.8

6.18E-05

2.03E-06

3.8

5.84E-05

1.92E-06

B14-65, 24 - 30ft

PolyMet 2014 Packer Testing

r (radius of borehole), cm =

k (hydraulic conductivity), cm/s =

k (hydraulic conductivity), ft/s =

3.8

5.19E-05

1.70E-06

8/25/2014

3.8

5.63E-05

1.85E-06

PolyMet 2014 Packer Testing

Performed: 4/18/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

Packer length (ft) = 2 Screened interval (ft) = 5 Total depth of boring (ft) = 37 27.5 Test interval top (ft) = Test interval bottom (ft) = 33.5 Original GWT (ft) = 0 GWT before inflation (ft) = 0 GWT after inflation (ft) = 0 GWT during test (ft) = 0 GWT at end of test (ft) = 0 Height of pressure gauge (ft) = 3 Packer inflation pressure (psi) = 140 RQD for test interval (%) = 74 Borehole radius (inches) = 1.5 Total testing interval (ft) = 6 Length of pipe above ground (ft) = 5

Total length for losses (ft) =





PolyMet 2014 Packer Testing

Performed: 4/3/2014 Analyzed: 5/21/2014

Notes: Single Packer Test Packer length (ft) = 2 Screened interval (ft) = 5 Total depth of boring (ft) = 42 Test interval top (ft) = 37 Test interval bottom (ft) = 42 Original GWT (ft) = 0 GWT before inflation (ft) = 0 GWT after inflation (ft) = 0 GWT during test (ft) = 0 GWT at end of test (ft) = 0 Height of pressure gauge (ft) = 3 Packer inflation pressure (psi) = 140 RQD for test interval (%) = 70 Borehole radius (inches) = 1.5 Total testing interval (ft) = 5

 Length of pipe above ground (ft) =
 3

 Length of pipe below ground (ft) =
 35

 Total length for losses (ft) =
 38



Hydraulic Conductivity = 9.00E-05 cm/s



Flow Pressure (psi) = 15				30			45			30			15		
Time (min)	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow	Flow (gal)	Cumulative	Partial Flow
0	9.5	0.0	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	4.0	0.0	0.0	8.4	0.0	0.0
1	10.0	0.5	0.5	3.2	0.7	0.7	10.8	2.8	2.8	6.7	2.7	2.7	9.7	1.3	1.3
2	10.5	1.0	0.5	3.9	1.4	0.7	14.0	6.0	3.2	9.1	5.1	2.4	11.1	2.7	1.4
3	10.5	1.0	0.0	4.7	2.2	0.8	17.0	9.0	3.0	11.5	7.5	2.4	12.4	4.0	1.3
4	11.0	1.5	0.5	5.5	3.0	0.8	20.1	12.1	3.1	13.9	9.9	2.4	13.6	5.2	1.2
5	11.5	2.0	0.5	6.2	3.7	0.7	23.2	15.2	3.1	16.0	12.0	2.1	14.9	6.5	1.3
Average Flowrate (gal/min) -			0.4			0.7	1		2.0	1		2.4	1		1 2
Average Flowrate (gal/1111) -			15			30			45			30	•		1.5
Friction loss/foot (psi) =			0.08			0.08			0.08			0.08			0.08
Friction loss (psi) =			2.9			2.9	-		2.9			2.9	-		2.9
Effective pressure (psi) =					27.1	-		42.1			27.1			12.1	
				1			I			1					
USBR 7310-89 Calculation for Hydraulic Conductivity															
q (constant rate of flow in	nto the test int	erval), cm ³ /s =	25.2			46.7			191.8			151.4			82.0
L (length of the test interval), cm =			152.4			152.4			152.4			152.4			152.4
H _g (distance from ground water to pressure gauge), cm =			91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4			91.4
H _p (linea	ar units of wat	er head), cm =	850.1			1906.2			2962.4			1906.2			850.1
H (total gravity and pres	sure differenti	ial head), cm=	941.6			1997.7			3053.8			1997.7			941.6
r (radius of borehole), cm = <u>3.8</u>			3.8			3.8	_		3.8	_		3.8	_		3.8
k (hydraulic conductivity), cm/s = 1.03E-04			1.03E-04			9.00E-05	1		2.42E-04			2.92E-04			3.36E-04
k (hydraulic conductivity), ft/s = 3.39E-0			3.39E-06			2.95E-06	i		7.94E-06			9.58E-06	i i		1.10E-05
	,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		1			4	I		9			9		

<u>B14-76, 37 - 42ft</u>

2.95E-06 ft/s